
 

 

 Traverse City Downtown 
Development Authority Regular 

Meeting 

Friday, December 17, 2021 

8:30 am 

Commission Chambers, Governmental Center 

400 Boardman Avenue 

Traverse City, Michigan 49684 

Posted: December 13, 2021 

  

 
  

  

  

  

 

The City of Traverse City does not discriminate on the basis of disability in the 
admission to, access to, treatment in, or employment in, its programs or activities.  
Penny Hill, Assistant City Manager, 400 Boardman Avenue, Traverse City, Michigan 
49684, phone 231-922-4440, TDD/TTY 231-922-4412, VRS 231-421-7008, has been 
designated to coordinate compliance with the non-discrimination requirements 
contained in Section 35.107 of the Department of Justice regulations.  Information 
concerning the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, and the rights provided 
thereunder, are available from the ADA Coordinator. 

 

If you are planning to attend and you have a disability requiring any special assistance 
at the meeting and/or if you have any concerns, please immediately notify the ADA 
Coordinator. 

  

The City of Traverse City and Downtown Development Authority are committed to a 
dialog that is constructive, respectful and civil. We ask that all individuals interacting 
verbally or in writing with board members honor these values.   

  

Downtown Development Authority:     

c/o Jean Derenzy, CEO 

(231) 922-2050 

Web:  www.downtowntc.com  

303 East State Street, Suite C 

Traverse City, MI  49684 

  

   

  

Page 1 of 494



 

Follow us on Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram - CityofTC - www.traversecitymi.gov 

 

Welcome to the Traverse City Downtown Development Authority 
meeting! 

 

Agenda 

  

Page 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER  

 
 
2. 

 
ROLL CALL 

 
 
 
3. 

 
REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 
 
 
4. 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 

The purpose of the consent calendar is to expedite business by grouping 
non-controversial items together to be dealt with by one DDA Board 
motion without discussion. Any member of the DDA Board, staff or the 
public may ask that any item on the consent calendar be removed 
therefrom and placed elsewhere on the agenda for individual 
consideration by the DDA Board; and such requests will be automatically 
respected.  If an item is not removed from the consent calendar, the 
action noted in parentheses on the agenda is approved by a single DDA 
Board action adopting the consent calendar. 

 

 
 A. Consideration of approving the minutes of the regular meeting of 

November 19, 2021 (approval recommended) (Jean Derenzy)  
November 19, 2021 Downtown Development Authority Regular 
Meeting Minutes - PDF 

5 - 9 

 
 B. Consideration of approving the financial reports and disbursements 

for DDA, TIF 97, Old Town TIF, Parking Services,  and Arts 
Commission for 2021 (approval recommended) (Jean Derenzy, 
Harry Burkholder, Nicole VanNess)  
DDA General, TIF 97 and Old Town TIF November 2021 Financials 
- PDF 

TC Parking Services November 2021 Financials - PDF 

TC Arts Commission November 2021 Financials - PDF 

11 - 

21 

 
 
5. 

 
ITEMS REMOVED FROM CONSENT CALENDAR 

 
 
 
6. 

 
SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS  

 
 
 A. Lower Boardman Final Unified Plan (approval recommended) 

(Jean Derenzy, Harry Burkholder)   

23 - 

377 

Page 2 of 494



 

Follow us on Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram - CityofTC - www.traversecitymi.gov 

Lower Boardman Final Unified Plan Memo (Jean Derenzy, Harry 
Burkholder) - PDF 

Final Lower Boardman Unified Plan - PDF 

Final Lower Boardman Unified Plan Appendix - PDF 
 
 B. Retail Incubator Business Plan (TC HatchPad) (approval 

recommended) (Jean Derenzy, Harry Burkholder)  
Retail Incubator Business Plan Memo (Jean Derenzy, Harry 
Burkholder) - PDF 

Incubator Business Plan 

379 - 
395 

 
 C. Special Thanks and Acknowledgment - Leah Bagdon McCallum  

(Jean Derenzy, Gabe Schneider)  

 

 
 
7. 

 
NEW BUSINESS 

 
 
 A. Consideration of approving an amendment to the Parkmobile 

vendor agreement (approval recommended) (Jean Derenzy, Nicole 
VanNess)  
TCPS Parkmobile Agreement (Second Amendment) Memo (Jean 
Derenzy, Nicole VanNess) - PDF 

397 - 
398 

 
 
8. 

 
CEO REPORT 

 
 
 A. Project Updates  

Project Update Memo (Jean Derenzy, Harry Burkholder) - PDF 

399 - 
401 

 
 B. Reimagine East Front Street Initiative   

Reimagine East Front Street Project Update Memo (Jean Derenzy, 
Harry Burkholder) - PDF 

Reimagine East Front Street November Outreach Presentation - 
PDF 

Preliminary East Front Street Design - PDF 

403 - 

471 

 
 
9. 

 
BOARD MEMBER UPDATES 

 
 
 A. Committee Appointments (motion required) (Gabe Schneider)   

Committee Appointee Memo (Gabe Schneider) - PDF 

DDA Finance Committee Roles and Responsibilities Summary - 
PDF 

DDA Governance Committee Roles and Responsibilities Summary 
- PDF 

473 - 
478 

 
 B. Arts Commission Update (Steve Nance)  

Arts Commission Update Memo (Steve Nance) - PDF 

479 

 
 C. Parking Subcommittee Update (Scott Hardy)  

Parking Subcommittee Update Memo (Scott Hardy) - PDF 

481 

 

Page 3 of 494



 

Follow us on Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram - CityofTC - www.traversecitymi.gov 

 
10. 

 
STAFF REPORTS 

 
 
 A. Transportation Mobility Director Report (Nicole VanNess)  

Transportation Mobility Director Report (VanNess) - PDF 

483 

 
 B. Experience Coordinator Report (Abby Taylor)  

Experience Coordinator Report (Abby Taylor) - PDF 

485 

 
 
11. 

 
RECEIVE AND FILE 

 
 
 A. November  17, 2021 Arts Commission Meeting Minutes   

November 17, 2021 Arts Commission Meeting Minutes - PDF 

487 - 
489 

 
 B. December 9, 2021 DTCA Meeting Minutes   

December 9, 2021 DTCA Meeting Minutes - PDF 

491 - 
492 

 
 C. December 2, 2021 Parking Subcommittee Meeting Minutes   

December 2, 2021 Parking Subcommittee Meetings Minutes - PDF 

493 - 

494 

 
 
12. 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT 

 
 
 
13. 

 
ADJOURNMENT 

 

 

Page 4 of 494



 

 
Minutes of the 

Downtown Development Authority for the City of Traverse City 

Regular Meeting 

Friday, November 19, 2021  
 

          A regular meeting of the Downtown Development Authority of the City of Traverse City was 
called to order at the Commission Chambers, Governmental Center, 400 Boardman Avenue, 
Traverse City, Michigan, at 8 a.m. 

  

          The following Board Members were in attendance: Chairperson Gabe Schneider, Board 
Member Steve Nance, Board Vice Chair Scott Hardy, Board Member Damian Lockhart, Board 
Member Leah Bagdon-McCallum, Mayor Richard Lewis, Board Member Pam Marsh, 
Commissioner Pam DeMerle, and Board Member Todd McMillen  

  

          The following Board Members were absent:   Board Member Peter Kirkwood and Board 
Member Jeff Joubran 

  

          Chairperson Schneider presided at the meeting. 

  
 

(a) CALL TO ORDER 

 

Schneider called the meeting to order 8:30am. 
 

(b) ROLL CALL 
 

(c) REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF AGENDA  
 (1) Consideration of Approving the Agenda as Presented  

  

Approval of the agenda as presented  

 

Moved by Leah Bagdon-McCallum, Seconded by Steve Nance 

 

Yes: Gabe Schneider, Steve Nance, Scott Hardy, Damian Lockhart, Leah 
Bagdon-McCallum, Richard Lewis, Pam Marsh, Pam DeMerle, and 
Todd McMillen 

Absent: Peter Kirkwood and Jeff Joubran 

CARRIED. 9-0-2 on a recorded vote 

Page 1 of 5

Page 5 of 494



 
 

 

(d) CONSENT CALENDAR 

The purpose of the consent calendar is to expedite business by grouping 
non-controversial items together to be dealt with by one DDA Board motion without 
discussion. Any member of the DDA Board, staff or the public may ask that any item on 
the consent calendar be removed therefrom and placed elsewhere on the agenda for 
individual consideration by the DDA Board; and such requests will be automatically 
respected.  If an item is not removed from the consent calendar, the action noted in 
parentheses on the agenda is approved by a single DDA Board action adopting the 
consent calendar.  

 (1) Approval of the minutes of the Regular Meeting of October 15, 2021 (Approval 
Recommended) (Jean Derenzy)    

 (2) Approval of Financial Reports and Disbursements for the DDA, TIF 97, Old Town 
TIF, Parking Services, and Arts Commission for October 2021 (Approval 
Recommended) (Jean Derenzy, Harry Burkholder, Nicole VanNess)   

 (3) Old Town Paver Project (approval recommended) (Jean Derenzy, Nicole VanNess)   
 (4) After Hour Permit Rate (approval recommended) (Jean Derenzy, Nicole VanNess)   
 (5) Luke II Payment Security Software Update (approval recommended) (Jean 

Derenzy, Nicole VanNess)   
 (6) Luke II Software and Communication Subscription (approval recommended) (Jean 

Derenzy, Nicole VanNess) 

  

That the DDA Board approved the consent calendar as presented. 

 

Moved by Steve Nance, Seconded by Pam Marsh 

 

Yes: Gabe Schneider, Steve Nance, Scott Hardy, Damian Lockhart, Leah 
Bagdon-McCallum, Richard Lewis, Pam Marsh, Pam DeMerle, and 
Todd McMillen 

Absent: Peter Kirkwood and Jeff Joubran 

CARRIED. 9-0-2 on a recorded vote  
 

(e) ITEMS REMOVED FROM CONSENT CALENDAR 
 

(f) CEO REPORT 

 

Due to technical difficulties, the CEO report was moved ahead of Special Order of 
Business.   

 (1) Consideration of Paid Time off for Staff Appreciate Week (approval recommended) 
(Derenzy) 

 

The following addressed the Board: 

  

Gabe Schneider  

Page 2 of 5

Page 6 of 494



 

  

That the DDA Board of Directors approve a one-time benefit for the DDA employees 
as part of "staff appreciation week", congruent with the protocols established by the 
city. 

 

Moved by Scott Hardy, Seconded by Richard Lewis 

 

Yes: Gabe Schneider, Steve Nance, Scott Hardy, Damian Lockhart, Leah 
Bagdon-McCallum, Richard Lewis, Pam Marsh, Pam DeMerle, and 
Todd McMillen 

Absent: Peter Kirkwood and Jeff Joubran 

CARRIED. 9-0-2 on a recorded vote   
 (2) Concept Plan for Trail & Parkway (approval recommended) (Derenzy) 

 

The following addressed the board: 

  

Julie Clark, CEO TART Trails  

Gabe Schneider 

Pam Marsh 

  

  

Lewis amended the motion to: That the DDA board approve to enter into a contract 
with Progressive AE for engineering services for a TART trail Expansion for a not-
to-exceed cost of $27,000, which will be split with TART Trails Inc, and the city of 
Traverse City with funds from the DDA general fund, subject to approval and 
substance by the DDA CEO and form by the DDA Attorney. 

 

Moved by Richard Lewis, Seconded by Steve Nance 

 

Yes: Gabe Schneider, Steve Nance, Scott Hardy, Damian Lockhart, Leah 
Bagdon-McCallum, Richard Lewis, Pam Marsh, Pam DeMerle, and 
Todd McMillen 

Absent: Peter Kirkwood and Jeff Joubran 

CARRIED. 9-0-2 on a recorded vote   
 (3) Scheduling or Planning/Strategy Session 

 

The following addressed the board: 

Jean Derenzy, DDA CEO 

Gabe Schneider  

  

Board identified Friday, December 10th at 9am as the strategic planning session.   
 (4) Project Updates  

 

The following addressed the board: 

  

Page 3 of 5

Page 7 of 494



 

Jean Derenzy, DDA CEO 

Gabe Schneider 

Scott Hardy 

Audrey Michaels 

  

Jean asked for a motion to appoint two board members to review the 100 and 200 
block alley RFP responses.  

  

That the Board of Directors approves the nomination of Scott Hardy and Pete 
Kirkwood to serve on the review panel  

 

Moved by Leah Bagdon-McCallum, Seconded by Damian Lockhart 

 

Yes: Gabe Schneider, Steve Nance, Scott Hardy, Damian Lockhart, Leah 
Bagdon-McCallum, Richard Lewis, Pam Marsh, Pam DeMerle, and 
Todd McMillen 

Absent: Peter Kirkwood and Jeff Joubran 

CARRIED. 9-0-2 on a recorded vote  
 

(g) SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS  
 (1) East Front Street Update and Presentation (Jean Derenzy, Chris Zull - Progressive 

AE) 

 

The following addressed the Board: 

  

Chris Zull, Progressive AE 

Tim Bradshaw, Progressive AE 

Gabe Schneider  

Steve Nance 

Scott Hardy 

Jean Derenzy, DDA CEO 

Pam Marsh 

Audrey Michaels 

    
 (2) Presentation of Grandview Parkway 2023 Work (MDOT Representatives) 

 

The following addressed the board: 

  

Dan Wagner, MDOT 

Lucas Porath, MDOT 

Laura Aylsworth, MDOT  

Steve Nance 

Jean Derenzy, DDA CEO 

Richard Lewis 

Pam Marsh  

Page 4 of 5

Page 8 of 494



 
 

(h) BOARD MEMBER UPDATES  
 (1) Arts Commission Update (Steve Nance) 

 

The following addressed the board: 

  

Steve Nance  
 

(i) STAFF REPORTS  
 (1) Transportation Mobility Director Report (Nicole VanNess)   
 (2) Downtown Experience Coordinator Report (Abby Taylor) 

 

The Following addressed the Board: 

  

Abby Taylor   
 (3) Community Development Director (Katy McCain) 

 

The Following Addressed the Board: 

  

Katy McCain  
 

(j) RECEIVE AND FILE  
 (1) October 14, 2021 DTCA Meeting Minutes  

 

(k) CLOSING PUBLIC COMMENT 

The following provided public comment: 

  

Marty Colburn, City Manager 

Tim Warner, City Commissioner 
 

(l) ADJOURNMENT 

 

Schneider adjourned the meeting at 10:41am. 

 

Jean Derenzy, Traverse City DDA 
CEO 

 

Page 5 of 5

Page 9 of 494



Page 10 of 494



Traverse City DDA - General
Balance Sheet

As of November 30, 2021

Accrual Basis  Sunday, December 12, 2021 07:23 PM GMT-05:00   1/3

TOTAL

ASSETS

Current Assets

Bank Accounts

1000 Fifth Third Checking - 3112 4,168,506.07

1072 Bill.com Money Out Clearing 7,400.00

Fifth Third Savings - 6740 202,490.98

Petty Cash 548.19

Total Bank Accounts $4,378,945.24

Accounts Receivable

1200 Accounts Receivable 525,013.07

Total Accounts Receivable $525,013.07

Other Current Assets

1220 Grants Receivable 52,779.30

1480 Payroll Advance 0.00

1499 Undeposited Funds 0.00

Deposits in Transit 0.00

Due From APS 1,288.89

Due From Arts Council 352.00

Due From DTCA -4,836.30

Total Other Current Assets $49,583.89

Total Current Assets $4,953,542.20

Fixed Assets

1500 Property 1,813,802.05

Total Fixed Assets $1,813,802.05

Other Assets

Due From Other Funds 51,790.00

Pre-Paid Expense 4,701.00

Work in Progress 0.00

Total Other Assets $56,491.00

TOTAL ASSETS $6,823,835.25

Page 11 of 494



Traverse City DDA - General
Balance Sheet

As of November 30, 2021

Accrual Basis  Sunday, December 12, 2021 07:23 PM GMT-05:00   2/3

TOTAL

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

2000 Accounts Payable 498,716.70

Total Accounts Payable $498,716.70

Credit Cards

2150 First National Bank Card

2153 First National - 8689 0.00

Total 2150 First National Bank Card 0.00

Total Credit Cards $0.00

Other Current Liabilities

2110 Direct Deposit Liabilities 0.00

2200 Payroll Liabilities 0.00

2205 457b Payable 8,744.81

2210 Federal Income Tax Payable 0.00

2215 Health Insurance Payable -17,409.05

2220 Life Insurance Payable 4,818.68

2225 Medicare Tax Payable 0.00

2230 Social Security Tax Payable 0.00

2235 State Income Tax Payable 0.00

2240 State Unemployment Tax Payable 196.28

2245 Wage Garnishment Payable 0.00

Total 2200 Payroll Liabilities -3,649.28

2400 GRANTS

2401 Coastal Zone Management 0.00

2402 Destination Downtown 0.00

2403 EGLE -- Cornwell Development -13,229.50

2404 Heathy Drinking Culture Grant -28,742.64

2405 Lower Boardman 0.00

2406 Match on Main MEDC Grant 0.00

2407 MEDC (Civic Square) 60,212.22

2408 Professional Development 0.00

2409 Rotary Charities 0.00

2410 Seed Grant 0.00

2411 Tech Incubator Fund 0.00

Page 12 of 494



Traverse City DDA - General
Balance Sheet

As of November 30, 2021

Accrual Basis  Sunday, December 12, 2021 07:23 PM GMT-05:00   3/3

TOTAL

Total 2400 GRANTS 18,240.08

Accrued Payroll Liabilities 5,957.53

Accrued Salaries 25,907.43

Bryan Crough Memorial Fund 0.00

Bumpout Project Funds Collected 0.00

Buy Local Give Local Campaign 0.00

Deferred Income 1,980,719.06

Deposits Payable 0.00

Double Up Food Bucks 6,772.61

EBT Bridge Card -10,741.84

Ironman 0.00

NCF Reimbursements -551.00

Prescriptions for Health 1,497.64

Project Fresh 6,668.00

Senior Project Fresh -8,893.00

Total Deposits Payable -5,247.59

Due to Oldtown TIF 498,365.82

Due to Other Funds 0.00

Due to TIF 97 2,667,510.58

Suspense 0.00

Total Other Current Liabilities $5,187,803.63

Total Current Liabilities $5,686,520.33

Total Liabilities $5,686,520.33

Equity

3000 Opening Bal Equity 107,606.27

3900 Retained Earnings 737,838.02

Net Income 291,870.63

Total Equity $1,137,314.92

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $6,823,835.25

Page 13 of 494



Traverse City DDA - TIF 97
Balance Sheet

As of November 30, 2021

Accrual Basis  Sunday, December 12, 2021 06:35 PM GMT-05:00   1/1

TOTAL

ASSETS

Current Assets

Bank Accounts

1000 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

1001 Fifth Third Checking - 8026 3,373,151.28

Total 1000 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 3,373,151.28

Total Bank Accounts $3,373,151.28

Accounts Receivable

1200 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 448,626.18

Total Accounts Receivable $448,626.18

Other Current Assets

1100 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

1103 Due From Other Funds 304,283.42

1104 Due From DDA 1,930,691.89

Total 1100 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 2,234,975.31

Undeposited Funds 0.00

Total Other Current Assets $2,234,975.31

Total Current Assets $6,056,752.77

Fixed Assets

Land 0.00

Total Fixed Assets $0.00

Other Assets

Accounts Rec - DO NOT USE 0.00

Pre-Paid Expense 0.00

Work in Progress 0.00

Total Other Assets $0.00

TOTAL ASSETS $6,056,752.77

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

2000 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 306,562.04

Due to City - Capital Projects 0.00

Total Accounts Payable $306,562.04

Other Current Liabilities

2100 DUE TO OTHER FUNDS 0.00

2200 DEFERRED REVENUE 300,237.86

Accounts Payable - DO NOT USE 0.00

Total Other Current Liabilities $300,237.86

Total Current Liabilities $606,799.90

Total Liabilities $606,799.90

Equity

Opening Bal Equity -21,200.00

Retained Earnings 3,832,812.60

Net Income 1,638,340.27

Total Equity $5,449,952.87

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $6,056,752.77

Page 14 of 494



DDA Old Town TIF
Balance Sheet

As of November 30, 2021

Accrual Basis  Sunday, December 12, 2021 06:03 PM GMT-05:00   1/1

TOTAL

ASSETS

Current Assets

Bank Accounts

1000 CASH AND CASH EQUIVILENTS

1001 Fifth Third Checking - 0650 391,337.84

Total 1000 CASH AND CASH EQUIVILENTS 391,337.84

Total Bank Accounts $391,337.84

Other Current Assets

1100 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

1103 Due From Other Funds 93,060.42

1104 Due From DDA 327,625.36

Total 1100 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 420,685.78

Total Other Current Assets $420,685.78

Total Current Assets $812,023.62

TOTAL ASSETS $812,023.62

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

2000 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 75,629.91

Total Accounts Payable $75,629.91

Other Current Liabilities

2100 DUE TO OTHER FUNDS 0.00

Total Other Current Liabilities $0.00

Total Current Liabilities $75,629.91

Total Liabilities $75,629.91

Equity

Retained Earnings 522,467.68

Net Income 213,926.03

Total Equity $736,393.71

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $812,023.62

Page 15 of 494



Page 16 of 494



REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR TRAVERSE CITY 1/3Page:12/06/2021 01:39 PM
User: nvanness
DB: TRAVERSE CITY PERIOD ENDING 11/30/2021

% BDGT
USED

UNENCUMBERED
BALANCE

ENCUMBERED
YEAR-TO-DATE

YTD BALANCE
11/30/2021

ACTIVITY FOR
MONTH 

11/30/21
2021-22

AMENDED BUDGETDESCRIPTIONGL NUMBER

Fund 585 - AUTOMOBILE PARKING SYSTEM FUND
Revenues
Dept 000 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL

100.00 (67.50)0.00 67.50 0.00 0.00 RAMSDELL GATE FEES585-000-451.073
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 FEDERAL GRANTS585-000-502.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 PARKING DECK PROCEEDS585-000-651.000

103.71 (37,113.44)0.00 1,037,113.44 62,111.05 1,000,000.00 PARKING FEES-COIN585-000-652.000
27.31 109,028.62 0.00 40,971.38 956.50 150,000.00 PERMITS-SURFACE LOTS585-000-653.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 PERMITS-PARKING DECK585-000-653.005

100.00 (610.00)0.00 610.00 0.00 0.00 PERMITS - NEIGHBORHOOD585-000-653.007
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 DESTINATION DOWNTOWN585-000-653.010

67.03 49,455.21 0.00 100,544.79 6,129.50 150,000.00 PARKING FINES585-000-656.010
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 PARKING FINES-AIRPORT585-000-656.020
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 PARKING FINES-COLLEGE585-000-656.030

26.26 44,245.21 0.00 15,754.79 0.00 60,000.00 INTEREST & DIVIDEND EARNINGS585-000-664.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 RENTS AND ROYALTIES585-000-668.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 SALE OF FIXED ASSETS585-000-673.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 CONTRIBUTIONS-PUBLIC SOURCES585-000-674.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 CONTRIBUTIONS-PRIVATE SOURCES585-000-675.000

100.00 (1,682.97)0.00 1,682.97 0.00 0.00 REIMBURSEMENTS585-000-677.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 RECOVERY OF BAD DEBTS585-000-683.000

100.00 (5,864.97)0.00 5,864.97 0.00 0.00 MISCELLANEOUS INCOME585-000-686.000
100.00 (10,000.00)0.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 REFUNDS AND REBATES585-000-687.000

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 OTHER INCOME585-000-694.000
0.00 1,682,700.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,682,700.00 PRIOR YEARS' SURPLUS585-000-699.000

39.85 1,830,090.16 0.00 1,212,609.84 79,197.05 3,042,700.00 Total Dept 000 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL

Dept 585 - AUTOMOBILE PARKING SYSTEM
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 PERMITS-PARKING DECK585-585-653.005

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 Total Dept 585 - AUTOMOBILE PARKING SYSTEM

Dept 586 - HARDY DECK
151.43 (61,710.45)0.00 181,710.45 5,324.65 120,000.00 PARKING DECK PROCEEDS585-586-651.000

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 PERMITS-SURFACE LOTS585-586-653.000
33.65 99,523.00 0.00 50,477.00 848.00 150,000.00 PERMITS-PARKING DECK585-586-653.005
35.31 8,410.00 0.00 4,590.00 1,836.00 13,000.00 RENTS AND ROYALTIES585-586-668.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 REIMBURSEMENTS585-586-677.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 MISCELLANEOUS INCOME585-586-686.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 REFUNDS AND REBATES585-586-687.000

83.67 46,222.55 0.00 236,777.45 8,008.65 283,000.00 Total Dept 586 - HARDY DECK

Dept 587 - OLD TOWN DECK
118.49 (6,471.75)0.00 41,471.75 1,280.60 35,000.00 PARKING DECK PROCEEDS585-587-651.000
84.14 6,345.87 0.00 33,654.13 750.00 40,000.00 PERMITS-PARKING DECK585-587-653.005
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 REIMBURSEMENTS585-587-677.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 MISCELLANEOUS INCOME585-587-686.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 OTHER INCOME585-587-694.000

100.17 (125.88)0.00 75,125.88 2,030.60 75,000.00 Total Dept 587 - OLD TOWN DECK

Page 17 of 494



REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR TRAVERSE CITY 2/3Page:12/06/2021 01:39 PM
User: nvanness
DB: TRAVERSE CITY PERIOD ENDING 11/30/2021

% BDGT
USED

UNENCUMBERED
BALANCE

ENCUMBERED
YEAR-TO-DATE

YTD BALANCE
11/30/2021

ACTIVITY FOR
MONTH 

11/30/21
2021-22

AMENDED BUDGETDESCRIPTIONGL NUMBER

Fund 585 - AUTOMOBILE PARKING SYSTEM FUND
Revenues

44.83 1,876,186.83 0.00 1,524,513.17 89,236.30 3,400,700.00 TOTAL REVENUES

Expenditures
Dept 585 - AUTOMOBILE PARKING SYSTEM

12.04 7,828.50 0.00 1,071.50 184.40 8,900.00 SALARIES AND WAGES585-585-702.000
0.00 2,200.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,200.00 EMPLOYEE OVERTIME585-585-704.000

100.00 (32.10)0.00 32.10 (0.58)0.00 HEALTH SAVINGS ACCT EXPENSE585-585-714.000
34.13 131.75 0.00 68.25 13.62 200.00 EMPLOYER'S SOCIAL SECURITY585-585-715.000
45.74 54.26 0.00 45.74 9.15 100.00 EMPLOYEE HEALTH INSURANCE585-585-716.000

100.00 (11.16)0.00 11.16 2.23 0.00 EMPLOYEE LIFE/DISABILITY INS585-585-717.000
30.88 483.84 0.00 216.16 61.19 700.00 RETIREMENT FUND CONTRIBUTION585-585-718.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 RETIREES HOSPITALIZATION INS585-585-719.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION585-585-720.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 WORKERS COMPENSATION INS585-585-721.000

21.04 4,737.70 0.00 1,262.30 273.77 6,000.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES585-585-727.000
87.96 4,454.07 23,930.68 8,615.25 672.48 37,000.00 OPERATION SUPPLIES585-585-740.000

110.91 (128,850.35)1,189,321.65 120,328.70 8,242.70 1,180,800.00 PROFESSIONAL AND CONTRACTUAL585-585-801.000
0.00 500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 500.00 COLLECTION COSTS585-585-810.000

664.80 (121,995.92)135,886.00 7,709.92 923.71 21,600.00 COMMUNICATIONS585-585-850.000
0.00 120,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 120,000.00 CITY FEE585-585-854.000

23.70 3,815.00 0.00 1,185.00 246.73 5,000.00 TRANSPORTATION585-585-860.000
0.00 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,000.00 PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT585-585-862.000
0.00 2,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,000.00 TRAINING585-585-863.000
0.00 65,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 65,000.00 COMMUNITY PROMOTION585-585-880.000

10.94 12,468.30 97.94 1,433.76 0.00 14,000.00 PRINTING AND PUBLISHING585-585-900.000
7.67 12,002.59 0.00 997.41 0.00 13,000.00 INSURANCE AND BONDS585-585-910.000

20.60 11,910.66 0.00 3,089.34 47.69 15,000.00 PUBLIC UTILITIES585-585-920.000
12.75 86,985.89 6,431.99 6,282.12 1,190.54 99,700.00 REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE585-585-930.000
0.00 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,000.00 RAMSDELL GATE REPAIR & MAINT585-585-930.005

98.45 1,285.11 53,329.63 28,385.26 4,980.00 83,000.00 RENTAL EXPENSE585-585-940.000
100.00 (10,218.87)0.00 10,218.87 0.00 0.00 MISCELLANEOUS585-585-956.000

0.00 135,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 135,000.00 DEPRECIATION EXPENSE585-585-959.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 TRANSFERS OUT585-585-964.000

30.25 115,095.74 2,513.00 47,391.26 2,166.26 165,000.00 EQUIPMENT585-585-977.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 UNALLOCATED FUNDS585-585-988.000

83.47 326,845.01 1,411,510.89 238,344.10 19,013.89 1,976,700.00 Total Dept 585 - AUTOMOBILE PARKING SYSTEM

Dept 586 - HARDY DECK
0.00 1,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,000.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES585-586-727.000

82.65 1,561.08 4,181.37 3,257.55 2,791.80 9,000.00 OPERATION SUPPLIES585-586-740.000
56.46 54,775.16 49,408.13 21,616.71 274.89 125,800.00 PROFESSIONAL AND CONTRACTUAL585-586-801.000
38.79 2,020.00 0.00 1,280.00 256.00 3,300.00 COMMUNICATIONS585-586-850.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 PRINTING AND PUBLISHING585-586-900.000
7.58 7,393.76 0.00 606.24 0.00 8,000.00 INSURANCE AND BONDS585-586-910.000

13.97 47,317.70 0.00 7,682.30 82.78 55,000.00 PUBLIC UTILITIES585-586-920.000
36.49 202,036.41 84,749.64 31,313.95 1,854.93 318,100.00 REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE585-586-930.000
40.86 9,758.55 0.00 6,741.45 1,348.29 16,500.00 RENTAL EXPENSE585-586-940.000
0.00 10,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 10,000.00 MISCELLANEOUS585-586-956.000
0.00 206,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 206,000.00 DEPRECIATION EXPENSE585-586-959.000

100.00 (61,004.20)30,387.70 30,616.50 0.00 0.00 EQUIPMENT585-586-977.000

36.12 480,858.46 168,726.84 103,114.70 6,608.69 752,700.00 Total Dept 586 - HARDY DECK

Page 18 of 494



REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR TRAVERSE CITY 3/3Page:12/06/2021 01:39 PM
User: nvanness
DB: TRAVERSE CITY PERIOD ENDING 11/30/2021

% BDGT
USED

UNENCUMBERED
BALANCE

ENCUMBERED
YEAR-TO-DATE

YTD BALANCE
11/30/2021

ACTIVITY FOR
MONTH 

11/30/21
2021-22

AMENDED BUDGETDESCRIPTIONGL NUMBER

Fund 585 - AUTOMOBILE PARKING SYSTEM FUND
Expenditures
Dept 587 - OLD TOWN DECK

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES585-587-727.000
147.93 (3,834.69)9,637.65 2,197.04 1,637.26 8,000.00 OPERATION SUPPLIES585-587-740.000
87.94 12,961.13 55,624.25 38,914.62 1,321.00 107,500.00 PROFESSIONAL AND CONTRACTUAL585-587-801.000
64.31 1,820.00 1,455.79 1,824.21 391.77 5,100.00 COMMUNICATIONS585-587-850.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 TRAINING585-587-863.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 PRINTING AND PUBLISHING585-587-900.000
9.02 5,458.98 0.00 541.02 0.00 6,000.00 INSURANCE AND BONDS585-587-910.000
5.96 51,719.94 0.00 3,280.06 0.00 55,000.00 PUBLIC UTILITIES585-587-920.000

66.40 98,915.17 176,240.42 19,244.41 1,204.94 294,400.00 REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE585-587-930.000
40.88 8,454.20 0.00 5,845.80 1,169.16 14,300.00 RENTAL EXPENSE585-587-940.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 MISCELLANEOUS585-587-956.000
0.00 181,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 181,000.00 DEPRECIATION EXPENSE585-587-959.000

100.00 (40,661.50)20,330.75 20,330.75 0.00 0.00 EQUIPMENT585-587-977.000

52.95 315,833.23 263,288.86 92,177.91 5,724.13 671,300.00 Total Dept 587 - OLD TOWN DECK

66.96 1,123,536.70 1,843,526.59 433,636.71 31,346.71 3,400,700.00 TOTAL EXPENDITURES

100.00 752,650.13 (1,843,526.59)1,090,876.46 57,889.59 0.00 NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

66.96 1,123,536.70 1,843,526.59 433,636.71 31,346.71 3,400,700.00 TOTAL EXPENDITURES
44.83 1,876,186.83 0.00 1,524,513.17 89,236.30 3,400,700.00 TOTAL REVENUES

Fund 585 - AUTOMOBILE PARKING SYSTEM FUND:

Page 19 of 494



Page 20 of 494



REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR TRAVERSE CITY 1/1Page:12/06/2021 01:37 PM
User: nvanness
DB: TRAVERSE CITY PERIOD ENDING 11/30/2021

% BDGT
USED

UNENCUMBERED
BALANCE

ENCUMBERED
YEAR-TO-DATE

YTD BALANCE
11/30/2021

ACTIVITY FOR
MONTH 

11/30/21
2021-22

AMENDED BUDGETDESCRIPTIONGL NUMBER

Fund 282 - PUBLIC ARTS COMMISSION FUND
Revenues
Dept 000 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 INTEREST & DIVIDEND EARNINGS282-000-664.000
0.00 15,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 15,000.00 CONTRIBUTIONS-PUBLIC SOURCES282-000-674.000

100.00 (1,500.00)0.00 1,500.00 0.00 0.00 CONTRIBUTIONS-PRIVATE SOURCES282-000-675.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 REIMBURSEMENTS282-000-677.000

100.00 0.00 0.00 30,000.00 0.00 30,000.00 TRANSFERS IN282-000-695.000
0.00 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5,000.00 PRIOR YEARS' SURPLUS282-000-699.000

63.00 18,500.00 0.00 31,500.00 0.00 50,000.00 Total Dept 000 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL

63.00 18,500.00 0.00 31,500.00 0.00 50,000.00 TOTAL REVENUES

Expenditures
Dept 282 - PUBLIC ARTS COMMISSION

0.00 500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 500.00 OFFICE SUPPLIES282-282-727.000
239.32 (20,898.31)17,395.78 18,502.53 10,000.00 15,000.00 PROFESSIONAL AND CONTRACTUAL282-282-801.000

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 PRINTING AND PUBLISHING282-282-900.000
0.00 4,500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4,500.00 REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE282-282-930.000

13.33 26,000.00 0.00 4,000.00 0.00 30,000.00 CAPITAL OUTLAY282-282-970.000
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 UNALLOCATED FUNDS282-282-988.000

79.80 10,101.69 17,395.78 22,502.53 10,000.00 50,000.00 Total Dept 282 - PUBLIC ARTS COMMISSION

79.80 10,101.69 17,395.78 22,502.53 10,000.00 50,000.00 TOTAL EXPENDITURES

100.00 8,398.31 (17,395.78)8,997.47 (10,000.00)0.00 NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

79.80 10,101.69 17,395.78 22,502.53 10,000.00 50,000.00 TOTAL EXPENDITURES
63.00 18,500.00 0.00 31,500.00 0.00 50,000.00 TOTAL REVENUES

Fund 282 - PUBLIC ARTS COMMISSION FUND:

Page 21 of 494



Page 22 of 494



  

 
 

 
 

 
           Downtown Development Authority 

303 E. State Street 
Traverse City, MI 49684 

harry@downtowntc.com 
      231-922-2050 

         Memorandum 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
To:   DDA Board of Directors  
  Jean Derenzy, DDA CEO 
 
From:  Harry Burkholder, COO 
    
Date:  December 13, 2021 
 
Subject: Lower Boardman Unified Plan   
 
 
In August of 2018, the DDA, in collaboration with the Lower Boardman River Leadership 
Team, initiated efforts to develop a comprehensive plan (commonly referred to as the 
“Unified Plan”) for the 1.6 miles of Boardman River that meanders through Downtown 
(from Boardman Lake to the mouth of the Bay).  
 
The Leadership Team includes 13 members, made up of local officials (including our 
own Pete Kirkwood), government staff, a staff member from the Grand Traverse Band 
of Ottawa and Chippewa Indians, representatives from stakeholder organizations, 
businesses owners, and residents.  
 
Over the last three-plus years, the Leadership Team, in cooperation with DDA Staff and 
SmithGroup (our consulting firm) worked to complete an inventory and understanding of 
the current conditions of the river corridor, identify guiding values and a general vision 
for the river corridor and develop recommendations around zoning regulations, land 
use, capital and habitat improvements and management.  
 
The guiding values and the general vision were developed through a robust and 
extensive civic engagement process that included several large community meetings, 
numerous stakeholders meetings, two community-wide surveys, public comment boards 
and a series of informal pop-up meetings at local businesses, public spaces (e.g. 
farmers market, senior center) and public gatherings (e.g., Friday Night Live, etc.). This 
engagement continued throughout the lifespan of the planning project through over 30 
in-person and virtual Leadership Team (and sub-committee) meetings.  
 
 

Page 23 of 494



  

 
 

 
 

In an additional (but related) effort, this past fall the DDA and the City worked with 
SmithGroup to conduct a stabilization assessment of the retaining wall along the 100 
and 200 blocks of Front Street. The recommendations identified in the stabilization 
assessment were partially influenced by the general vision identified through the Lower 
Boardman public engagement process. Ultimately, these recommendations helped 
establish the framework for an RFP for design and engineering services to develop a 
vision for a riverfront/pedestrian plaza along the 100 and 200 blocks alleys. This specific 
project also scored as a top-priority in last weeks strategic planning meeting.   
 
After several years of hard work, it is with great pleasure that the Lower Boardman 
Leadership Team submit the Unified Plan for your consideration. 
 
The Unified Plan consists of four chapters: 

 
Chapter One. Discusses the vision and values for the plan as well as a review of  
existing documents and land use policy and the civic engagement process. 
 
Chapter Two. Discusses the historical and cultural context of the river corridor, current 
uses and the existing conditions of the river corridor.  
 
 
Chapter Three. Discusses the Action Plan for implementation, including 
recommendations for land use policy, habitat, access and open space and culture.  
 
Chapter Four. Discusses the illustrative plan, with specific recommendations for 
capital improvements. 
 

Upon your approval of the Unified Plan, we will be seeking approval from the Planning 
Commission, Parks and Recreation Commission and the City Commission. 
A full copy of the Unified Plan and the Appendix to the Plan is attached.  
 
 
Recommended Motion 
That the DDA Board of Directors approve the Unified Plan for the Lower Boardman 
River and send it forward for consideration and approval by the Planning Commission, 
Parks and Recreation Commission and the City Commission  
 
 

Page 24 of 494



TRAVERSE CITY DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

UNIFIED PLAN OF THE LOWER 
BOARDMAN RIVER

December 9, 2021

Page 25 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River2

 

FOREWARD
The design and intent of this document was to build upon previous planning efforts and develop a single unified 
plan that would clarify what people want to see when they thoughtfully “turn their attention to the river” and that 
would help catalyze discussions, decisions and actions that will bring into being a shared vision of a healthy river 
at the heart of a healthy community and city.

The Unified Plan has grown out of extensive attempts 
to find out what people actually see, want to see, and 
don’t want to see when they interact and experience 
the downtown reaches of the Lower Boardman-Ottaway 
River.  The underlying methodology of the planning 
process was to ask people what they saw as desirable 
and undesirable about the different reaches, sites, 
and characteristics of the river.  We asked how people 
thought the different sites and reaches of the river 
should best be connected physically and how the lower 
river as a whole should connect to the city’s perceived 
“character” and to its aspirations.  We asked people 
how they wanted to engage with and protect the river, 
how multiple and competing uses of the river should 
be balanced, and how degraded sites and habitats 
along the reaches of the river might be restored or 
regenerated.  We were especially keen to hear what 
people had to say about how the river in a systemic 
sense connects to the city’s current and future value as 
a healthy habitat for human and non-human life.

We heard many innovative and inspiring ideas and 
have tried to capture them in the pages that follow.  
What we did not hear, from anyone, was indifference or 
shallow concerns expressing narrow interests of intent.  
We heard loudly and clearly that people love the city, 
the region, and the river that weaves them together.  
Everything we heard affirmed a deep, broad, strong 
commitment to doing a better job of ensuring the long 
term cultural, ecological, and economic value of the 
river.

We all live downstream from deliberations, decisions, 
and actions that  occurred before our time.  We all 
inherit the treasures and the messes that come to us 
from the past.  But we are also upstream actors.  We 

are all trustees of the resources that those who come 
after us will inherit.  Those downstream from us will be 
impacted by decisions we make about what we define 
as “progress,” about what we allow to be done to our 
land and water in the name of progress, about whether 
or not we honor and protect our most precious natural 
resources as living beings and as public treasures.  
In that sense, this Unified Plan is predicated on an 
explicit recognition of our generational responsibility 
to those who come after us and it is a principled plan of 
action intended to help us be responsible stewards and 
good ancestors.

The planning team was explicitly not interested in 
just “making a plan” that the city could affirm as a 
plan. The goal of the unified planning process has 
been to develop an overarching framework for guiding 
deliberations and fostering decisions by multiple 
actors in the public and private sectors that will 
protect, restore, and enhance the Lower Boardman-
Ottaway River for the benefit of future generations 
while honoring the generations of original stewards 
of the river—the Aanishinaabek—who have shared 
inspiring memory of what was here long before modern 
civilization left its legacy of designs to use the river  
rather than live with the river as a caregiver and 
fundamental source of life.

No plan has power without commitment to its 
principles, expressed in actions.  The Unified Plan isn’t 
a cookbook of recipes for success.  The success of 
the plan will rest on it being a predicate for ongoing, 
inclusive, open minded conversations about how best 
to protect the river and reconcile competing uses of 
the river as the city grows and develops.  The unified 
planning process has, we hope, helped to extend and 
focus those ongoing conversations.

Page 26 of 494



smithgroup.com 3

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

TRAVERSE CITY DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (DDA) BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS
Leah Bagdon McCallum

Pam DeMerle

Scott Hardy, Vice-Chair

Jeff Joubran, Treasurer

Pete Kirkwood

Richard Lewis (Mayor), Secretary

Damian Lockhart

Pam Marsh

Todd McMillan

Steve Nance

Gabe Schneider, Chair

LOWER BOARDMAN RIVER LEADERSHIP TEAM
Jennifer Jay, Grand Traverse Regional Land Conservancy 
– Co-Chair

Brett Fessell, Grand Traverse Band of Ottawa and 
Chippewa Indians – Co-Chair

Sammie Dyal, Grand Traverse Band of Ottawa and 
Chippewa Indians

Russ Soyring, City of Traverse City Resident

Frank Dituri, City of Traverse City

Tim Werner, City of Traverse City Commissioner  

Jean Derenzy, Downtown Development Authority 

Christine Crissman, The Watershed Center

Rick Korndorfer, Downtown Property Owner

Pete Kirkwood, Downtown Business Owner and DDA 
Board Member

Elise Crafts, Business Owner 

Mike Vickery, City Resident 

Deni Scrudato, City Resident 

Shawn Winter, City of Traverse City

DDA STAFF
Harry Burkholder, Chief Operations Office

Katy McCain, Director of Community Development

CITY OF TRAVERSE CITY COMMISSION
Richard Lewis, Mayor

Amy Shamroe, Mayor Pro Tem

Mi Stanley

Mitchell Treadwell

Ashlea Walter

Tim Werner

Mark Wilson

DEDICATED CITIZENS
We would like to acknowledge the hundreds of local citizens that participated in the planning process and helped 

shape this plan.

Page 27 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River

LAND ACKNOWLEDGMENT

Please take a moment to simply acknowledge the lands we are working on behalf of are lands once occupied by 
the Original People of the Great Lakes; the Aanishinaabek Odawa, Ojibwe, and Bodewadmi nations known widely 
as the Three Fires Confederacy. Who for countless generations lived intimately connected to, and held reverent 
care for this place prior to European settlement and dominion over its abundant resources. In this way, it is 
important that we ground our work with utmost respect and care for land and water as sacred, as if caring for 
another being, a relative. And remember that this land and water has cared for us unconditionally through time 
just as a family member would. Without judgment, without resentment or avarice, only to seek balance among all 
connections, all beings, for all time. Thank you.

Page 28 of 494



smithgroup.com

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1. ESTABLISHING A VISION

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE 8

VISION & VALUES 10

EXISTING PLANS FOR IMPROVEMENT & 
RESTORATION 12

CURRENT REGULATORY & POLICY GUIDANCE 17

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT & PLANNING PROCESS 19

CHAPTER 2. UNDERSTANDING THE LOWER BOARDMAN

HISTORIC & CULTURAL CONTEXT 28

CURRENT USERS 33

EXISTING CONDITIONS BY REACH 35

CHAPTER 3. ACTION PLAN

RIVER CONDITIONS & HABITAT 57

ACCESS, OPEN SPACE & THE BUILT 
ENVIRONMENT 62

HISTORY, CULTURE & LEARNING 70

COMMUNITY & DEVELOPMENT POLICIES 73

IMPLEMENTATION &MANAGEMENT 82

CHAPTER 4. THE ILLUSTRATED PLAN

THE PLANNING PROCESS & PLAN 
DEVELOPMENT 90

THE UNIFIED PLAN 92

PLAN IMPLEMENTATION 115

APPENDICES

1 ROUND ONE PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT RESULTS
2  EXISTING CONDITIONS MAPPING
3  BOARDMAN RIVER WALL STABILIZATION REPORT
4  PROPOSED RIPARIAN BUFFER ORDINANCE
5  ROUND TWO PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT RESULTS
6 ILLUSTRATIVE UNIFIED PLAN

Page 29 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River6

 

Page 30 of 494



CHAPTER 1

ESTABLISHING A VISION

Page 31 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River8

 

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE

The river is one of our most 
valuable assets from an ecologic, 
economic, recreational, and 
cultural perspective, and is a 
significant contributor to the sense 
of place in downtown Traverse 
City. Recognizing the value of the 
river, the Traverse City Downtown 
Development Authority (DDA) 
put into motion the process for 
developing a UNIFIED PLAN for the 
Lower Boardman River. The UNIFIED 
PLAN includes our collective vision 
for the Lower Boardman River 
and describes the land use policy 
recommendations, best practices 
for development, and physical 
improvements for achieving this 
vision.

The UNIFIED PLAN is based on the 
premise that the environmental 
value of the river corridor is central 
to the community; this value should 
be reflected and reinforced through 
the management of change in 
downtown.  When the community 
considers all beneficiaries to the 
river (including nature) in the 
design process for future downtown 
and riverfront projects, then the 
Lower Boardman River will reflect 
the value placed on water, land, 
nature, health, and wellness.

Chapter 1. Establishing a Vision

AERIAL PHOTO OF REACHES ONE AND TWO

Page 32 of 494



smithgroup.com 9

Chapter 1. Establishing a Vision

The “water centric” values, best practices, and 
development guidelines integrated into this plan will 
translate, over time, into better designs for public 
places, such as streetscapes, public park spaces, 
pathways, and transportation facilities, and will ensure 
that new development creates a better interface 
between the urban fabric and the river.

In a key initial step, the DDA established the Lower 
Boardman River Leadership Team (Leadership Team) 
as an ad hoc committee of the DDA to lead the 
development of the UNIFIED PLAN.  The Leadership 
Team members volunteered their time and expertise, 
and included individuals with backgrounds in real 
estate, urban planning, natural resources, land 
conservation and stewardship, and park management, 
as well as city commission members, DDA staff, and 
community stakeholders.  Throughout the process, the 
Leadership Team was responsible for conducting open 

public meetings, organizing public input sessions, 
establishing direction for the content and focus of 
the plan, and evaluating and proposing concepts and 
ideas.

Through the guidance of the Leadership Team the 
UNIFIED PLAN endeavors to protect, preserve, and 
appropriately develop the downtown section of the 
Boardman River (approximately 1.6 miles of river), 
connecting the northern end of Boardman Lake with 
Grand Traverse Bay. 

This plan was developed with the engagement of all 
interested parties to take advantage of expertise and 
input.  Just as the plan may identify priorities for 
recreational, educational, and interpretive initiatives, 
so should it identify projects involving land/water 
management policies and projects to address 
stormwater management and control, and habitat 
protection and enhancement.

Page 33 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River10

 

VISION & VALUES

The Leadership Team developed a set of Core Values for the project prior to the formal planning process to frame 
the community’s basic goals for the river corridor.  These Core Values were discussed and tested through an open 
public process.  During the planning process, the community reaffirmed the Core Values and provided a set of 
diverse and substantial ideas that are consistent with the Core Values.

The Core Values of the UNIFIED PLAN include:

 � Reflect the city’s commitment to the river as a public 
resource and asset to be passed to residents and 
visitors in perpetuity.

 � Contain public goals for the river and city, in keeping 
with the community’s visions about what the river 
is and can become as a centerpiece for downtown 
identity and ethos.

 � Use the natural and cultural values of the river as a 
guide for decisions about the commercial, economic, 
or utilitarian values to be leveraged for the public 
good.

 � Be explicit to the commitment to improve, restore, 
and protect the health and integrity of the riparian 
ecosystem of the lower river.

 � Provide that the recommended initiatives contained 
in the plan will account for the impact of those 
initiatives on residents, habitats, and the ecological 
status of the river.

 � Serve to foster and sustain partnerships with 
shared responsibilities among public and private 
stakeholders who share the value that the river is a 
“common resource” that connects everyone.

 � Identify/prioritize opportunities for multi-modal 
access to the river.

 � Enhance ecological and aesthetic river conditions, 
take advantage of, and integrate iconic structures 
and identify new sites and structures that serve as 
destination or centers of programming to attract 
year-round access.

 � Integrate existing riverwalks and pathways with new 
connections between sites and destinations that 
link the river to the city in ways that are physical, 
visual, aesthetic, and psychological.

 � Be consistent with best riparian and aquatic science, 
best water and land management practices and 
must be harmonious with the river.

 � Make nature-based stormwater best management 
practices (BMPs) a priority.

 � Help ensure that new or rehabilitated developments 
along the river are compatible with the city’s 
renewable energy goals.

 � Establish that development sites, destinations 
and structures must protect the health, aesthetics, 
accessibility, and health of the relationship between 
the river and residents/visitors.

 � Manage invasive vegetation, protect and retain 
existing native vegetation, and add native vegetation 
where possible.

Chapter 1. Establishing a Vision

Page 34 of 494



smithgroup.com 11

Chapter 1. Establishing a Vision

 � Prohibit further hardening of the shorelines that are 
inconsistent with the plan.

 � Ensure that the natural flow of the river is enhanced 
and not curtailed or impeded by any element of the 
plan.

HARDENED AND FILLED RIVER EDGE ON THE 100 BLOCK OF FRONT STREET

Page 35 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River12

 

EXISTING PLANS FOR IMPROVEMENT & RESTORATION

For over ten years, Traverse City has been part of a initiative that has garnered national and international 
attention to restore the Boardman River, including the removal or modification of four dams on the river.  The 
fruits of this initiative will all come to bear in the downtown vicinity.

There have been several interconnected initiatives designed and employed to develop concepts for use and 
protection of the river and watershed as it unites through Traverse City, including:

BOARDMAN RIVER WATERSHED PROSPERITY PLAN
This plan was completed in 2016. Prepared by Public Sector Consultants, The Watershed Center Grand Traverse 
Bay, Beckett & Raeder, and the Lawton Gallagher Group.

PURPOSE OF THE PLAN
The Boardman River Watershed Prosperity Plan 
(Prosperity Plan) is a vision and a roadmap for the 
future management of one of Michigan's most 
beautiful watersheds. The Prosperity Plan tells us to 
think large, recognizing that the value of, and threats 
to, the resources of the river need to be addressed at 
the local and regional scale. The Prosperity Plan defines 
prosperity for the watershed as achieving economic 
well-being for its residents, protecting and maintaining 
a high-quality environment (water, land, and air 
resources), supporting health lifestyles, helping people 
connect and engage with the environment and with 
each other, and offering a diverse range of social and 
cultural opportunities.

Chapter 1. Establishing a Vision

FRAMEWORK
The Prosperity Plan deals with the entire Boardman 
River watershed; not all goals and recommendations 
apply equally to the Lower Boardman River. Goals are as 
follows:

 � Protect, restore, and enhance the high-quality water 
and other natural resources that are the backbone of 
social and economic prosperity in the watershed.

 � Grow a sustainable economy that benefits and 
strengthens all the watershed communities.

 � Improve the quality of life and advance greater 
social equity throughout the watershed to retain 
and attract businesses, a talented workforce, and 
student and retiree residents.

 � Provide managed expansion and improvement of 
recreation opportunities in the watershed to attract 
a talented workforce, student and retiree residents, 
and visitors from around the world.

 � Create community ownership of the Boardman River 
Watershed Prosperity Plan (through education and 
engagement efforts) and community capacity that 
will assure implementation of recommended actions 
and achievements of the goals and objectives.

Page 36 of 494



smithgroup.com 13

Chapter 1. Establishing a Vision

FISHPASS PROJECT

PURPOSE OF THE PROJECT
The mission of FishPass is to provide up- and 
down-stream passage of desirable fishes, while 
simultaneously blocking and/or removing undesirable 
fishes. To achieve this mission, FishPass has three 
overarching objectives:

 � Develop and implement selective bi-directional fish 
guidance, sorting, and passage techniques and 
technologies.

 � Determine protocols for implementing selective 
passage solutions within the Boardman River and 
throughout the Great Lakes basin.

 � Set solutions in a global context so the approach can 
be exported.

FRAMEWORK
The project goals were articulated to reflect the values 
of the community and serve as guiding principles for 
the design, construction, and operation of FishPass as 
follows:.

 � Provide a naturalized landscape consistent with 
public input.

 � Protect water quality standards and maintain stable 
water levels in Boardman Lake.

 � No sea lamprey production requiring treatment in 
the Boardman River above the project site.

 � Increase the fishery production in the Boardman 
River to a level comparable to other tributaries/
streams.

Page 37 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River14

 

 � Provide enhanced, sustainable business opportunities.

 � Provide abundant, diverse, and high-quality outdoor recreation amenities.

 � Enhance access and use of the site for education, wayfinding, fishing, boating, and biking.

 � Integrate the river into the fabric of the city by aligning the project with the city master plan. 

 � Improve public understanding of the threat from invasive species.

 � Inform the public on the role of human landscape alterations on fisheries and communities.

 � Promote engagement regarding broad objectives for the Boardman River, ecosystem management, and city 
planning.

The FishPass project team has completed the final construction documents and regulatory permits.  Construction 
was set to begin in the fall of 2020; however, resolution of litigation is pending which has delayed the project.  

BOARDMAN WATER TRAIL DEVELOPMENT PLAN
Completed in 2016. Prepared by the LIAA.

Chapter 1. Establishing a Vision

PURPOSE OF THE PLAN
The Boardman Water Trail Development Plan outlines 
the activities, process, and framework to establish a 
water trail along the Boardman River. The resulting 
efforts of this plan will seek to improve public access to 
the Boardman River, complement ongoing conservation 
and environmental initiatives along the river, raise 
awareness of the unique and valuable natural 
resources within the river corridor, and provide for a 
safe and responsible recreational water trail.

FRAMEWORK
These assumptions summarize the specific goals 
and expectations for the water trail and ultimately 
establish the benchmark for success of the water trail:

 � The water trail should balance safe recreation with 
ongoing conservation and restoration efforts.

 � The river supports paddling, fishing, boating, and 
swimming.

 � The water trail complements and is integrated with 
surrounding land-based trails.

 � The public has points of access to the river.

 � The river and the ways it is used will continue to 
evolve.

 � Downtown Traverse City should have better 
connections to the river.

 � The river will continue to be managed and 
maintained through inter-jurisdictional public, 
private, and non-profit partnerships.

 � Paddlers will respect private property along the 
water trail.

Page 38 of 494



smithgroup.com 15

Chapter 1. Establishing a Vision

BOARDMAN RIVER PLAN
Completed in 2013. Prepared by the University of 
Michigan.

PURPOSE OF THE PLAN
The Boardman River Plan seeks to integrate the river 
into the fabric of Traverse City, revitalizing it into one 
of the defining elements of the dynamic urban area. 
Heavily influenced by extensive site analysis, this 
plan provides a coherent, interconnected conceptual 
vision for the future of this historically vital waterway. 
The plan recognizes the importance of both social 
and environmental factors, working to improve the 
riverfront in a contextually appropriate way that 
integrates the needs of the community with the 
functionality of a healthy river system.

FRAMEWORK
Strategies/reoccurring themes:

 � Vegetation as a driver for ecological health

 � Public gathering spaces

 � Iconic urban destinations

 � Urban recreation

 � Enhanced riparian habitat

 � Linkages

BOARDMAN RIVER FISHERIES REPORT
Completed in 2009. Prepared by Environmental 
Consulting & Technology, Inc.

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
The Boardman River Fisheries Report collected, 
cataloged, summarized, and discussed existing data 
on Boardman River fisheries in the context of its 
adequacy in evaluating alternatives for the fates of the 
Boardman River dams.

FRAMEWORK
For purposes of disseminating the existing data in a 
framework useful for identifying gaps in essential data 
and evaluating alternative fates of the Boardman River 
dams, in this report the Boardman River was divided 
into ten segments, including three segments that fall 
within the Lower Boardman River UNIFIED PLAN project 
area.

 � From Union Street Dam downstream to Lake 
Michigan, and Hospital (Kids) Creek.

 � Union Street Dam impoundments, also known as 
Boardman Lake.

 � From Sabin Dam downstream to Union Street Dam 
impoundments, or Boardman Lake.

Page 39 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River16

 

YOUR BAY, YOUR SAY
Completed in 2007. Prepared by SmithGroup and Wade 
Trim.

PURPOSE OF THE PLAN
The plan made several recommendations to improve 
pedestrian access and connectivity, including a public 
pier at the mouth of the Boardman River.

FRAMEWORK
The plan includes the following key recommendations:

 � Connect the downtown and neighborhoods to the 
waterfront.

 � Create a new Central Park, a town square on the 
water.

 � Promote mixed-use infill to reinforce the edges of 
the park.

 � Provide a variety of activities and public spaces 
along the waterfront.

 � Respect the natural beauty and ecological integrity 
of the bay and Boardman River.

BOARDMAN RIVER WALL STABILIZATION 
PROJECT
Completed in 2020.  Prepared by SmithGroup, 
Limnotech, Wade Trim, and SME.

PURPOSE OF THE PROJECT
The plan evaluated the soil stability issues adjacent 
to the retaining wall located along the river on the 100 
and 200 blocks of downtown Traverse City, including 
a topographic survey, geotechnical borings, hydraulic 
model of the river, and engineering assessment of the 
wall and sewer, and provided recommendations for 
repair and stabilization.

FRAMEWORK
During the spring of 2020, depressions formed in the 
landscape areas, paving showed signs of failure, and 
signposts began falling over, all of which indicated that 
soil stability issues exist adjacent to the wall.

The soil subsidence has posed risks to the public 
infrastructure, including the wall and a major sanitary 
sewer, and those who use the sidewalks, parking, and 
alley. The study concluded that the amount of annual 
subsidence has increased over the past decade, and 
that this trend is unlikely to slow. 

The analysis and assessment determined that the 
most prudent solution to these issues is to treat the 
two blocks uniquely and respond to the site conditions 
and constraints of each.  For the 100 block, the study 
recommended removing the existing retaining wall 
and relocating the sanitary sewer, allowing for a 
natural shoreline and restoration of habitat along the 
riverfront. 

For the 200 block, the study recommended 
preservation of the concrete wall and installation of a 
sheet pile wall on the river side of the wall.

Chapter 1. Establishing a Vision

Page 40 of 494



smithgroup.com 17

Chapter 1. Establishing a Vision

CURRENT REGULATORY & POLICY GUIDANCE

COMMUNITY MASTER PLAN
State of Michigan statues provide each community 
with the right and responsibility to regulate the 
development of private land and public infrastructure.  
A comprehensive planning document, commonly 
referred to as the Community Master Plan, establishes 
goals, strategies, and priorities to guide land use, 
transportation infrastructure, downtown development, 
neighborhood preservation, non-motorized 
transportation, land development guidelines (such as 
setbacks and character), and similar subjects.  

The current City of Traverse City Master Plan was 
developed in 2009 and amended in 2017.  The city is 
considering the timing and focus of the next master 
plan update, providing an opportunity to integrate the 
findings of the UNIFIED PLAN into the chapters which 
focus on downtown.  

ZONING
Zoning ordinances are the regulatory application of 
the goals established by the Community Master Plan.  
Zoning ordinances establish development standards 
that are applied to a given parcel of land when that site 
is either developed, or significantly redeveloped.  

Each parcel of land in the community is designated 
into a specific zone which has its own set of standards.  
The project area includes properties which are zoned 
for:

 � 1OS - Open Space (typically publicly owned land)

 � R-3 - Multiple Family Dwelling

 � C-3 – Community Center

 � C-4 - Regional Center

 � D-1 – Ironworks Development

 � D-2 – Depot Development

 � GP – Government/Public

The zoning District C-4 is the core area of downtown, 
and is further divided into sub-categories, a, b, and c, 
which vary in allowed building heights.  This zoning 
district includes the most shoreline of the Boardman 
River in the project area, followed by Open Space.  

Each zoning district includes a set of requirements 
that guide new development’s building height, property 
line and river setbacks, density, and allowed land uses.

Relative to the development of river frontage are 
several key zoning ordinances including:

 � Chapter 1368 - Size and Area Requirements

COMMUNITY PARKS AND RECREATION PLAN
The Community Parks and Recreation Plan is updated 
every five years and includes an assessment of the 
conditions of public parks, public engagement, and a 
set of recommendations for park improvements.  An 
up-to-date plan is required to access state funding of 
parks through the Michigan Natural Resources Trust 
Fund.

Though not specifically a plan that has regulatory 
authority to manage development in the river corridor, 
the parks and recreation plan and the UNIFIED PLAN 
are companion pieces that provide guidance in the 
decision-making process for future design efforts, and 
therefore, should be coordinated as the Community 
Parks and Recreation Plan is updated.

Page 41 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River18

 Chapter 1. Establishing a Vision

REGULATORY ORDINANCES
The City of Traverse has adopted, over time, a series of 
regulatory ordinances that have the legal authority to 
establish standards for a variety of subjects, from the 
development of utility systems to the management of 
public nuisances.  

As discussed later in this report, regulatory ordinances 
could be a key element of helping the community 
establish standards for managing behavior of river and 
park users.  Key regulatory ordnances include:

 � Chapter 1062 Harbor and Waterfront (establishes a 
dock line for the river corridor)

 � Chapter 1064 Parks 

 � Chapter 1068 Ground-Water Protection and Storm-
Water Runoff Control

 � Chapter 1458 - Flood Plain Management

Ki
ds

 C
re

ek

West Arm of 
Grand Traverse Bay

Boardman 
Lake

G a r f i e l d  

T o w n s h i p

East Arm of
Grand Traverse Bay

E l m w o o d

T o w n s h i p P e n i n s u l a

T o w n s h i p

E a s t  B a y

T o w n s h i p

E a s t  B a y

T o w n s h i p

G a r f i e l d  

T o w n s h i p

D
IV

IS
IO

N
 S

T

M-72

EIGHTH ST

SOUTH AIRPORT RD

FRONT ST

G
A

R
FI

EL
D

 A
VE

MUNSON AVE

PARSONS RD

W
O

O
D

M
ER

E 
AV

E

VE
TE

R
A

N
S 

D
R

CA
SS

 S
T

E FRONT ST

M
-2

2

GRANDVIEW PARKWAY

THREE M
ILE RD

STATE ST

HANNAH ST

CARVER ST

FOURTEENTH ST

U
N

IO
N

 S
T

LAKE

NORTH
 L

ONG L
AKE 

RD

C
A

SS
 S

T

EIGHTH

C
A

SS

O
A

K

STATE

BAY

U
N

IO
N

M
A

PL
E

G
A

R
FI

EL
D

SIXTH

FE
R

N

NINTH

TENTH

WAYNE

BOON

ELEVENTH

EL
M

W
O

O
D

EASTERN

R
O

SE

B
A

R
LO

W

H
A

ST
IN

G
SCENTRE

WASHINGTON

FRONT

SP
R

U
C

E

FA
IR

TWELFTH

LO
C

U
ST

B
AT

ES

SEVENTH

M
O

N
R

O
E

C
ED

A
R

BALDWIN

AERO PARK

THIRTEENTH

SI
LV

ER

TITUS

GRIFFIN

RANDOLPH

M
A

D
IS

O
N

W
A

D
SW

O
R

TH

FIFTH

PI
N

E

HILL

D
AV

IS

SIXTEENTH

H
U

R
O

N

BOYD

EA
ST

 B
AY

WEBSTER

FR
A

N
K

LI
N

B
IR

C
H

W
O

O
D

M
IL

LI
K

EN

C
O

C
H

LI
N

W
EN

O
N

A
H

GROVE

LA
K

E

C
LI

N
C

H

SH
ER

ID
A

N

JU
D

SO
N

ST
EE

LE

BOUGHEY

THIRD

SA
N

TO

HA
LL

W
EL

LI
N

G
TO

N

BEADLE

WALNUT

RAMSDELL

SECOND

PENINSULA

FAIRLANE

H
O

PE

LINCOLN

SH
EF

FE
R

B
LO

O
M

FI
EL

D

SEVENTEENTH

B
O

A
R

D
M

A
N

A
IR

PO
R

T 
A

C
C

ES
S

Q
U

A
IL

 R
ID

G
E

H
A

M
IL

TO
N

G
R

A
N

T

PA
R

K

TE
R

R
A

C
E

H
U

R
O

N
 H

IL
LS

B
EL

M
O

N
T

KEWAUNEE

H
IG

H
LA

N
D

 PA
R

K

ANDERSON

N
A

K
O

M
A

WILLOW

M
IC

H
IG

A
N

W
O

O
D

LA
N

D

C
R

O
M

W
EL

L

WOOD

G
IL

LI
S

KELLEY

ASPEN

APACHE

NINETEENTH

INDIAN TRAIL

GARLAND

FIFTEENTH

EASTW
O

O
D

MANOR

FITZHUGH

W
EST O

R
C

H
A

R
D

A
R

R
O

W
H

EA
D

A
R

N
O

LD

LA
KE

 R
ID

G
E

COMANCHE

KINROSS

FU
LT

O
N

C
A

LVIN

NORTH AERO PARK

INCOCHEE

PLAINVIEW

B
EA

U
M

O
N

T

CIRCLE

WEST AERO PARK

INDIAN WOODS

CYPRESS

ALLOUEZ

SHAWNEE

KAUKAUNA

B
ET

H
 E

L

LE
EW

A
R

D

BEITNER

RA
ND

AL
L

B
AT

ES

FIFTEENTH

PI
N

E

SEVENTH WEBSTER

N
O

R
TH

 A
ER

O
 P

A
R

K

G
A

R
FI

EL
D

AIR
PORT A

CCESS

KELLEY

BOYD

C
ED

A
R

SIXTH

G
R

A
N

T

SILVER

THIRD

M
A

PL
E

R
O

SEPI
N

E

BOON

EAST BAYLAKE

G
R

A
N

T

FRONT

GRIFFIN

BOYD

SECOND

B
A

R
LO

W

PENINSULA

This map is based on digital databases
from the City of Traverse City.Traverse City 
cannot accept any responsbility for errors, 
ommissions or positional accuracy.
There are no warranties expressed or implied.

Zoning Map

Document Path: G:\GIS\Planning\Zoning Master Map Editing information\Zoning_Master_UpdatePDF.mxd

Last Update:11/16/2021  GWS

Street Classification
Arterial

Collector

Zoning Districts
C-1  Office Service 

C-2  Neghborhood Center

C-3  Community Center

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

C-4a  Regional Center 

 C-4b  Regional Center 

C-4c  Regional Center 

D-1  Development 

D-2  Development 

D-3  Development 

GP  Government/Public

H-1  Hospital 

H-2  Hospital 

HR  Hotel Resort 

I  Industrial 

R1/b Mixed Use 

NMC-1  University

NMC-2  University

OS  Open Space    

GTC  Grand Traverse Commons

R-1a Single Family Dwelling

R-1b Single Family Dwelling

R-2 Two Family Dwelling

R-3 Multi Family Dwelling

RC Residental Conservation 

T  Transportation

City of Traverse City

I

To
w

nl
in

e

Hammond

Ce
nt

er
Ce

da
r

Ha
m

m
on

d

OS

R-1b

R-1a

R-1b

R-1a

C-3

I

R-3

C-3

GPR-3

Planning Department
Zoning Administrator - Dave Weston

231-922-4464

(A)   -  Zoning Agreement

MU

R-1b

RC

GTC

OS R-3

R-3

R-1b

R-1a

NMC-1

NMC-2

HR

T

I

I

R-2

C-3(A)

H-2

H-1

D-1
D-2

C-4c

C-4b

C-4a R-3(A)

C-3(A)

T

I

C-3

HRC-2

PE
NI

NS
UL

A 
DR

0 1,000 2,000
Feet

Grand Traverse 
Commons

Development 
Regulations

C-1

C-3

I C-3

GP

R-1b

R-1b

C-4B(A)

C h e r r y  C a p i t a l  

A i r p o r t

EXISTING ZONING

Page 42 of 494



smithgroup.com 19

Chapter 1. Establishing a Vision

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT & PLANNING PROCESS

Just as the Lower Boardman River has a personality that takes on many forms and shapes depending upon 
the season, its flow, and location, the UNIFIED PLAN for the Lower Boardman River will reflect differing values, 
perspectives, and uses of the river.  What is essential is that this process, much like the process to determine 
the fate of the Boardman River Dams, must include and welcome through civic engagement of all of the many 
interested parties to develop a plan that is truly unifying and has the backing and consensus to be implemented.  

OUTREACH METHODS
In the summer of 2019 (Round One) and 2021 (Round 
Two) the Leadership Team lead a variety of civic 
engagement approaches to gather public input for 
the plan.  Round One was conducted as the study 
was beginning to gain an understanding of the key 
issues and concerns the community held about 
the Lower Boardman River.  Round Two presented a 
series of recommendations and alternative ideas for 
addressing those issues and engaged the community 
in expressing preferences and support for these ideas.

For each of these two outreach efforts, the following 
methodologies were used:

WEBSITE
The DDA maintained a website throughout the planning 
process that provided project updates, notifications on 
engagement opportunities, and posting of ideas and 
master plan concepts under consideration:.

LEADERSHIP TEAM MEETINGS
The Leadership Team met over two dozen times during 
the process, and all meetings were public.  The agendas 
and results of those meetings were published on the 
DDA website.  

ONLINE SURVEYS
An online survey was conducted for both outreach 
efforts and provided the community and interested 
parties an opportunity to provide input. Together the 
two rounds of surveys had over 700 participants.

E-MAIL DISTRIBUTION
Interested individuals were asked to sign up to receive 
e-mails regarding upcoming events, updates and calls 
for assistance, and to volunteer to help.

NEWS RELEASES
News releases were issued to promote the kick-off 
meeting in June 2019 and throughout the planning 
process to provide information to the public on the 
status of the project and announce future public 
meetings.  

Page 43 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River20

 

SOCIAL MEDIA
Social media was utilized as an important outreach 
tool throughout the process:

 � Facebook: @DowntownTCOfficial 

 � Twitter: @DowntownTC 

 � Instagram: downtown_tc

POP-UP MEETINGS
To meet people where they are, volunteers from the 
community participated in “Pop-Up” events, reaching 
out to the community at the Downtown Farmers 
Market and other public venues through the spring and 
summer of 2019 and 2021.

PUBLIC MEETINGS
The Leadership Team utilized public meetings of 
elected and appointed officials (DDA, City Planning 
Commission, City Parks and Recreation Commission, 
and City Commission) to invite discussions, update 
the community, and advertise upcoming engagement 
events.

PUBLIC WORKSHOPS
Open public workshops were conducted to provide 
interactive engagement with the Leadership Team, DDA 
staff, and planning consultants during both rounds 
of engagement, with over 100 people that actively 
participated.

FOCUS GROUP MEETINGS
For both rounds of engagement, a series of smaller focus 
group meetings was conducted, reaching approximately 
100 participants.  The smaller, more intimate format of 
Focus Group Meetings were intended to allow for more 
in-depth discussion of the project and the community’s 
needs and desires for the river corridor.  The workshops 
were not intended to be formal presentations, but an 
opportunity to get feedback from generally well informed 
and active citizens.  

The meetings had an intended focus; however, the public 
was welcomed to attend each and any of the meetings as 
they wished.  The focus of each meeting was as follows:

 � Meeting #1: Recreation Groups

 � Meeting #2: Community Development, Business 
Focused Organizations and Other Groups

 � Meeting #3: Business and Property Owners

 � Meeting #4: Sustainability Groups

Chapter 1. Establishing a Vision

Page 44 of 494



smithgroup.com 21

Chapter 1. Establishing a Vision

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT ROUND ONE RESULTS

WORKSHOPS AND FOCUS GROUPS
In June of 2019 a public open house style workshop 
was conducted in the Sara Hardy Downtown Farmers 
Market in downtown Traverse City, under a large 
tent and during inclement weather.  Despite the rain 
and outdoor location, over 100 people attended the 
workshop and provided a great deal of input on the 
project.

The workshop was conducted early in the planning 
process before specific plans, strategies, and 
approaches were developed.  The DDA started the 
workshop with a brief presentation that outlined the 
purpose of, and background to the study, discussed 
how past efforts to study the area would be used as 
building blocks for this new effort, and introduced the 
Leadership Team of the DDA.  

After the presentation, participants were invited 
to meet with the Leadership Team and planning 
consultants at a set of six topical stations, including:

 � Engagement and Past Planning

 � Vision and Values

 � History and Culture

 � River Conditions and Habitat

 � Access, Open Space, and Recreation

 � Planning, Land Use, and Development

Participants were asked to record their concerns, ideas, 
knowledge on sticky notes at each station, which were 
then recorded and summarized on a spreadsheet 
report.

The discussions focused on answering the following 
questions:

 � How do you value the Lower Boardman River?

 � How you use or would like to use the river?

 � How do we protect or restore the river and river 
corridor?

 � How do we provide access for all people?

 � How we celebrate the cultural and historic values of 
the river?

 � How should policies and rules be developed, or 
modified?

A series of four Focus Group Meetings were conducted 
near the end of July 2019 in downtown Traverse City.  
The purpose of the meetings was to provide the public 
with an understanding of the project and solicit input 

Page 45 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River22

 

into the direction of the project early in the planning 
process.

Participants were led through a similar opportunity to 
provide input at the public workshop and could also 
review and comment on the input previously received. 
Feedback from these sessions were reasonably 
consistent with the results from the June 2019 public 
workshop, and the focus group setting allowed for more 
discussion and dialogue about the key issues and 
concerns. 

From the kick-off workshop and the Focus Group 
Meetings of Round One in 2019 the following priorities 
from the public rose to the top of the list:

Projects

 � Provide public access (e.g. boardwalks) along the 
river; assume the need for universal access.

 � Monitor and repair places where high water and 
currents are undermining the shoreline-return to 
soft shores wherever possible.

 � Encourage native fish species, limit invasive species 
and add aquatic habitat.

 � Create additional/improve access and portage for 
kayaks.

 � Soften shore treatment/restore natural edge.

 � Add interpretive learning places and opportunities.

 � Increase and Improve Open Space on river corridor.

Policies

 � Limit/manage additional development along the 
river corridor.

 � Remove/limit parking from riverbanks.

 � Increase building setbacks.

 � Limit/manage the use of kayaks and tubes on the 
river to ensure opportunities for all users and quiet 
enjoyment of the river for downtown residents.

 � No additional hardened edge should be allowed.

Best Practices

 � Support the use of native plants and habitat 
creation to control erosion.

 � Utilize best practices to manage stormwater and 
other means of improving water quality.

 � Ensure that the river corridor receives necessary 
maintenance and management, both in the short- 
and long-term.

Values/Other

 � Continue to engage the public throughout the 
planning process.

 � Shift the balance towards habitat and nature over 
human recreation and economic development.

 � Limit facilities for gathering or events along the 
river-focus should be on downtown/bay.

 � Restore Ottaway as name of river.

 � Keep river corridor natural and passive.

Chapter 1. Establishing a Vision

Page 46 of 494



smithgroup.com 23

Chapter 1. Establishing a Vision

ONLINE SURVEY
A public online survey was conducted from June until early September 2019.  Like the initial public input sessions, 
the survey was conducted prior to establishing any specific plans, policies, or strategies.  Over 500 individuals 
participated in the survey, which is a significant response when measured as a percentage of the total population 
of the city and region.  

The survey included seven questions (six shown below), almost all of which were open ended questions 
that allowed participants to provide both brief and expansive responses.  The responses were recorded and 
summarized and include:

What is your favorite activity related to the Lower 
Boardman River?  Top answers (in order of 
priority cited) include walking, enjoying nature, 
watching wildlife, kayaking/canoing, sitting/
picnicking, and fishing.

Where is your favorite place along the Lower 
Boardman River?  The overwhelming majority 
of the specific locations cited are within three 
of the six reaches of the study area, including 
(in order of responses) Reach Five/Six: N. Union 
Street to the bay, Reach Three: S. Union to Front 
Street, and Reach One: Boardman Lake to Cass 
Street.

What is your favorite memory of the Lower 
Boardman River?  Top answers (in order of 
priority cited) include kayak/canoe trips, 
wildlife watching, social activity and quiet 
enjoyment, and fishing.

What do you think are the top priorities 
for improving and protecting the natural 
environment along the Lower Boardman River? 
Top priorities noted (in order of priority 
cited) include water quality (especially 
related to non-point source pollution), 
managing stormwater and flooding, shoreline 

1

2

3

5

6

7

stabilization and eliminating hard edges, 
maintenance and removal of invasives, 
habitat protection and creation, and managing 
development, parking, and expansion of 
boardwalks.

What do you think are the top priorities to 
improve the built environment along the Lower 
Boardman River?  Top priorities noted (in order 
of priority cited) include manage/restrict new 
development, ensure access along private 
land, provide more/better access, facilities, 
places, connections, protect/enhance natural 
environment and character (find balance), and 
make the waterfront universally accessible.

What is the most important thing to keep in 
mind as we develop a UNIFIED PLAN for the Lower 
Boardman River?  Top priorities noted (in order 
of priority cited) include protect and enhance 
natural environment, water quality, health, 
implement a realistic plan with transparency, 
accountability/oversight, limit development 
and influence of economic interests, and use 
values-based plan to influence government 
policy

Page 47 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River24

 

The detailed results of Round One of Public 
Engagement, including the public workshop, focus 
group meetings, and on-line survey can be found in 
Appendix 1.

The Public Engagement Round Two events and outreach 
were focused on the alternative plan concepts and 
policy recommendations that were built from the input 
received during Round One.  The results of Round Two 
will be discussed in Chapter Four: ILLUSTRATED PLAN 

Chapter 1. Establishing a Vision

Page 48 of 494



smithgroup.com 25

PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

Chapter 1. Establishing a Vision

Page 49 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River26

 

Page 50 of 494



CHAPTER 2

UNDERSTANDING THE LOWER 
BOARDMAN

Page 51 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River28

 

Much has been written and documented about the history of the region from the Aanishinaabek original 
inhabitants through the initial settlement of Europeans, development of logging enterprises, and industrial 
growth and use of the river.

A detailed chronology of indigenous occupation of the Grand Traverse Region is presented by Helen Hornbeck 
Tanner (2009) which focuses on the history of cartography in Michigan and the Great Lakes.  This work draws 
upon the accounts of Peter Dougherty that reveal the origins of the Grand Traverse Band stemming from the 
intermixing of Ojibwe (Chippewa) villages on the East Bay and Odawa (Ottawa) villages on the Leelanau Peninsula 
where it forms the west shore of Grand Traverse Bay. Tanner’s work carries on to explain how this intermixing of 
tribal communities here and abroad occurred both as a result of and subsequent to a complex and fateful series 
of events beginning with the negotiation of the 1836 Treaty of Washington which led to the establishment of 
Michigan statehood in 1837 and culminated with the detailed surveying and mapping of the region in the period 
of 1838 to1852 when European settlement of the Grand Traverse Region began.

A historical synopsis of the Ottaway-Boardman River At Traverse City was prepared by the Conservation Resource 
Alliance in 2018, providing an excellent summary of the pre-settlement and early settlement time periods, 
documenting known use of the Lower Boardman-Ottaway by the Aanishinaabek people.  The study also traces 
the European settlement of the area, the early logging and lumber processing activities, and the industrial 
development and damming of the river for power.  

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

HISTORIC & CULTURAL CONTEXT

Page 52 of 494



smithgroup.com 29

HISTORIC PLACES IN DOWNTOWN TRAVERSE CITY

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

Based on early maps developed before the region was 
systematically surveyed and mapped in the late 1830's to early 
1850's the Boardman River's name was described as the Ottaway, 
presumably based on pre-settlement contact with the Odawa 
(Ottawa) and Ojibwa (Chippewa) peoples at the time. In its 
earliest form, the segment of the river that we refer to as the 
Lower Boardman would have been a more sinuous and dynamic 
element of the natural landscape, winding through the sandy 
outwash landform and shifting location over time based on 
vegetative cover, storm events, water levels, and hydraulic flow 
characteristics.  

MICHIGAN TERRITORY. JAMES FINLAYSON, 1822

Page 53 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River30

 

Based on the climate, soils, and geomorphology of the region, it has been documented that the area of the Lower 
Boardman was a White Pine-Red Pine Forest.  This forest type was often found in areas of sandy and gravelly soils 
associated with glacial outwash plains.  These lacustrine sand and gravel deposits are deposited sediments from 
the adjacent moraines that lie south of the project area and running east-west through the county.  Evidence 
of this forest type is still visible in the larger white pines in the sandy upland areas adjacent to wetlands and 
shorelines of the Grand Traverse area.  White Pine-Red Pine forests were highly sought after sources of timber in 
the late 19th century.  

1883 WATERFRONT MAP OF REACH FIVE

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

Page 54 of 494



smithgroup.com 31

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

The industrialization of the region altered the natural features of the river, its corridor, and its historic 
consideration as a sacred place.  Key changes to the river include:

 � Channelization of the river into a more limited space 
to expand the land available for commerce.

 � Damming of the river to create power.

 � Stabilizing the banks of the river to limit the lateral 

movement of the river to protect the investments 
made in the built environment.

 � Construction of stormwater management systems 
to direct water from local streets, parking lots, and 
built areas into the river.

BEFORE: ARTIST’S ILLUSTRATION OF PRE-SETTLEMENT RIVER CONDITIONS AFTER: DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT

Page 55 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River32

 Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

As a result of these changes, habitat and water quality 
were reduced due to the loss of filtering wetlands, 
untreated stormwater, sedimentation, the deposition of 
often contaminated soils to fill wetlands, and industrial 
use of the adjacent land and the river.  

While the community has prospered due in part to the 
scenic beauty and natural resources of the region, the 
river has been impacted in terms of its environmental 
function.  Much of these impacts cannot be undone; 
however, there are measures that can be taken 
to improve or recapture some of these important 
functions, while continuing to build on the economic 
value of the community. 

The combination of a local commitment to 
environmental values, recent successes within the 
Boardman River watershed to restore environmental 
function, and the availability of federal, state, and 
philanthropic funding for such purposes have 
created momentum for further idea generation and 
implementation of improvements.

Page 56 of 494



smithgroup.com 33

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

AQUATIC AND RIPARIAN WILDLIFE
While the river corridor’s environmental value has been 
compromised by the settlement and development of 
downtown Traverse City, there remains considerable 
diversity in the plant, mammalian, avian, and fish 
communities.  This study does not include an 
assessment of existing populations, but observations 
and experiences from similar and analogous urban 
environments would indicate both existing habitat 
value, and the potential for significant enhancement of 
habitat in the corridor.

PEDESTRIANS AND NON-MOTORIZED 
TRAVELERS
The existing boardwalk and path system was 
established decades ago and has successfully 
created waterfront access for the public and was the 
first step in recognizing the post-industrial value 
that waterfronts can bring to a community.  The 
boardwalk system has continued to expand and 
undergo maintenance and rehabilitation.  The path and 
boardwalk system is not continuous from end to end of 
the Lower Boardman, and the system is not particularly 
clear for the new visitor to the community.

CURRENT USERS

Page 57 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River34

 Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

WATER- BASED RECREATORS  
Water-based recreators include small power boats 
(south of the Union Street dam) and non-motorized 
watercraft that come in a variety of forms—kayaks, 
canoes, paddle boards and similar (throughout 
the corridor).  With the removal of dams upstream, 
there has been a growing interest in non-motorized 
boating of the Boardman River, and several private 
rental providers have developed a business model 
that includes paddling through the Lower Boardman 
River out to Grand Traverse Bay.  This increase in use 
has come with issues often cited by local residents, 
including noise, public drunkenness, and other poor 
behaviors.  

STORMWATER
The land area of downtown has always drained into the 
Boardman River.  The development of downtown sealed 
much of the surface so that today a higher percentage 
of the stormwater goes directly to the river (rather 
than absorbing into the landscape and groundwater), 
and at an accelerated speed.  This accelerated rate of 
conveyance increases the potential for erosion, but 
more importantly to this segment of the river is the 
impact of the pollutants and sediments carried from 
parking lots and streets directly into the river and out 
into the bay, impacting water quality and connections 
to the Great Lakes and beyond.  The city has adopted 
and implemented pollution control best practices in 
the community and on downtown streets and parking 
lots as they are improved but impacts to the river 
continue.

KAYAKERS PASSING UPTOWN

Page 58 of 494



smithgroup.com 35

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

EXISTING CONDITIONS BY REACH

MAP OR REACHES

For purposes of characterizing the river, describing existing conditions and considering physical improvements, 
the UNIFIED PLAN categorized the river into six distinct segments, referred to as reaches.  Each reach has a set of 
common elements in terms of river conditions, adjacent land uses, and bank conditions that make it unique from 
the other segments of the river.

The planning consultants mapped characteristics of each reach downtown that influence the water quality of the 
river and groundwater, including storm sewer outfalls, locations of parking lots, land uses, quality and location of 
existing buffers, steep slopes, and land ownership patterns. 

The assessment of existing conditions is categorized into three key topics: River Conditions and Habitat; Access, 
Open Space and Recreation; and, Land Use and Development Systems.

A series of maps that illustrate the existing conditions of the river and adjacent land are provided in Appendix 2 
of this report.

Page 59 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River36

 Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

RIVER CONDITIONS AND HABITAT
The study of River Conditions and Habitat includes 
river depth and velocity, bank conditions, floodplain 
characteristics, topography, land cover, fish species 
present, storm sewer outfalls, and vegetation.  Three 
maps were prepared to summarize river and bank 
conditions and pollution threats, including Parking 
Lots and Sealed Surfaces, Lawns, and Steep Banks.

A detailed table and spreadsheet of conditions was 
prepared to summarize the conditions found in each 
reach (see Appendices).  Also in the Appendices are 
detailed maps of each reach which illustrate the 
existing conditions of the corridor both for river 
conditions and habitat and non-motorized circulation 
and connectivity.  

It is important to recognize that the banks of the 
Lower Boardman River were stabilized during the 
development of the community to provide for 
predictable behavior from the river and protect 
the economic investment of buildings and street 
infrastructure.  As part of this process, the edges of 
the river were filled with a mix of soils, construction 
debris, and materials of unknown origin that were 
covered in vegetation over time, masking the 
manipulation of the shoreline.  Today, these shorelines 
appear “natural” but are likely filled with materials 
that may be environmentally suspect.  That said, 
many such shorelines across the state have been 
effectively rehabilitated to create valuable habitat and 
recreational access.

EROSION CONTROL AND BANK STABILIZATION

18 smithgroup.com

STABILIZING A HIGH BANK

Steep bank 10 high and greater

Publicly owned property

PLAN LEGEND

EROSION CONTROL AND BANK STABILIZATION
STABILIZING A HIGH BANK

Steep bank 10 high and greater

Publicly owned property

PLAN LEGEND

STEEP BANKS
23 smithgroup.com

STORM WATER QUALITY MANAGEMENT
PARKING LOTS AND SEALED 

SURFACES

Site adjacent to river with 
parking

Site adjacent to river with 
parking and known stormwater 
management best practices in 
place

Publicly owned property

PLAN LEGEND

23 smithgroup.com

STORM WATER QUALITY MANAGEMENT
PARKING LOTS AND SEALED 

SURFACES

Site adjacent to river with 
parking

Site adjacent to river with 
parking and known stormwater 
management best practices in 
place

Publicly owned property

PLAN LEGEND

PARKING LOTS AND SEALED SURFACES
24 smithgroup.com

STORM WATER QUALITY MANAGEMENT
LAWNS 

Private lawns draining toward 
river

Public lawns draining toward 
river

Publicly owned property

PLAN LEGEND

24 smithgroup.com

STORM WATER QUALITY MANAGEMENT
LAWNS 

Private lawns draining toward 
river

Public lawns draining toward 
river

Publicly owned property

PLAN LEGEND

LAWNS

Page 60 of 494



smithgroup.com 37

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

REACH ONE
This reach is located at the northern end of Boardman 
Lake, as the water body transitions into the Lower 
Boardman River.  This reach is heavily influenced 
by the Union Street Dam and is essentially a slow-
moving impoundment that is wider and deeper than 
other reaches, averaging a water depth of 7.1 feet.  The 
riverbanks are low banks that include trees and shrubs 
that protect the banks of the river.  Adjacent to the 
back is commercial and residential development that 
supports open lawns and parking lots, increasing the 
risk of pollution and sediments being contributed to 
the river.

Within this reach is land that is a public park, currently 
used for a non-motorized trail and informal park 
activities.

REACH TWO
Reach Two is similar in river conditions to Reach One 
but is more intensively developed.  Nearly half of this 
reach has vertical walls at or near the waters edge, 
that inhibits the movement of mammals and reptiles 
from the water to the riparian lands.  About one-quarter 
of the shoreline is characterized by a steep and high 
bank that is over 10-feet in height.  Most likely much of 
this high bank is the result of fill materials placed to 
increase the buildable land near the shore.  There are a 
number of lawn areas and parking lots that drain to the 
river in this reach.

Conditions within the river include fallen trees near and 
adjacent to the shoreline that are frequently used as 
basking logs by turtles and are likely cover for fish.  

Reach Two includes the Union Street Dam, the area 
of which has been studied thoroughly as part of the 
FishPass project. 

REACH TWO VIEW OF THE GOVERNMENT CENTER

Page 61 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River38

 Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

REACH THREE
Reach Three includes Hannah Park and the western 
bend of the river just south of Front Street.  It is 
located down stream of the Union Street Dam and 
consequently, the velocity of the river picks up 
considerably while the depth of the river drops to an 
average of 3.1-feet.  Kids Creek drains into this reach on 
the west bank of the river via a culvert that has been 
designed to exclude the passing of sea lamprey into 
the creek.  

The river edges of Reach Three are the most 
topographically diverse containing extended floodplain 
zones, low and high vegetated banks, and vertical walls.  
The floodplain extends beyond the top of the bank in 

over 35% of the total linear shoreline of this reach.  The 
northern banks of this reach are highly developed with 
several parking lots and eight street and parking lot 
outfalls into the river.  The adjacent land of this reach is 
nearly 50% publicly owned land with naturalized edges 
buffering the river from adjacent lawns.

There is great opportunity for habitat creation at the 
park, particularly on the west end.  The park could 
maintain its “English Park” character on the eastern 
half and have more intensity improved habitat on the 
western half.  Fish tend to stage near the Kids Creek 
outfall structure and this area is a popular place to fish.

HISTORIC PHOTO OF HANNAH PARK

Page 62 of 494



smithgroup.com 39

REACH FOUR
Reach Four marks a transition into the flatter land 
heading toward the mouth of the river, and the 
dominant edge characteristic is low vegetated banks, 
followed by floodplain edge.  That said, about 20% of the 
bank in this reach is vertical wall.  The velocity of the 
river in this area is the highest of the Lower Boardman 
River averaging 1.72-feet per second, while the river 
depth is at its shallowest at an average of 2.9 feet.  

The land adjacent to the river in Reach Four is densely 
developed, and is nearly all sealed surfaces including 
development, proposed development, and parking lots.  

Even with the density of development, there is river 
frontage behind the Traverse City Light and Power site 
that could offer opportunities for habitat improvement.  
A narrow strip of public land on the north side of the 
river provides opportunities for habitat enhancement 
and enhanced access.

This reach of the river is known as a good place to fish.  
The river structure, currents, and fish weir result in 
fish tending to stage in this area as they move upriver.  
Many anglers and observers congregate near the fish 
weir in the fall during the salmon run and in the spring 
for steelhead (rainbow trout.).  Increasing fish access in 
this reach is important.  

REACH FOUR VIEW OF FISH WEIR

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

Page 63 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River40

 

REACH FIVE
Reach Five is the place where the river passes through 
the core of downtown and is the narrowest stretch of 
river in the Lower Boardman.  55% of the banks are 
vertical walls, while the remaining edges are either low 
vegetated banks or floodplain edge.  The river velocity is 
slowing from Reach Four to an average rate of 1.13-feet 
per second, and the depth of the river averages 4-feet.  

The south bank of the river is continuously developed 
with alleys and parking, while the north bank of the 

river is all publicly owned, being used for parking, the 
Chamber of Commerce, and farmers market. Reach 
Five (and Six) includes  the most storm sewer outfalls 
at around 35 (per city records).  While many of these 
outfalls are roof drains and do not contribute a great 
deal of pollution, many are from adjacent street and 
parking lots.   

The public ownership of half of the riverbank creates an 
opportunity for habitat development in an area of high 
pedestrian activity. 

REACH FIVE VIEW OF VERTICAL WALL ON THE 100 BLOCK

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

Page 64 of 494



smithgroup.com 41

REACH SIX
The river continues slowing in velocity and widens 
slightly as it nears the mouth into Grand Traverse Bay.  
While the north bank of the river is fronted by parking 
lots, these lots have been improved in the last decade 
to include stormwater pollution control mechanisms.  
Approximately 65% of the riverbank is vertical wall, 
most of which is on the south bank to support adjacent 
commercial development.  

The public land on the north side of Front Street 
near the end of Boardman Avenue has a stable bank; 
however, the public land near the end of Wellington 
Street is eroding under the existing docks. The existing 
coastal wetland at the mouth of the river is an excellent 
opportunity for habitat protection, enhancement, and 
learning.

The improvements to the area could include helping 
to manage water quality from the Grandview Parkway 
(MDOT).

REACH SIX VIEW OF MURCHIE BRIDGE

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

Page 65 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River42

 

ACCESS, OPEN SPACE AND RECREATION
The study of Access, Open Space and Recreation includes the presence of paths and boardwalks; connections to 
other walks, paths, neighborhoods, and downtown; known favorable fishing places; existing parks and related 
recreational amenities; boat launches and access points; pedestrian bridges and connections to vehicular 
bridges; gaps in pedestrian connectivity; and, conflict points between pedestrians and vehicles.

A map of the project area was prepared to identify the existing conditions, and to note where gaps in recreation 
access occur along the corridor.  Below is a brief description of each reach relative to access, open space and 
recreation.

ECREATION : MISSING LINKS

S 

ED 

ACCESS AND RECREATION : MISSING LINKS

Key Missing Link in 
path/boardwalk network

Publicly owned property

PLAN LEGEND

CONCEPT FOR DISCUSSION AS 

RECOMMENDED BY THE UNIFIED 

PLAN COMMITTEE

PEDESTRIAN ACCESS ASSESSMENT AND MISSING LINKS

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

Page 66 of 494



smithgroup.com 43

REACH ONE
The western side of Reach One includes a non-
motorized trail that links downtown to a trail network 
that extends along the shores of Boardman Lake.  This 
trail is not however, along the river, but on the west side 
of the Riverine Apartment complex just south of Eighth 
Street.  There is a public access easement along the 
riverbank on the east side of the apartments, but a trail 
was never built in the easement.  

A trail through the public park land south of the 
apartments links users back to the river near the rail 
viaduct.  The parkland near the rail bridge could be 
upgraded and thought of as a gateway to downtown 
Traverse City. The Boardman Lake trails on either side 
of the lake meet at this point.  

The design of the Eighth Street bridge allows for the 
construction of a path on the western side of the 
bridge, which would then link to a boardwalk and trail 
to the north.  

There is a very narrow  piece of city owned land on the 
east side of the river extending from the MDOT rail 
corridor north toward Eighth Street.  This land does 
not connect to Eighth Street, so use of this strip would 
include challenges to connect at Eighth Street on the 
north, and to connect through the rail right-of-way on 
the south.  

REACH ONE VIEW UNDER EIGHTH STREET BRIDGE

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

Page 67 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River44

 

REACH TWO
There is a boardwalk on the east side of the river at 
the government center that, while being a dead end or 
cul-de-sac, does provide a quiet place to enjoy the river.  
Grand Traverse County is considering improvements 
at the government center which include barrier free 
access to the existing boardwalk area.

On the southwestern bank of the river there is a 
continuous boardwalk connecting Eighth Street to 
Cass Street.  The boardwalk does not provide universal 
access up to Cass Street or under the bridge to the 
boardwalk west of Cass Street.   Dealing with the grade 
change at the Cass Street bridge is a challenge due 
to the design of the historic bridge.  Options should 
be explored that may include a tunnel under the road, 
boardwalk out into the middle of the river, and/or 
extensive ramping.

The southwestern boardwalk is not well used, which 
may be in part due to the perception that it is 
private property. Signage and wayfinding are needed 
throughout the corridor, and this could help with the 
private property perception noted above.

On the north bank, just east of Cass Street, is the 
American Legion Park.  While public input indicated 
that this park should remain passive in nature, the 
plan should consider long-term uses and goals for 
the American Legion Park, even if in the short-term 
the park is going to be more active due to a potential 
temporary kayak launch related to the FishPass project.  

The noise and energy from kayakers are especially felt 
in this reach due to the concentration of residents 
living along the waterfront.

REACH TWO VIEW OF ACCESS IMPEDIMENT

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

Page 68 of 494



smithgroup.com 45

REACH THREE
This reach includes Hannah Park, which provides an 
unpaved path along the high bank to the southern 
edge of the park to connect Union Street to Wadsworth 
Street.  The trail through the park, a former rail bed, is 
an official city trail.  There are several overlook decks 
along the river in Hannah Park, but these decks are not 
universally accessible.  Residents like the low intensity 
use of Hannah Park and green space character of the 
park.  It is the most intact natural bank of the river in 
the project area. The park does get used throughout the 
year, being a great place to sled in the winter.  The park 
is not used for a lot of community-wide events.

While there are paths that are in the park and on 
the north side of the river, there are a large number 
of dead ends in the trail, as well as several missed 
opportunities to connect the trail pieces together to 
create a clear, user-friendly system.  

For example, while the new boardwalk on the north 
side of the river (near the Uptown development) 
provides universal access to an area that previously 
did not offer it, to the west of the new ramp the path 
is a dead end. Current plans for improving the Front 
Street bridge include an underpass on the east side of 
the river, which could become an important link in the 
overall pedestrian system if the new underpass can be 
connected to the dead end near Uptown.

Further, the public noted that a non-motorized 
connection over the river, connecting the two legs of 
Pine Street, would fit well within existing cycling and 
walking use patterns in this area.  

The public parking lot on State Street is designated 
park land, but parking may not be the best use for this 
property.

REACH FOUR
On the southern bank of the river there is very little that 
is accessible by the public.  In the north and western 
banks access is limited due to lack of public property 
and past efforts to remediate environmental concerns 
which created a cap that should not be disturbed.  The 
northern shoreline has an existing path that connects 
from Union Street to the Michigan Department of 
Natural Resources (DNR) fish weir, but then leaves 
visitors in a parking lot without clear direction of how 
to stay engaged with the river. 

The community is very happy with the Pine Street 
pedestrian bridge - it is both attractive and useful, as 
it helps connect the path on the northern bank and 
the warehouse district to Front Street.   There have 
been discussions related to the benefits and costs 
of pursuing public access on both banks of the river 
in this reach, and this question was posed to the 
participants in the second round of public engagement.

This reach of the river is very popular for anglers, and 
adequate access for this activity should be provided.

For river recreational boating users the fish weir poses 
issues getting through the weir, especially in times of 
high water.  

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

Page 69 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River46

 

REACH FIVE
The pedestrian paths and boardwalks through this 
reach provide some level of connectivity on the north 
side of the river, but do not provide universal access, 
and the boardwalk on the 200 block was recently 
underwater due to high water levels.

On the south side of the river a sidewalk directly 
adjacent to the 100 block parking lot/alley is provided, 
but it is narrow and subject to degradation related to 
the undermining of the retaining wall.  On the 200 block 
there is limited room for both service and pedestrians; 
however, the alley is used by both.  

The pedestrian bridges connecting the south side of 
the river to the north on both blocks are a function and 
visual feature.  On the 100 block the bridge connects 

from the parking lots/farmers market to a pedestrian 
alley leading to Front Street.  On the 200 block 
pedestrians are left in the alley, which does not give the 
sense that pedestrians are welcome there.

The issues with the wall and sewer undermining 
provide an opportunity to rethink this area to better 
serve both pedestrians and service vehicles. The 100 
block along the river is the greatest opportunity for 
positive change, such as removing the wall, increasing 
landscape and habitat, and reducing parking directly 
adjacent to the river.

A memorandum report on the condition of the wall and 
recommendations for repair is included in Appendix 3 
of this report.

REACH FIVE VIEW OF THE 200 BLOCK OF FRONT STREET

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

Page 70 of 494



smithgroup.com 47

REACH SIX
Access in this reach of the water is limited to a 
boardwalk that connects Park Street to the boat launch 
and a pocket park and walk near the end of Wellington 
Street.  This path connects to the bay and the TART 
trail via an underpass beneath the Murchie Bridge, 
which is limited in use during periods of high water.  
The boardwalk on the north shore doubles in use as 
seasonal boating slips.  

On the south side of the river, Front Street acts as the 
river path, and there are four places where publicly 
owned lands give visual access to the river.  

The public land near the real estate office tends to 
be underutilized due to the noise from traffic on 
Front Street and the Grandview Parkway.  MDOT 

improvements to the Grandview Parkway are expected 
in 2023, and the design of the Front Street intersection 
includes some traffic calming measures.

The boat launch on the north side of the river is well 
used, though periodic high water levels inhibit some 
boat traffic getting out to the bay under the Murchie 
Bridge.  The launch is often used by kayakers, especially 
when the waves on the bay are high.  The launch 
parking lot was recently improved; some hazardous 
fill material may exist under the lot, so the asphalt is 
serving to seal the surface.

Overall, this area could benefit from greater connection 
to the waterfront along the bay, the TART trail, and from 
the north side of the river to the south side.

PEDESTRIAN BOARDWALK-BOAT SLIPS IN REACH SIX

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

Page 71 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River48

 

LAND USE AND DEVELOPMENT SYSTEMS
The study of Land Use and Development Systems includes land use and development density patterns, zoning 
classifications, sense of place and architectural character, development setbacks, areas of increased or likely 
development pressure, existing Tax Increment Financing (TIF) districts, and related land use and development 
policies.

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

Ki
ds

 C
re

ek

West Arm of 
Grand Traverse Bay

Boardman 
Lake

G a r f i e l d  

T o w n s h i p

East Arm of
Grand Traverse Bay

E l m w o o d

T o w n s h i p P e n i n s u l a

T o w n s h i p

E a s t  B a y

T o w n s h i p

E a s t  B a y

T o w n s h i p

G a r f i e l d  

T o w n s h i p

D
IV

IS
IO

N
 S

T

M-72

EIGHTH ST

SOUTH AIRPORT RD

FRONT ST

G
A

R
FI

EL
D

 A
VE

MUNSON AVE

PARSONS RD

W
O

O
D

M
ER

E 
AV

E

VE
TE

R
A

N
S 

D
R

CA
SS

 S
T

E FRONT ST

M
-2

2

GRANDVIEW PARKWAY

THREE M
ILE RD

STATE ST

HANNAH ST

CARVER ST

FOURTEENTH ST

U
N

IO
N

 S
T

LAKE

NORTH
 L

ONG L
AKE 

RD

C
A

SS
 S

T

EIGHTH

C
A

SS

O
A

K

STATE

BAY

U
N

IO
N

M
A

PL
E

G
A

R
FI

EL
D

SIXTH

FE
R

N

NINTH

TENTH

WAYNE

BOON

ELEVENTH

EL
M

W
O

O
D

EASTERN

R
O

SE

B
A

R
LO

W

H
A

ST
IN

G
SCENTRE

WASHINGTON

FRONT

SP
R

U
C

E

FA
IR

TWELFTH

LO
C

U
ST

B
AT

ES

SEVENTH

M
O

N
R

O
E

C
ED

A
R

BALDWIN

AERO PARK

THIRTEENTH

SI
LV

ER

TITUS

GRIFFIN

RANDOLPH

M
A

D
IS

O
N

W
A

D
SW

O
R

TH

FIFTH

PI
N

E

HILL

D
AV

IS

SIXTEENTH

H
U

R
O

N

BOYD

EA
ST

 B
AY

WEBSTER

FR
A

N
K

LI
N

B
IR

C
H

W
O

O
D

M
IL

LI
K

EN

C
O

C
H

LI
N

W
EN

O
N

A
H

GROVE

LA
K

E

C
LI

N
C

H

SH
ER

ID
A

N

JU
D

SO
N

ST
EE

LE

BOUGHEY

THIRD

SA
N

TO

HA
LL

W
EL

LI
N

G
TO

N

BEADLE

WALNUT

RAMSDELL

SECOND

PENINSULA

FAIRLANE

H
O

PE

LINCOLN

SH
EF

FE
R

B
LO

O
M

FI
EL

D

SEVENTEENTH

B
O

A
R

D
M

A
N

A
IR

PO
R

T 
A

C
C

ES
S

Q
U

A
IL

 R
ID

G
E

H
A

M
IL

TO
N

G
R

A
N

T

PA
R

K

TE
R

R
A

C
E

H
U

R
O

N
 H

IL
LS

B
EL

M
O

N
T

KEWAUNEE

H
IG

H
LA

N
D

 PA
R

K

ANDERSON

N
A

K
O

M
A

WILLOW

M
IC

H
IG

A
N

W
O

O
D

LA
N

D

C
R

O
M

W
EL

L

WOOD

G
IL

LI
S

KELLEY

ASPEN

APACHE

NINETEENTH

INDIAN TRAIL

GARLAND

FIFTEENTH

EASTW
O

O
D

MANOR

FITZHUGH

W
EST O

R
C

H
A

R
D

A
R

R
O

W
H

EA
D

A
R

N
O

LD

LA
KE

 R
ID

G
E

COMANCHE

KINROSS

FU
LT

O
N

C
A

LVIN

NORTH AERO PARK

INCOCHEE

PLAINVIEW

B
EA

U
M

O
N

T

CIRCLE

WEST AERO PARK

INDIAN WOODS

CYPRESS

ALLOUEZ

SHAWNEE

KAUKAUNA

B
ET

H
 E

L

LE
EW

A
R

D

BEITNER

RA
ND

AL
L

B
AT

ES

FIFTEENTH

PI
N

E

SEVENTH WEBSTER

N
O

R
TH

 A
ER

O
 P

A
R

K

G
A

R
FI

EL
D

AIR
PORT A

CCESS

KELLEY

BOYD

C
ED

A
R

SIXTH

G
R

A
N

T

SILVER

THIRD

M
A

PL
E

R
O

SEPI
N

E

BOON

EAST BAYLAKE

G
R

A
N

T

FRONT

GRIFFIN

BOYD

SECOND

B
A

R
LO

W

PENINSULA

This map is based on digital databases
from the City of Traverse City.Traverse City 
cannot accept any responsbility for errors, 
ommissions or positional accuracy.
There are no warranties expressed or implied.

Zoning Map

Document Path: G:\GIS\Planning\Zoning Master Map Editing information\Zoning_Master_UpdatePDF.mxd

Last Update:11/16/2021  GWS

Street Classification
Arterial

Collector

Zoning Districts
C-1  Office Service 

C-2  Neghborhood Center

C-3  Community Center

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

C-4a  Regional Center 

 C-4b  Regional Center 

C-4c  Regional Center 

D-1  Development 

D-2  Development 

D-3  Development 

GP  Government/Public

H-1  Hospital 

H-2  Hospital 

HR  Hotel Resort 

I  Industrial 

R1/b Mixed Use 

NMC-1  University

NMC-2  University

OS  Open Space    

GTC  Grand Traverse Commons

R-1a Single Family Dwelling

R-1b Single Family Dwelling

R-2 Two Family Dwelling

R-3 Multi Family Dwelling

RC Residental Conservation 

T  Transportation

City of Traverse City

I

To
w

nl
in

e

Hammond

Ce
nt

er
Ce

da
r

Ha
m

m
on

d

OS

R-1b

R-1a

R-1b

R-1a

C-3

I

R-3

C-3

GPR-3

Planning Department
Zoning Administrator - Dave Weston

231-922-4464

(A)   -  Zoning Agreement

MU

R-1b

RC

GTC

OS R-3

R-3

R-1b

R-1a

NMC-1

NMC-2

HR

T

I

I

R-2

C-3(A)

H-2

H-1

D-1
D-2

C-4c

C-4b

C-4a R-3(A)

C-3(A)

T

I

C-3

HRC-2

PE
NI

NS
UL

A 
DR

0 1,000 2,000
Feet

Grand Traverse 
Commons

Development 
Regulations

C-1

C-3

I C-3

GP

R-1b

R-1b

C-4B(A)

C h e r r y  C a p i t a l  

A i r p o r t

EXISTING ZONING

Page 72 of 494



smithgroup.com 49

REACH ONE
Land use in this reach is distinctly different depending 
on the side of the river you are referencing.  To the west 
is the Riverine Apartment complex, built on land zoned 
R-3 Multiple Family Dwelling.  This development is 
2- to 3-story buildings set in a park like setting, with 
a 25-foot setback from the ordinary high water mark.  
Between the apartments and the railroad is a narrow 
public park.

On the east side of the river is a property developed 
for commercial and office uses, zoned D-2 Depot 
Development with a 25-foot river setback. This is 
more densely developed than the west shore, but the 
river acts as an effective buffer so that the two uses 
and scale do not appear incongruous.  The Depot 
Development is still experiencing new investment as 
buildings are under construction as of the date of this 
report.

Significant changes to the land use and density are not 
anticipated in this reach.

REACH ONE VIEW SOUTH FROM EIGHTH STREET

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

Page 73 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River50

 

REACH TWO
The south side of the river is home to a reasonably 
recent residential development that sets back 25-feet 
from the river and has an appealing visual character, 
though one that creates a solid wall of architecture 
along the riverbank.  The north side is an eclectic mix 
of uses, with the local government center, a church, 
low scale residential development, and a small park.  
The buildings for the government center and church 
are not overtly oriented to the water, and the growth of 
trees and steep banks screen the parking and access 
drives from view.  Each of these uses has a 25-foot river 
setback.  

The wide nature of the river in this reach creates a 
passive ambiance.  Significant changes to the land use 
and density are not anticipated in this reach.

REACH THREE
The southern and western shoreline of the river is 
primarily publicly owned property, with this largest 
parcel being Hannah Park.  This shoreline is the most 
natural in character and least manipulated by the 
growth of the community.  

The northern and eastern shore is a mix of uses, 
including the U.S. Post Office, public parking, the recent 
Uptown mixed-use development, Riverview Terrace 
residential high rise, and vacant land in the process of 
being developed.  The privately held land on this side 
of the river is zoned C-4c Regional Center, a district 
within which buildings up to 100-foot in height could 
be allowed with a Special Land Use permit and voter 
approval. The C-4a district requires a 10-foot river 
setback.  

The view of the post office from the river is dominated 
by a high concrete wall.  Uptown, though architecturally 
attractive, is strongly visually present on the river.  The 

9-story Riverview Terrace tower is set back from the 
river amidst a park like setting.  Together these uses 
and structures provide a great deal of visual variety 
along the river—appealing in places, but not well 
unified. 

Preliminary site plans for the new development 
indicate a 25-foot setback from the river, and a 
potential pedestrian path along the river.  

REACH FOUR
The southern shoreline of this reach is the western 
edge of downtown proper.  Buildings include the 
Lake Michigan Credit Union (a contemporary 4-story 
building), the 1-story J and S Hamburg restaurant, 
the 1-story Traverse City Record Eagle, and the 4-story 
historic structure home to 5/3 Bank.  This stretch of 
Front Street also includes a large vacant parcel of 
land (124 West Front Street) that is in the process of 
development approvals.  These properties are all zoned 
C-4b Regional Center, a district within which buildings 
up to 68-foot in height could be allowed with a Special 
Land Use permit and voter approval). The C-4b district 
requires a 10-foot river setback. 

The north shoreline includes a range of use, including 
the 1-story TraverseVision, the DNR fish weir, parking 
lots, and the new Breakwater development. The 
properties are zoned C-4a and C-4b Regional Center 
and require a 10-foot setback.  A long, narrow stretch 
of property rests between Breakwater and the river, 
effectively creating a 25-to 35-foot setback.  

Significant changes to the land use and density are 
anticipated in this reach in the near-term as vacant 
land is developed.

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

Page 74 of 494



smithgroup.com 51

REACH FIVE
The northern shoreline of this reach is publicly owned 
land; however, the parcel on Union Street is not 
designated park land and could potentially be sold by 
the city for private development.  This parcel is zoned 
C-4a Regional Center which allows a 45-foot building 
height and a 10-foot river setback.

With the exception of a single parcel of land on the 
100 block, all of the southern shoreline in this reach is 
publicly owned land and is currently used for building 

and business serving and for parking.  The 100 and 
200 block of Front Street is located in the core of 
downtown, and the privately held land fronting the alley 
and parking are a mix of 1- to 4-story buildings, many 
of which have a distinctly historic character.  Given 
development market conditions in downtown, it would 
not be surprising if a number of the 1-story buildings 
were redeveloped in a denser fashion, and many of the 
lots are currently open land, providing opportunities for 
economic redevelopment.  

REDEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL ON THE 100 AND 200 BLOCK OF FRONT STREET

REACH FIVE VIEW OF BUSINESSES AND RIVER

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

Page 75 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River52

 

REACH SIX
The northern shoreline is public property, including 
the parking lot and boat launch on the western half 
and MDOT right-of-way for Grandview Parkway on the 
eastern half.  Land development on the Front Street 
frontage is squeezed between the street and river on 
very shallow lots.  The land is zoned C-4a Regional 
Center which allows a 45-foot building height and a 10-
foot setback.

The quaint, low key, coastal village character of the 
development along the river gives this reach a unique 
character among other areas of downtown, almost 
“Fishtown” like.  Recent construction of a larger 
scaled commercial office building indicates that 
although there are lot constrictions, the potential for 
redevelopment is strong on the east end of Front Street.

REACH SIX EXAMPLE OF DIVERSE CHARACTER

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

Page 76 of 494



smithgroup.com 53

PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY

Chapter 2. Understanding the Lower Boardman

Page 77 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River54

 

Page 78 of 494



CHAPTER 3

ACTION PLAN

Page 79 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River56

 

INTRO
The Action Plan outlined in this report is based on the 
extensive public input gathered during the outreach 
efforts, the professional recommendations from 
the planning consultants, and the guidance of the 
Leadership Team.  The Action Plan should be utilized 
to solicit further input from the community, key 
stakeholder organizations, and the governmental 
agencies that will ultimately be responsible for the 
plan’s implementation.

As evident by the content of the public input gathered, 
the community is moving toward a “water centric” 
perspective of the river and downtown.  The values 
expressed by the public have been integrated into this 
Action Plan.  The plan provides for both the human 
use of the river and the potential for preserving and 
enhancing the natural habitat.

The Action Plan is based on the premise that the 
environmental value of the river corridor is central 
to the community; this value should be reflected 
and reinforced through the management of change 
in downtown.  When the community considers all 
beneficiaries to the river (including nature) in the 
design process for future downtown and riverfront 
projects, then the Lower Boardman will reflect the value 
placed on water, land, nature, health, and wellness.

The “water centric” values, best practices, and 
development guidelines integrated into this plan will 
translate, over time, into better designs for public 
places, such as streetscapes, public park spaces, 
pathways, and transportation facilities, ensuring that 
new development creates a better interface between 
the urban fabric and the river.

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Page 80 of 494



smithgroup.com 57

The river conditions in the project area have been 
assessed as to their overall condition and relative 
habitat value.  The project area includes the urban core 
of Traverse City where historic development patterns 
did not fully capitalize on the river’s potential for 
recreation and access or recognize its environmental 
value.  The impact of development has left a large 
percentage of the corridor with vertical walls and 
hardened, steep slopes but has also created some 
interesting urban places that the community values, 
such as the boardwalk, coffee shops, and restaurants 
that overlook the river.

The river corridor in the project area also includes some 
areas of natural beauty and value.  Some of these areas 
have been impacted by community development in 
limited ways, while other seemingly natural areas are 
urban fill masked over by trees and vegetative growth.

Community feedback from online surveys and at 
public workshops has strongly supported the idea of 
“greening” the riverbanks through downtown to create 
riparian habitat and improve water quality of the 
river.   While human access and use, and preserving 
and creating habitat are not mutually exclusive, most 
residents who have participated in the planning 
process are in support of habitat as a priority over 
public access.  This bias has several contributing 
factors—environmental stewardship values, the desire 
to maintain a passive and quiet setting along the river, 
and relative beauty of trees and landscape over walls 
and paving (to name a few).  

The section below outlines the basic direction for 
preserving and creating natural habitat in the project 
area.

CORE VALUES
The following Core Values, established at the outset of 
the planning process, most align with the preservation 
and restoration of the environmental assets of the 
river:

 � Be consistent with best riparian and aquatic science, 
best water and land management practices, and be 
harmonious with the river. 

 � Be explicit to the commitment to improve, restore, 
and protect the health and integrity of the riparian 
ecosystem of the lower river. 

 � Manage invasive vegetation, protect and retain 
existing native vegetation, and add native vegetation 
where possible. 

 � Ensure that the natural flow of the river is enhanced 
and not curtailed or impeded by any element of the 
plan.

RIVER CONDITIONS & HABITAT

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Page 81 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River58

 

PROJECTS
The UNIFIED PLAN includes a physical illustrated plan 
that outlines public improvement projects within the 
project area, including both habitat and access/open 
space enhancements (this plan is described further in 
Chapter Four: The Illustrated Plan).  Below is a summary 
of the broad categories of ideas recommended in the 
UNIFIED PLAN. 

 � Improve degraded and hardened riverbanks on 
public property with green solutions and enhanced 
riparian habitat. 
The illustration below identifies key opportunities 
along the corridor for habitat improvement 
based on slopes, bank conditions, flow and depth 
characteristics of the river, adjacent land uses, 
public activity along the river, and the general 
condition of the plant communities.  

Chapter 3. Action Plan

ES HABITAT CREATION

ent 

ent 
and 
lic 

TARGET SPECIES HABITAT CREATION
HABITAT GOALS

Potential habitat enhancement 
area within Riparian Buffer 
strip

Potential habitat enhancement 
area within Riparian Buffer and 
extended into adjacent public 
land

Potential aquatic habitat 
enhancement area

Publicly owned property

PLAN LEGEND

PLAN OF POTENTIAL HABITAT CREATION AREAS

Page 82 of 494



smithgroup.com 59

Chapter 3. Action Plan

As noted above, much of the existing riverbank, 
though covered in vegetation, is compromised in its 
value for habitat.  Degraded banks of the river should 
be restored with bioengineering solutions where 
possible, and include consciously placed habitat 
structures, such as bird houses and hibernacula.

Other reaches, including existing floodplains and 
low slope banks, provide opportunities to create a 
diverse mix of habitat types (including wetlands).

Vertical retaining walls are located throughout the 
project area, typically where space is limited or 
where past need for land uses (such as parking) 
were considered very important.  In some places 
these walls are necessary to support existing 
buildings and are in good condition.  In other 

locations the walls are in poor condition and are 
being undermined by the river.  Finally, in some 
areas walls were installed to create more land (or for 
convenience) but are not particularly necessary.  In 
each case, vertical walls (as designed) offer no real 
habitat benefit.  

The ongoing assessment of the walls between Union 
and Park Streets should be expanded in the future to 
assess the condition and purpose of other existing 
vertical walls on public property in the project area.

The UNIFIED PLAN advocates for the removal of 
vertical walls, where feasible, replacing the walls 
with bioengineered riparian edges.  In places where 
vertical walls are required, but must be replaced, 
there are innovative wall design techniques that 
retain soil while offering some habitat value.

17 smithgroup.com

STABILIZING A HIGH BANK

• Holds soils in place with roots

• Stabilizes toe of slope to reduce 
scours and undercutting

EROSION CONTROL AND BANK STABILIZATION
12

.5
-f

oo
t 

h
ig

h
 b

an
k

25-foot wide bank

CROSS SECTION OF STEEP BANK RESTORATION

Page 83 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River60

 

 � Create more green space with enhanced habitat and 
sustainable landscapes where public land exists 
along the river corridor . 
The public strongly believes that surface parking 
is not as valuable along the river corridor as green 
space.  While the need for parking to support the 
downtown and the bayfront amenities is clear, 
the existing parking lot sites are an excellent 
opportunity to create more natural riparian and 
wetland habitat.

To implement a change in parking along the river, 
the DDA will need to collaborate with the city, local 
stakeholders, and the farmers market to consider 
the best and highest use for the land where parking 
lots exist along the river, emphasizing the value 
of creating habitat and protecting water quality. 
Further, the community should consider new parking 
facilities (not adjacent to the river) that could allow 
the development of more green space along the river.

In the near-term, interim sustainable improvements 
to parking lots could be implemented to manage 
impacts of stormwater, such as enhanced landscape 
buffers.

For all publicly owned river edges, the UNIFIED PLAN 
recommends habitat improvements including 
ideas for improving fisheries and aquatic resources, 
riparian bank improvements for birds, mammals 
and reptiles, and the potential for creating floodplain 
and wetland types likely present in pre-settlement 
times. 

 � Coordinate habitat enhancements with the FishPass 
(assuming implementation). 
The development of the FishPass project, assuming 
it is implemented, offers an opportunity to enhance 
aquatic species habitat within the river, up- and 
down-stream from the dam.  These improvements 
should focus on the needs of the target fish species 
and contribute to the scientific research conducted 
by the FishPass.  There is also an opportunity to 
improve riparian habitat between the Union Street 
and Cass Street bridges to balance any additional 
hardened edges built as part of the FishPass.

The DDA and city should continue to coordinate 
efforts with the FishPass project team.

 � Encourage private development to protect and 
create habitat.

 � Provide for in-stream habitat improvements. 
Although the edges of the river are reasonably fixed 
compared to pre-settlement conditions, the river 
remains an ever changing environment based on 
changing water levels, flood events, falling trees, 
and other influences.  With each riparian bank 
and recreational access project implemented, the 
projects should also consider and include in-stream 
habitat improvements such as rock vanes, managed 
log cover/basking structures, stone treatments 
of vertical wall bases, spawning beds, and related 
techniques to increase the desired populations of 
fish, reptiles, and macroinvertebrates.   

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Page 84 of 494



smithgroup.com 61

GUIDELINES
 � Use native landscape plants and habitat 

enhancement structures on new public projects.

 — Develop a plant palette of desired native plants, 
based on slope stabilization characteristics, 
urban conditions compatibility, aesthetic 
and cultural values, and habitat value (e.g. for 
pollinators).

 — Develop a list of target fisheries, aviary, mammal 
and reptile species and habitat structure types 
to be incorporated into the corridor (e.g., osprey 
nesting).

 — Incorporate native plants and habitat structures 

(where appropriate) into each project.

 � Develop design and maintenance guidelines for 
riparian landscape for use in maintaining public 
sites and guiding private landowners.

 — Benchmark other communities’ efforts to promote 
native landscape in the public and private realms.

 — Develop guidelines for design and maintenance 
based on UNIFIED PLAN and input from 
stakeholders.

 — Promote use of native landscape and guidelines 
through local advocacy organizations, garden 
clubs, and related organizations.

EXAMPLE OF PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT WITH NATIVE LANDSCAPE

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Page 85 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River62

 

There is a need to expand facilities on the river 
corridor to accommodate access, movement along the 
riverbank, and on-river recreation.  However, actions 
to meet this need must be tempered within the larger 
desires to maintain a natural character of the river 
corridor (where it exists). 

CORE VALUES
The following Core Values, established at the outset of 
the planning efforts, most align with providing public 
access and open space along the river:

 � Identify/prioritize opportunities for multi-modal 
access to the river.

 � Integrate existing riverwalks and pathways with new 
connections between sites and destinations that 
link the river to the city in ways that are physical, 
visual, aesthetic, and psychological. 

 � Enhance ecological and aesthetic river conditions, 
take advantage of, and integrate iconic structures, 
and identify new sites and structures that serve as 
destination or centers of programming to attract 
year-round access. 

 � Make nature-based stormwater BMPs a priority.

PROJECTS
The UNIFIED PLAN includes a physical illustrated plan 
that outlines public improvement projects within 
the project area, including access and open space 
enhancements.  Several broad categories of projects 
evolved out of community input, including:

 � Provide a clear, legible connected path system that 
allows users to find their way along the corridor, 
while providing for moments of discovery that feel 
unique.  
Currently there are gaps in the river trail system 
that dead end or leave the visitor confused as to 
how to continue their exploration of the river and 
community.

The DDA has established a wayfinding/water-trail 
signage plan that provides the visitor guidance, as 
well as information about the community and its 
history.  

While wayfinding systems are an important 
component to a linear greenway, the path itself must 
be legible and clear, offering visual/physical clues 
that direct people to continue their exploration.  The 
community is very clear in their desire to maintain 
contiguous stretches of the river that are not 
developed with paths but focus on natural habitat 
with limited human intervention.  Having paths on 
both sides of the river would make the system very 
clear, but not as friendly to non-human species. In 
addition, such an approach would leave the river 
corridor looking excessively urban, which is not a 
community goal.  

The challenge is to develop a path system that allows 
some continuity along the river but may move from 
one side of the river to the other in an adjacent 
segment.  Such a system should also provide some 
diversity in experience where a path is provided, 
allowing for areas that are boardwalk over the river, 
walks along the top of the bank, and places where 
the public street is integrated. 

ACCESS, OPEN SPACE & THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Page 86 of 494



smithgroup.com 63

When designing a particular path segment, the 
UNIFIED PLAN considers the least impactful 
locations for new paths relative to riparian and 
aquatic habitat.  This allows for the diversity of path 
experience noted above and honors the community’s 
goal of providing meaningful natural habitat.  

 � Connect the river path system to adjacent 
neighborhoods, downtown, bayfront, TART trail, and 
BATA stops.  
The UNIFIED PLAN identifies key connection points 
along the river corridor that should be integral with 
a linear path system and develop strategies to 
improve connectivity to these community assets.

As each segment of the river is improved for 
public access, the UNIFIED PLAN must provide 
physical/universal access to the river corridor from 
community linkage points (e.g. the TART trail) as part 
of each improvement project.

The alley, service and parking area on the south side 
of the Boardman at the 100 and 200 block of Front 
Street is a critical segment where there is a need for 
vehicle use, as well as large volumes of pedestrians 
that desire access along the river and connection to 
Front Street.  A creative solution that manages this 
blend of users, develops an interesting civic space 
and “greens” the banks of the river for habitat is 
required. 

 � Consider a range of open space nodes and amenities 
along the river corridors of varying sizes, purposes, 
and characters, including:

 — Water use amenities identified by the Boardman 
River Water Trail Study, such as accessible kayak 
launches, kayak racks (as needed), portage points 
(e.g., at Fish Weir) and marketing materials.

 — Site furnishings such as trash and recycling 
stations, lighting, drinking water and water bottle 
filling stations, bicycle parking and signs to 
provide a safe and clean environment.  

 — Public restroom facilities along the corridor, 
and/or better wayfinding to publicly available 
restrooms at places like the Government Center 
and the Traverse City Visitor Center.  

 — Fishing access points located at known places of 
angler activity.  These places typically function the 
best when segregated from pedestrian movement 
along the linear path.

 — Resting and viewing places, spaced at key points 
of natural or architectural beauty, and where 
people watching is likely.

 — Small scale community gathering places where 
groups can gather for photos, lunches, small 
performances, etc.

 — Art installations at bridges and other key public 
areas along the river.

 � Improve streets and bridges to create a more 
pedestrian friendly downtown and improve access to 
the river. 
The DDA has coordinated with the City Engineering 
Department to review and collaborate on planned 
bridge improvement projects, and the projects have 
considered the need for pedestrian access.  For 
example, the proposed bridge at Front Street will 
include a pedestrian underpass on the east side of 
the river, and the Eighth Street bridge will have an 
underpass connection on the west side of the river.

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Page 87 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River64

 

The downtown bridges that cross the river north of 
Front Street are limited in their ability to provide 
consistent underpass access due to the low bridge 
and road grades, which cannot be amended due to 
existing buildings and related constraints.

As the planned bridge improvements are made, the 
city and DDA should consider pedestrian access 
improvements in the area of the bridges as a priority 
to gain efficiencies in construction and phasing 
and enhance connections at-grade with the street 
and the available underpasses.  This coordination 
should occur during the Capital Improvement Plan 

(CIP) planning process to ensure adequate funding is 
allocated.

The design of the streetscape at the bridges could 
use best practices such as a speed tables and other 
traffic calming devices to enhance pedestrian safety 
and call attention to the presence of the river and 
the available recreation access.  In addition, the city 
and DDA should consider the potential for creating 
sculptural gateways at the bridges to highlight the 
presence of the river and the removal of parking on 
bridges to increase pedestrian space.  The sculptural 
gateways would not need to be directly attached to 
the bridge to be effective.  

SKETCH OF  GATEWAYS TO RIVERWALK

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Page 88 of 494



smithgroup.com 65

The planned reconstruction of the Grand View Parkway by MDOT provides a great opportunity to work with 
MDOT to make pedestrian safety, access, and crossing the corridor prominent features of the project.

GUIDELINES
 � Ensure universal access and consciously designed 

experiences for a range of abilities and aptitudes. 
Universal access to facilities and experiences on the 
river is a baseline assumption.  

Several facilities which offer access to the riverbank 
do not meet current guidelines for universal access, 
some of which is due to the significant constraints 
of land area and grades.  As new (universal access 
conforming) facilities are put online, attention must 
also be paid to retrofitting existing paths, bridges, 
access points and overlooks.  

Projects must consider universal access needs at all 
stages of the work, from the beginning of design to 
the final installation of railings. Even before design 
work is starting, the cost implications of universal 

access must be included in establishing project 
budgets.

In addition, the goal of universal access goes 
beyond providing safe and easy access but includes 
providing facilities that engage all users and 
abilities.    

 � Establish design guidelines for public path facilities. 
The linear path and public spaces along the river 
corridor currently include segments that are asphalt 
path, concrete walks, unit pavers, gravel, and wood 
boardwalks.  Further, several different light fixtures 
and site furnishing styles exist along the river.  The 
intent of the UNIFIED PLAN is not to impose strict 
conformity over the use of materials; however, some 
basic standardization is important to create enough 

PROVIDING BARRIER FREE ACCESS TO THE WATER

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Page 89 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River66

 

consistency to provide visitors with the visual clues 
necessary to follow the corridor.

 — Establish pavement material standards and 
width requirements.  Pavements within 25-feet of 
the original high water mark should be pervious 
or installed with specific measures to treat 
stormwater (such as vegetated swales).  With the 
goal of minimizing paved space, we recommend 
using a range of path widths (6- to 10-feet) that 
respond to the site condition and anticipated 
volume of users.  Please refer to Riparian Buffer 
Ordinance description in this chapter for 
additional details.

 — Identify typical locations where safety railings 
should be assumed, such as stairs, ramps, high 
volume walks along the water, intersections of 
paths, where fall potential exists over 30 inches.

 — Consider the potential impacts of climate change 
and water level fluctuation in the design of new 
facilities.  Examine the feasibility of floating 
docks, where possible, to provide flexible access 
and connections. Design walks and related 
facilities that are at a fixed elevation to include 
additional design freeboard than typically has 
been considered.

 — Incorporate public launch/portage facilities 
that accommodate contemporary forms of non-
motorized watercraft. 

 — Incorporate night sky lighting best practices into 
public and private improvement projects.  The 
UNIFIED PLAN recommends that the city and 
DDA consult with lighting designers to create 
guidelines for required light levels for both private 
and public improvements in the river corridor and 
identify fixture types for typical locations. 

 — Consider value of trees and leafy vegetation 
to reduce heat island effect and in carbon 
sequestration and provide for human comfort.

 � Coordinate efforts to contribute to the Boardman 
River Water Trail system. 
The Boardman River Water Trail Development 
Plan (2016) outlines strategies for creating a 
river recreation trail that encompasses the entire 
Boardman River, from Union Township to the 
Grand Traverse Bay. The plan outlined operational 
recommendations, site specific improvements, and 
water trail identity and development guidelines.  
The Lower Boardman River should be considered 
as one element or segment of the larger plan and 
refer to the recommendations of this plan to ensure 
continuity of the river improvements.

TARGET SPECIES HABITAT CREATION

25 smithgroup.com

• Provides shade for water, 
reducing temperature and 
elevates dissolved oxygen 

• Woody debris provides 
fish cover, basking for 
turtles, access path to 
bank

• Understory trees provide 
habitat and food for 
songbirds

TARGET SPECIES HABITAT CREATIO

25 smithgroup.com

• Provides shade for water, 
reducing temperature and 
elevates dissolved oxygen 

• Woody debris provides 
fish cover, basking for 
turtles, access path to 
bank

• Understory trees provide 
habitat and food for 
songbirds

CROSS SECTION OF AT-GRADE PATH

Chapter 3. Action Plan

s and 
o capture 
 water 

ilter 
 runoff

elocity of 
verland 
ltration

ER QUALITY MANAGEMENT

21 smithgroup.com

• Provides space for 
infiltration gardens and 
vegetated swales to capture 
sediment and filter water 
from parking lots

• Provides space to filter 
nitrogen from lawn runoff

• Vegetation slows velocity of 
flood waters and overland 
flow, increases infiltration

STORM WATER QUALITY MANAGEMENT

CROSS SECTION OF BOARDWALK

Page 90 of 494



smithgroup.com 67

POLLUTION CONTROL BEST PRACTICES
The city and DDA should continue to manage stormwater volumes and point source pollution on new projects 
consistent with current best practices to protect the water quality of the river and the bay.  There are two key 
documents that currently regulated and/or guide stormwater pollution, including:

 � The Traverse City Ground-Water Protection and 
Stormwater Control Ordinance currently requires 
a range of best practices to control point and 
non-point source pollution, manage the runoff of 
stormwater volumes, and protect stormwater and 
groundwater quality including:

 — Retention ponds and detention basins

 — Infiltration trenches, and basins, such as rain 
gardens

 — Stormwater quality treatment chambers

 — Vegetated swales and filter strips

 — Wet basins and drainage wells

 — Soil erosion and sedimentation controls

 — Hazardous substance storage and containment 
controls

 � The TIF 97 Stormwater Management Plan was 
recently developed for the DDA and recommends 
improvements to the management of stormwater 
and pollutants in the primary downtown district.  
The study examined a range of potential pollution 
sources, including roofs, streets, parking lots, 
outdoor dining, dumpsters, and expanded the 
current list of best practices to include:

 — Green roofs

 — Tree and planter boxes

 — Bioswales

 — Cisterns

 — Underground stormwater storage

 — Street sweeping

 — Dumpster covers

 — Permeable paving

EXAMPLE OF RAIN GARDENS IN URBAN ENVIRONMENT

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Page 91 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River68

 

The UNIFIED PLAN embraces these concepts as a means 
of improving water quality within the river and bay and 
provides for specific applications of best practices 
along the river corridor as illustrated below.  

 � In the limited space of a riparian buffer there remain 
opportunities to improve stormwater quality prior to 
its release into the river, including rain gardens and 
infiltration beds

 � Use of native plants that are left unmown

 � Vegetated swales

 � Pervious paving

Where a wider area is available, based on the public 
ownership of land, there are additional opportunities 
to expand pollution control measures and habitat 
creation.

Simply put, all private and public developments should 
be designed to eliminate direct stormwater flow into 
the river and be required to use best practices to 
cleanse and filter stormwater such as rain gardens, 
stormwater treatment structures, pervious pavements, 
and landscape buffers.

A key element to achieving this directive is to follow the 
guidelines in the TIF 97 Stormwater Management Plan for 
all projects within downtown.

21 smithgroup.com

• Provides space for 
infiltration gardens and 
vegetated swales to capture 
sediment and filter water 
from parking lots

• Provides space to filter 
nitrogen from lawn runoff

• Vegetation slows velocity of 
flood waters and overland 
flow, increases infiltration

STORM WATER QUALITY MANAGEMENT

21 smithgroup.com

• Provides space for 
infiltration gardens and 
vegetated swales to capture 
sediment and filter water 
from parking lots

• Provides space to filter 
nitrogen from lawn runoff

• Vegetation slows velocity of 
flood waters and overland 
flow, increases infiltration

STORM WATER QUALITY MANAGEM

CROSS SECTION OF RAIN GARDEN AND BANK RESTORATION

TARGET SPECIES HABITAT CREATION

26 smithgroup.com

EXPANDING THE FLOOD PLAIN

• Expanding and 
enhancing wetland 
edge

• Expanding riparian 
width to increase 
nesting habitat

TARGET SPECIES HABITAT C

26 smithgroup.com

EXPANDING THE FLOOD PLAIN

• Expanding and 
enhancing wetland 
edge

• Expanding riparian 
width to increase 
nesting habitat

CROSS SECTION OF FLOODPLAIN EXPANSION-ENHANCEMENT

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Page 92 of 494



smithgroup.com 69

For public improvement projects, the standard 
should be higher than “do not increase impervious 
surfaces and stormwater volume;“ public projects 
should include best practices to avoid, where possible, 
point source contributions to the river, in favor of 
groundwater infiltration and filtered overland flow 
to improve water quality and reduce the velocity and 
volume of water released to the river.   

EXAMPLE OF FLOODPLAIN ENHANCEMENT

As public projects reconstruct the riverbanks and 
adjacent areas, existing roof drain outfalls into the 
river should be intercepted and treated.  Projects 
should also consider the potential for storage and 
reuse of stormwater for irrigation.

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Page 93 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River70

 

The following Core Values, established at the outset 
of the planning efforts, most align with recognizing 
the history and culture of the region and encouraging 
education about the river’s natural and cultural 
resources:

 � Reflect the city’s commitment to the river as a public 
resource and asset to be passed to residents and 
visitors in perpetuity.

 � Use the natural and cultural values of the river as a 
guide for decisions about the commercial, economic, 
or utilitarian values to be leveraged for the public 
good.

 � Serve to foster and sustain partnerships with 
shared responsibilities among public and private 
stakeholders who share the value that the Boardman 
is a “common resource” that connects everyone.

PROJECTS
As the UNIFIED PLAN is implemented the projects 
described below are recommended:

 � Honor the Aanishinaabek (First People) heritage 
and cultural legacy through meaningful interpretive 
experiences throughout the project area. 
The first effort is to build on the existing knowledge 
base about the the unique relationship the 

The development of a cohesive path system and improved habitat along the river is an incredible opportunity 
to engage the community and visitors in history, culture, and learning, focused on the downtown and the Lower 
Boardman River.  The potential for learning and highlighting the uniqueness of the community should be integral 
into the early design stages for each reach of the river, so that the historic, cultural, and natural assets drive the 
location of the improvements made, when appropriate.

These efforts need to go beyond typical interpretive signage approaches and include thoughtful displays and 
landscapes that engage the visitor in an active way and create a more exciting place to experience.

CORE VALUES

HISTORY, CULTURE & LEARNING

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Aanishinaabek share with the air, land, water and the 
vastly complex and irreplaceable interconnections 
all living beings share with their environment—
exemplified here along the Lower Boardman River.  
Current sources of data should be reviewed, as well 
as developing an inventory of existing sites where 
the history and culture of the Aanishinaabek has 
been recognized.  Cultural resource specialists can 
assist in identifying additional sites of significance 
within the project area, and further defining the 
historic use of the area.

HISTORIC PHOTO OF NATIVE AMERICAN ENCAMPMENT

Page 94 of 494



smithgroup.com 71

Once the study and data gathering are complete, 
the city and DDA should create a thematically linked 
interpretive system, consistent with the recent 
water trail signage plan, located at sites of cultural 
significance.

A more ambitious goal to celebrate the presence 
of the Aanishinaabek in the Traverse City area is to 
create a Tribal Cultural Center within the project area.  
The UNIFIED PLAN identifies a potential location for 
a cultural center; however, the actual site selection 
will require further consideration by tribal and local 
officials.

The city and DDA should coordinate with local tribal 
groups to develop the architectural, educational, 
and funding program for the center, and locate and 
obtain an appropriate site.

 � Note and interpret key sites of European 
settlement, and the role of the river for industry and 
transportation. 
Maps and related historic resources tell us much 
about the community through the early years of 
European settlement and industrial growth. As part 
of a comprehensive interpretive learning program, 
the city and DDA should coordinate with local 
historians to identify high priority sites for learning 

Chapter 3. Action Plan

and interpretive messaging.

 � Provide interpretive theme about geology, the 
formation of the river, and the connection to lake 
levels. 
As noted elsewhere in this UNIFIED PLAN, one of the 
key steps moving forward is the full assessment 
of the current conditions related to aquatic and 
riparian habitat.  For purposes of developing an 
interpretive learning program, this natural features 
inventory would provide data on specific locations 
of rare and endangered species, and habitats of 
notable interest.  

Knowledge of existing conditions will help guide 
future habitat goals and plans and assist in 
the development of design ideas for displaying 
information and encouraging hands-on learning.

Other key goals in the learning program are to 
integrate water literacy into the public education 
outreach and provide interpretive themes about 
water stewardship and the impact of water quality 
on human and environmental health.  In addition to 
discussing the Boardman River’s impact on safe and 
accessible drinking water, the interpretive education 
program can highlight measures the city has taken 
to promote water quality, e.g., the Wastewater 
Treatment Plants’ membrane system.

Page 95 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River72

 Chapter 3. Action Plan

 GUIDELINES
 � Include cultural resource investigations into each 

publicly funded construction project. 
A Cultural Resources Assessment should be 
prepared as a baseline understanding of the 
potential sites where it is likely that encampment 
areas and places of cultural significance to the 
Aanishinaabek exist. This study will be helpful 
in developing the interpretive learning program 
previously discussed, and it can be used to flag 
key areas of concern along the river where historic 
artifacts may be uncovered by projects that involve 
excavation of soils.  

During the design and planning for projects being 
built, future project teams can identify potential 
construction impacts on historic cultural artifacts, 
determine where further investigation is required 
prior to construction, and monitor construction for 
potential discovery of cultural resources.

 � Continue to integrate the provision of art along the 
river corridor as it is improved. 
During project planning, future design teams should 
consider art in suitable locations based on the 
attributes of the project area.

Efforts to place art should be coordinated with the 
Traverse City Arts Commission.

 � Engage the local learning community in using the 
Lower Boardman River and FishPass for research and 
learning. 
Given the great opportunity to use the Lower 
Boardman River as a source of learning, the city and 
DDA should create an outreach campaign to local 
educational institutions that encourages visits to 
the river and collaboration on learning objectives 
and curricula.  Outreach partnerships could also 
include research, cultural resource investigations, 
and habitat monitoring that could be performed by, 
or with, local learning institutions.  

 � Actively manage the interpretive system of the 
district to reflect new information and special 
programs and meet the needs of all users. 
Interpretive learning systems are most effective 
when they are flexible and change over time to 
reflect new data and understanding of the subject 
matter.  We recommend a regular assessment of the 
efficacy of interpretive displays and facilities, and 
the use of interpretive learning systems that can be 
modified or adapted to new learning objectives and 
curricula, in addition to more permanent displays.

Page 96 of 494



smithgroup.com 73

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Recognizing an explicit commitment to the principles of public trust in the protection of the river as a community 
commons, regulatory policies that guide building and development in the downtown area should be amended to 
reflect the vision and values of the Lower Boardman River UNIFIED PLAN.

Modifying public policy will impact private land development, as these are the regulations and guiding 
documents that shape the use of the land in the community.  However, the intent in modifying these regulations 
and guiding documents is also to establish standards by which public improvements must abide.  

Specific language is proposed as part of this chapter to provide a guideline in modifying existing and proposed 
ordinances; however, each of these amendments will need additional effort and conversation with the city planner 
and planning commission prior to adoption.  

CORE VALUES
The following Core Values, established at the outset of 
the planning efforts, most align with the management 
of private and public development along the river:

 � Ensure that new or rehabilitated developments along 
the river are compatible with the city’s renewable 
energy goals. 

 � Establish that development sites, destinations, 
and structures must protect the health, aesthetics, 
accessibility, and health of the relationship between 
the river and residents/visitors. 

 � Use the natural and cultural values of the river as a 
guide for decisions about the commercial, economic, 
or utilitarian values to be leveraged for the public 
good. 

 � Prohibit further hardening of the shorelines that are 
inconsistent with the UNIFIED PLAN. 

COMMUNITY & DEVELOPMENT POLICIES

RIPARIAN BUFFER ORDINANCE
The Traverse City Planning Commission has proposed a 
new Riparian Buffer Ordinance to help manage the use, 
development, and maintenance of the edges of Grand 
Traverse Bay, Boardman Lake, the Boardman River, and 
Kids Creek. The Leadership Team is proposing changes 
to the draft ordinance to address specific conditions of 
the Lower Boardman segment of the river. 

The importance of the Riparian Buffer Ordinance to 
fulfilling the goals and value of the UNIFIED PLAN and 
addressing the primary concerns expressed by the 
public cannot be overstated.   The ordinance should 
be aspirational in its charge and supported by the 
community.

The intent of the  draft ordinance is to:  

 � Conserve, protect, and restore natural riparian 
resources through scientifically supported 
processes.

 � Preserve and enhance areas that intercept and filter 
surface water runoff and improve water quality.

Page 97 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River74

 

 � Protect shoreline and floodplain areas critical for 
flood attenuation and soil loss.

 � Conserve near-shore aquatic habitat for fish and 
invertebrates and shoreline and stream bank habitat 
crucial for birds, insects, and mammals.

 � Provide community scenic, cultural, and recreational 
values of watercourses and water bodies.

 � Preserve natural deep-rooted vegetation critical for 
stable shorelines and stream banks.

Chapter 3. Action Plan

 � Provide for the establishment of natural vegetation 
buffers on all sites adjacent to water bodies to 
promote public health and safety and protect land 
values.

The proposed ordinance is an opportunity to 
promote a “river first” approach in the protection and 
enhancement of the river consistent with the values 
expressed in this UNIFIED PLAN and through the public 
input and engagement.  The UNIFIED PLAN recommends 
adoption of the Riparian Buffer Ordinance, and the 

PARCELS IN RIPARIAN BUFFER CHANGE

Page 98 of 494



smithgroup.com 75

Leadership Team has proposed a series of amendments 
to the current draft, which are described in detail 
in Appendix 4.  In broad terms these amendments 
include:

 � Establish a 10-Foot riparian buffer for properties east 
of Park Street (matching current setback) and a 25-
foot riparian buffer for commercial properties west 
of Park Street (10-foot water's edge setback currently 
required).  In the C-4 Regional Center district, there 
are six properties that the recommended ordinance 
proposes to have a 25-foot buffer, which is larger 
than the current 10-foot requirement.  Of these 
six sites, three are likely to be re-developed in the 
coming decade, and these sites are noted as A, B, 
and C (see Parcels in Riparian Buffer Change map on 
page 74).  Of these three sites that could be impacted 
in the short-term, developers of two of the parcels 
have agreed to 25-foot water's edge setbacks to 
accommodate utilities and stormwater, and the 
other site is currently owned by the city.  All other 
properties in downtown will retain their existing 
water's edge setbacks, which are 25-feet per current 
ordinances

 � Add guidance on tree preservation, landscape 
maintenance, new landscaping, and bank and 
slope protection. The draft ordinance proposes to 
restrict manicured lawns and tree removal, while 
requiring the use of native plant for erosion control 
and habitat value.  The proposed language also 
encourages the use of plantings that have specific 
function and meaning to the Aanishinaabek culture.  

Chapter 3. Action Plan

 � Regulate vertical wall construction as shoreline 
stabilization treatment.  While the proposed 
ordinance contains language to address this 
concern, the Leadership Team has offered clarifying 
language and additional detail on acceptable 
approaches to shoreline stabilization.

 � Restrict the development of parking lots in the 
water's edge setback and the direct flow of adjacent 
parking lots from entering the river untreated, in 
concert with existing stormwater regulations the 
city has adopted and uses.

OTHER ZONING ORDINANCE CHANGES
The UNIFIED PLAN supports the modification of zoning 
ordinances to manage the scale, placement, and site 
improvements of new development consistent with 
the Core Values of the UNIFIED PLAN.  These proposed 
changes to existing ordinances are, for the most part, 
intended to support and further codify the proposed 
Riparian Buffer Ordinance.

Amendments may be made to the applicable zoning 
district including OS Open Space, R-3 Multiple 
Family Dwelling, C-3 Community Center District, C-4 
Regional Center District, and Development Districts 
D-1 Ironworks and D-2 Depot. To the greatest extent 
possible, all new approvals shall be administrative 
or departmental reviewed unless already part of a 
planning commission review process in accordance 
with Redevelopment Ready Communities (RRC) Best 
Practices.

Page 99 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River76

 

10-FOOT SETBACK

10-FOOT SETBACK WITHOUT A PATH

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Page 100 of 494



smithgroup.com 77

25-FOOT SETBACK

25-FOOT SETBACK WITH A PATH

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Page 101 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River78

 

 � Create additional setback for parking from the 
original high water mark.

 — Adopt the Riparian Buffer Ordinance, which 
says “No development, permanent structures 
(including fences) or parking area(s) shall be 
allowed within the riparian buffer zone.” 

 — Amend ordinance 1374.03 Motor Vehicle Parking, 
subsection (c) Location of parking areas, as 
follows: “(6.)  Parking is not allowed within the 
Riparian Buffer, pursuant to the Riparian Buffer 
Ordinance.”

Chapter 3. Action Plan

 — Amend Ordinance 1346.04 C-4 District, subsection 
Setbacks, as follows: (g) Parking is not allowed 
within the Riparian Buffer, pursuant to the 
Riparian Buffer Ordinance.”

 � Restrict the creation of public and private parking 
within the river corridor. 
Parking is not required in C-4 Districts, which is 
most of downtown.  Ordinance 1364 C-4 Districts 
states “No parking is required in this district, 
however, if parking is provided, it must meet the 
standards contained in Chapter 1374, circulation and 
parking and restrictions of this chapter.”

PHOTO OF PARKING ADJACENT TO RIVER

Page 102 of 494



smithgroup.com 79

This ordinance is, coupled with the proposed 
changes to the ordinances noted above, effective at 
discouraging and managing the design of private 
parking in downtown, and restricting all parking 
from locating directly adjacent to the river.

 � Establish and maintain appropriate building 
setbacks for development along the river in response 
to public input.

 — Amend Ordinance 1346.04 C-4 District, Setbacks, 
subsection (e) Water Setbacks.

 � C-4a:  10-foot setback from ordinary high water 
mark per current ordinance

 � C-4b and C-4c:  25-foot setback from ordinary 
high water mark 

 — Amend Ordinance 1368.02 Size and Area 
Requirements, subsection (b) Setbacks Required 
with same language.

 — For C-4a sites, strongly encourage a larger buffer; 
consider incentives to increasing buffer to 25-
feet, including transfer of development rights, and 
rezoning of public lands.

 — Maintain current water setback of 25-feet in 
zoning districts OS-Open Space, R-e Multiple 
Family Dwelling, D-1 Ironworks Development, D-2 
Depot Development, and GP Government Building.

 — Establish a 25-foot building setback and riparian 
buffer in all zoning districts where property is 
adjacent to Kids Creek

 � Adopt incentives to encourage the use of sustainable 
building materials, energy efficiency and production, 
habitat creation, bird safe windows, creation of 
public access, and reuse of building water. 
Increasing building height and development density 

Chapter 3. Action Plan

is often used as an incentive to induce developers 
to create public benefits such as green building 
techniques.  Based on current laws, development 
over 60-feet in height is discouraged due to the need 
for a public vote; however, sites in the R-3 and C-4a 
districts could still benefit from height incentives 
since the current ordinances in these districts limit 
building height to 40 and 45 feet, respectively. 
Other incentives that could be considered include 
allowing administrative review of site plans, and/or 
adopting a broader green building requirement for 
downtown construction.    

 � Integrate lighting guidelines into the appropriate 
sections of the city zoning and regulatory 
ordinances. 
No immediate action is required, as Chapter 1375 
Outdoor Lighting ordinance has clear guidelines 
to encourage dark sky compliance.  All new public 
projects should conform to ordinance when 
improving downtown and riverfront public spaces.

 � Encourage businesses that have both a street 
frontage and a river frontage to activate the 
waterfront side of their business. 
Chapter 1346, C-4 Districts includes “Buildings along 
Boardman River should be designed to integrate 
with both the sidewalk and riverwalk systems.”  

To strengthen this intent section 1346.09 (1) of this 
ordinance should be amended as follows: 

“The predominant building wall and entryway shall 
face the public or private street.  Where adjacent 
to the Boardman River, or to public land that is 
adjacent to the river, the building shall have a public 
entrance and architectural features denoting a 
public entrance facing the river.”    

Page 103 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River80

 

AMEND REGULATORY ORDINANCES
A great deal of the public input gathered during 
the planning process supported ideas that are 
best implemented through changes to the Codified 
Ordinances of Traverse City.  These ordinances are 
considered “regulatory,” since they are local laws 
enacted to regulate activity or set standards for the use 
and development of public facilities such as streets.  
These ordinances are adopted by the City Commission 
and are outside of Zoning Ordinances which are 
focused on regulating the use of land.  

Recommended regulatory ordinance modifications for 
consideration include:

 � Integrate lighting guidelines into the appropriate 
sections of the Codified Ordinances of Traverse City, 
under Part 10-Streets, Utilities and Public Services, 
and Part 14-Building and Housing Code.

 � Consult with City Attorney, Clerk, and Manager 
on the alternative approaches to regulating river 
use.  Propose and conduct a fair and open process, 
working in cooperation with licensees.  Propose and 
adopt changes to the Codified Codes of Traverse 
City, Part Ten Streets, Utilities and Public Services 
Code, Chapter 1064 Parks, and related codes.  Code 
changes could include volume limitations placed on 
licensees, Quiet Zones along the corridor, limitation 
on the use of alcohol, hours of operations, and 
disorderly conduct.

Chapter 3. Action Plan

AMEND THE COMMUNITY MASTER PLAN
When adopting or modifying new ordinances, it is 
critical that the Community Master Plan supports 
the values and guidelines that are reflected in the 
new ordinances and the UNIFIED PLAN.  This can be 
accomplished in one of the following ways:

 � Adopt the UNIFIED PLAN as a “Sub Area Master Plan” 
as provided by the Michigan Planning Enabling Act, 
Act 33 of 2008.

 � Integrate key findings of the UNIFIED PLAN into the 
next update of the Traverse City Comprehensive Plan, 
and incorporate the UNIFIED PLAN by reference.

 � Create a new Downtown Plan as a Sub Area Master 
Plan, integrating the UNIFIED PLAN.

Page 104 of 494



smithgroup.com 81

AMEND THE COMMUNITY RECREATION PLAN
Funding grants through the DNR are available for many 
of the projects outlined in the UNIFIED PLAN.  To be 
fully eligible for these potential grants, the planned 
projects should be reflected in the Recreation Plan for 
Traverse City.  Per DNR guidelines, the Recreation Plan 
is updated every five years, which in Traverse City’s 
case would be in 2021.  

The Recreation Plan should include the UNIFIED PLAN 
recommendations to improve public parks in the 
project area and proposed trail connections.  The 
city and DDA will need to coordinate Recreation Plan 
changes with the Parks and Recreation Commission. 

PUBLIC INPUT
The policy changes reflected in the Riparian Buffer 
Ordinance and other ordinance changes were included 
in the second round of public engagement (described 
in more detail in Chapter Four: The Illustrated Plan).  

In both the public workshops and online survey, 
participants were given the opportunity to indicate 
support for policies and best practices.  The two groups 
of participants demonstrated strong support for the 
policy ideas and proposals presented for including:

 � RIPARIAN BUFFER and GREEN RIVERBANKS, 
including the removal of vertical walls where 
appropriate and increasing building setbacks in key 
zoning districts west of Park Street. 

 � Amendments to the REGULATORY ORDINANCES of 
the community to manage behavior of recreational 
river users.

 � Land development BEST PRACTICES for managing 
stormwater and pollution of the river. 

 � Many commentors from both the workshops and 
online survey indicated that they supported the 
removal of PARKING along the river shoreline, but 
that the replacement of this parking needed to be 
implemented in conjunction with the removal. 

This input was consistent with that gathered from 
the first round of community engagement, and the 
direction preferred by the Leadership Team.  

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Page 105 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River82

 

The city and DDA should establish a strategic plan 
to pursue the implementation of the UNIFIED PLAN, 
manage development of the public river corridor, 
monitor river conditions and development, and 
maintain the river corridor. 

CORE VALUES
The Core Values established at the outset of 
the planning efforts that most align with the 
implementation and management of the UNIFIED PLAN 
include:

 � Foster and sustain partnerships with shared 
responsibilities among public and private 
stakeholders who share the value that the 
Boardman River is a “common resource” that 
connects everyone. 

 � Provide that the recommended initiatives contained 
in the UNIFIED PLAN will account for the impact of 
those initiatives on residents, habitats, and the 
ecological status of the river. 

ASSIGNMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES 
One of the most important set of decisions to be 
made in the planning process is the assignment 
of responsibilities for the future development, 
management, and maintenance of the Lower 
Boardman River district. 

The city and DDA will need to collaboratively review 
the anticipated needs of the district and designate 
which government entity or sub-entity will provide 
management and maintenance oversight and 
assist in the funding of projects and maintenance.  
Considerations include:

 � Who will define issues and establish criteria for 
managing and adapting the plan going forward?  

 � Who will “own” the plan and the responsibility for its 
implementation, adaptation, and success?

 � How will decision-making responsibilities be 
distributed and coordinated?  

 � How will enduring and adaptive structures for 
stakeholder involvement be established and 
ensured?  

As a starting point for discussion, we should consider 
the existing governmental structures in place to 
complete this work, as follows:

 � DDA

 — Parking 

 — Farmers Market Advisory Board

 — Traverse City Arts Commission

 — Lower Boardman River Leadership Team (or its 
potential successor)

 � City Planning 

 — Zoning and Development Regulations, guiding 
land use, building and site development, and 
parking

 — Economic Development

 � Department of Municipal Utilities

 — Storm Sewers

 — Water 

 — Sanitary Sewers and plant

 � Traverse City Light and Power

IMPLEMENTATION & MANAGEMENT

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Page 106 of 494



smithgroup.com 83

 � Department of Public Services (management and 
maintenance)

 — Parks and Recreation

 — Streets

 — Sidewalks

 � City Engineering (Design and Construction)

 — Street, Parking, and Bridge Design and 
Implementation

 — Parks Implementation Administration

 — Traffic and Multi-jurisdictional outreach

 � City Police-public safety and emergency response

 � City Fire-public safety and emergency response

ESTABLISHING A GUIDING ORGANIZATION
From the start of the public engagement process 
the community has expressed concern that the river 
corridor be effectively managed and maintained.  As 
the UNIFIED PLAN has developed, the Leadership Team 
explored this topic and recommend that the DDA and 
the city collaborate in the establishment of a governing 
and management structure for the Lower Boardman 
River.  The purpose of this structure is to advocate 
for the river in the development of downtown and 
riverfront, to guide decisions and set priorities for the 
river corridor, and lead in the implementation of the 
UNIFIED PLAN.

There are a number of ways to organize the 
management of an open space and the implementation 
of plans and policies, including:

 � Utilizing the Existing Structure: The existing 
governmental units listed above can continue to 

each take a part in the Lower Boardman as noted.  
This decentralized model may adequately manage 
the various aspects of implementing this plan, but 
it leaves a leadership gap in advocating for new 
improvements and policies, and would likely result 
in much slower and ineffective progress.

 � Create an Advocacy Group:  In this model a “Friends 
of the Lower Boardman River” could be formed of 
interested community volunteers that would act 
independently to advise the city and the DDA in each 
of the topical areas on an ad hoc basis.  The “Friends” 
group could be a focal point for community input, 
and could play a substantive role in organizing 
events that benefit the river corridor, including 
regular clean-up activities, community based fund 
raising, and social gatherings that celebrate the 
river.  These groups can be effective, but without any 
decision making authority can be less effective than 
other models.  Also, the reliance on volunteers and 
lack of specific charge from a governmental agency 
can make it more difficult to sustain interest and 
long term impact.  

 � Form an Advisory Board:  An Advisory Board could 
be established that is chartered by the city and/
or the DDA.  This approach establishes some 
level of authority in the making of decisions and 
management of priorities.  An Advisory Board 
becomes the first stop in advising the city and DDA 
on matters of interest for the river corridor, and 
would report directly to the City Commission and/
or the DDA board.  This group could be (at least 
partially) funded by the city or DDA, maintain a small 
staff, and have a role in the Capital Improvements 
Plan (CIP) process, such that projects can be given 
a voice at the funding table.  This assumes that 

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Page 107 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River84

 

the such local governmental funding would not 
completely support ongoing projects and initiatives, 
but could be relied upon to develop matching funds 
for grants and other outside funding.  In this model, 
actual projects and initiatives would, for the most 
part, remain the responsibility of city and DDA staff.  
Locally, there are two organizations that fit this 
model (with some variations), including the Hickory 
Hills Advisory Committee (along with Preserve 
Hickory) and the Brown Bridge Advisory Committee. 

 � Establish a Riverfront Conservancy:  A conservancy 
could “take ownership” of the river corridor (through 
the authority granted them by the city and DDA) 
and act as the recognized authority that directly 
manages the maintenance of the public assets, 
organizes and promotes events and capital 
improvement projects, and play a meaningful role in 
guiding policy changes.  This type of group is often 
supported by philanthropic funding, and is capable 
of managing grants and implementation of projects.  
The Detroit Riverfront Conservancy is a great model 
of this type of organization, and has effectively 
transformed the riverfront along the Detroit River, a 
public asset that is regularly named the best river 
walk in the United States. 

Whichever guiding organizational structure is put into 
place, there are a number of roles which need to be 
filled to successfully implement the UNIFIED PLAN.  The 
sections below outline these roles and responsibilities.  

FUNDING AND MANAGEMENT OF 
IMPROVEMENTS
The guiding organization will need to engage sources 
for funding the construction and maintenance of 
improvements to implement the UNIFIED PLAN.  There 
are three important tracks for this pursuit.

Track One. The guiding organization will need to 
monitor potential grant sources and the related criteria 
for selection and applicability to proposed projects, 
and then match these potential grant sources to the 
priority projects for implementation.   Sources of 
grants may be non-profits, federal and state programs, 
community donations, or philanthropic individuals and 
organizations. To successfully implement the projects 
outlined in the UNIFIED PLAN, there will be a need for 
multiple grant sources and to manage the application 
for, and use of, the grants on an ongoing basis.  Refer to 
Chapter Four:  The Illustrated Plan for a more thorough 
discussion of potential funding sources.

Track Two. Following the adoption of the UNIFIED PLAN, 
the guiding organization will need to determine how 
the Lower Boardman River project will move forward in 
terms of financial and management responsibilities, as 
noted elsewhere in this report.  As part of this process, 
the DDA will need to consider how TIF funding can be 
used to fund improvements and management.

Track Three. Each year the Planning and City 
Commissions develop a CIP which outlines anticipated 
budgetary spending for Traverse City.  Some of the 
projects may be funded, at least in part, through 
the city, and so there needs to be effort invested to 
coordinate as the CIP is prepared each year.  

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Page 108 of 494



smithgroup.com 85

MAINTENANCE
The community is concerned about how the river 
corridor facilities and landscape will be maintained, 
citing two concurrent ideas—not wanting to burden 
government services and taxpayers, while also 
ensuring a safe, clean, healthy, and welcoming Lower 
Boardman River.  Recommendations for maintenance 
include:

 � Provide for regular and timely maintenance to 
manage waste and cleanliness.   
Significant interest exists for the development of 
an “Adopt a River Reach” program to encourage 
public and private partnerships to keep the riparian 
district clear of trash and otherwise well maintained.  
Organizations like this have been implemented in 
many communities to reduce the impact on city 
services, while creating a civic presence of active 
citizens on the riverfront.

Even with the assistance of active volunteers, the 
guiding organization may remain responsible for 
maintaining general trash, waste management 
stations, and bathrooms; the cost of providing these 
services needs to be considered.

To assist in managing trash in the corridor, the 
guiding organization should consider public 
outreach to promote responsible visitor behavior and 
take measures such as the prohibition on the use 
of plastic bottles within the Lower Boardman River 
district.

 � Maintain landscape plantings to provide shade, 
thriving plant communities, invasive control, 
recreation use, and views of the water. 
The community is ready to accept a native 

landscape along the river, (in lieu of manicured 
lawns.) and this approach shifts (albiet reduces) 
maintenance means and methods.  The guiding 
organization should develop maintenance 
procedures and protocols consistent with 
community expectations and determine who will 
be responsible for this work.  In some communities, 
maintenance of native landscapes is completed 
through volunteer organizations as discussed above, 
in other communities the work is completed through 
merchant associations by trained professionals.  

Trees blocking access through the river corridor 
for kayaks and related craft can be an issue, 
particularly in the spring.  In collaboration with 
kayak licensees, the guiding organization should set 
basic parameters which can guide tree maintenance 
to allow recreational use of the river without losing 
the value of shaded water and downed snags that 
enhance aquatic habitat.

Whether the landscape is maintained in partnership 
with volunteer organizations or managed by the city 
and/or DDA, we recommend that the services of a 
trained arborist be retained to provide emergency 
services, as well as regular tree assessment, 
trimming, and maintenance.

 � Maintain the condition of boardwalks and related 
facilities on a regular basis and ensure ADA 
compliance. 
Like trash, cleaning, and landscape maintenance, 
the city and DDA must establish or assign an entity 
to be responsible for facility maintenance and 
should consider partnerships with private and non-
profit community focused organizations.

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Page 109 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River86

 

The goal is to develop maintenance procedures and 
protocols so that repairs are completed on a timely 
basis and facilities remain universally accessible.

Other communities have established a long-
term, reliable, and consistent funding stream 
for maintenance, based on steady governmental 
funding or endowments, or through a combination of 
sources.

 � Implement snow and ice maintenance plans which 
limit the impacts on water quality and habitat. 
Visitors and community members are expected 
to use the walks and facilities along the river on a 
year-round basis.  The city and DDA should identify 
current practices for maintaining walks and streets 
in downtown and along the river, review the efficacy 
of current practices, and establish priorities for the 
future. As part of this assessment, the city and DDA 
should consider and test alternative means of snow 
maintenance, alternative locations for snow storage, 
and logical limits for winter maintenance on paths 
and boardwalks.  

Priorities for establishing future snow practices 
include pedestrian and user safety and the 
impact to water quality and the river environment.  
Consideration of planned maintenance practices 
should be considered and integrated into each 
improvement project for the river corridor.

ENCOURAGING POLICY CHANGE
Within the Action Plan (outlined earlier in this chapter) 
there are a number of key land use, maintenance, 
best practices, and river use policy amendments and 
guidelines discussed which are critical to ensuring 
the protection and enjoyment of all beneficiaries 
to the river.  The guiding organization will need to 
be responsible for monitoring and guiding changes 
to policy, and initiating policy amendments where 
appropriate.

EXTENDING PUBLIC OUTREACH
Community members have been actively engaged 
in the planning process and continue to guide 
the outcomes of the UNIFIED PLAN.  As the plan is 
implemented, each key project and milestone should 
be completed with the expectation that community 
engagement is a critical part of a successful project 
and community.  

Community engagement should include an invitation 
to participate in the planning and design of future 
improvements; however, a public engagement strategy 
can go beyond involvement in specific projects, as 
outlined below.

The guiding organization can collaborate with existing 
education efforts in the local community in terms 
of best practices (e.g., not dumping fall leaves and 

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Page 110 of 494



smithgroup.com 87

parking lot snow in river, adopt a catch basin program.)  
In a similar educational vein, a website for the Lower 
Boardman River should be maintained to promote 
open communication and information sharing with 
the public.  The website should be utilized to regularly 
post technical data from the monitoring of habitat and 
water quality efforts on the river.

Successful urban places often focus on encouraging 
community engagement with their waterfront through 
the programming of civic activity.  Program activities 
along the river corridor can encourage appropriate use 
of the river, offer educational instruction, entertain 
visitors in creative ways, and promote the civic value of 
the space.  A good first step is to establish a policy for 
events and activities along the river, bearing in mind 
the community value of the river as a quiet respite.  

Moving forward the guiding organization could 
collaborate with existing event organizations to further 
integrate the river corridor into the events.  Also, the 
guiding organization  that assists with activities and 
programming for the river should be explored, further 
expanding the role a volunteer organization could play.  

Finally, the guiding organization  should consider 
the use of enforcement officers or river guardians to 
help visitors orient to the community and manage 
inappropriate behavior. 

Chapter 3. Action Plan

Page 111 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River88

 

Page 112 of 494



CHAPTER 4

THE ILLUSTRATED PLAN

Page 113 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River90

 Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

THE PLANNING PROCESS & PLAN DEVELOPMENT

The UNIFIED PLAN is broad in scope, covering public policy, physical improvements, and implementation 
strategies. Broad master plans by definition and typical practice do not represent specific designs that can 
be implemented literally, but rather they point out areas where existing conditions should be improved and 
establish key objectives that such improvements should strive to address.

The site-specific designs presented in this plan are intended to catalyze the discussion around how different 
elements of the Lower Boardman River can be improved; they are not the result of a focused design process which 
culminates with the construction of a built project. Rather, they are intended to illustrate potential improvements 
that could enrich and enliven downtown. 

Once the UNIFIED PLAN is adopted, the DDA and city can determine which of the site-specific recommendations 
ought to be pursued in the short-term and/or long-term. Once an idea becomes a priority, a funding strategy for 
the project can be identified and final design plans should be developed within a process that further engages 
the community.

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT ROUND TWO
A second round of public engagement was conducted 
in the summer of 2021. Specific focus during this 
round of engagement was on gaining input regarding 
ideas and options for physical improvements in the 
public corridor and for the draft recommendations in 
public policy, especially the proposed Riparian Buffer 
Ordinance. 

In July and August the public outreach and engagement 
included:

 � Project Updates for Elected and Appointed Officials 
and Staff

 — Downtown Development Authority  

 — Planning Commission  

 — Parks and Recreation Commission 

 — City Commission  

 � Stakeholder outreach within the 100 and 200 Block  
DDA staff met with individuals owning businesses 
and property in the 100 and 200 blocks of Front 
Street to update them on the status of the project 
and the findings of the wall and sewer stabilization 
study.

 � Online Mechanism to Provide Feedback 
A project website was created and maintained to 
provide an update on the project and outline specific 
recommendations and plan alternatives. An online 
survey was created to allow people to participate 
in the second round of engagement who were not 
comfortable with a face-to-face meeting or otherwise 
found the online method more workable.  

The online survey reached more than 200 people, 
who were given the opportunity to participate in 
parts or all of the engagement.  The online survey 
was paired with a website that provided reasonable 
detailed descriptions of the policy ideas and project 
alternatives being discussed.   Just under two thirds 
of the survey participants were residents or business 
owners in the city, and the remaining participants 
were typically residents of the region interested in 
the Boardman River and/or downtown.  

Positive support for the project was a clear takeaway 
from the overall engagement including:

Page 114 of 494



smithgroup.com 91

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

 — Based on the public on-line survey, the lowest 
amount of support for one the projects or 
ideas presented was 70%, which is to say, the 
key elements of the UNIFIED PLAN are highly 
supported by the community.  

 — The majority of input was consistent with the 
results of the initial public engagement in the 
summer of 2019, including support for restoration 
of the river, reasonable regulation of development 
along the river, increased (and more continuous 
and accessible) access to the river for the public, 
and better maintenance and management of 
recreational river users. 

 � Focus Group Sessions: In-Person at City Opera House 
Attendees and organizations were specifically 
invited, but each meeting was open to the public.  
The focus groups were organized into four meetings 
as follows (consistent with the 2019 sessions):

 — Meeting #1: Recreation Groups, Community Event 
organizers

 — Meeting #2: Sustainability, Fisheries, and Natural 
Resource Focused Organizations

 — Meeting #3: Business and Property Owners 

 — Meeting #4: Community and Economic 
Development, Business Focused Organizations

 � Open Public Work Sessions 
With a similar approach and agenda as the 
Stakeholder meetings, a series of three open 
public sessions were held on a single day in July.  
The morning session and evening session were 
facilitated by the planning consultants, while the 
mid-day session was structured like an open house 
where people provided feedback on boards displayed 
around the room. 

 � Open House 
The SmithGroup team summarized the results of 
the engagement sessions and conducted an open 
house style meeting where participants met face-
to-face with the team to review the results of the 
engagement to-date and identify priority projects 
that they support. 

 � Pop-Up Workshops  
In July, a series of Pop-Up workshops were organized 
and attended by DDA staff and the Leadership Team 
in downtown.  

ALTERNATIVE IDEAS
Both the workshops and online survey participants 
were given the opportunity to indicate support for 
policies and projects (or lack thereof).  The two groups 
of participants reached consensus for the policy ideas 
and alternative projects presented for most of the 
project areas, as described below.

The illustrations from the workshops and survey 
offered a series of alternative ideas to improve access 
and connectivity along the river.  The purpose of the 
second round of public engagement was to gauge the 
community’s preferences and general support for the 
ideas, as well as to gather new thoughts and concepts. 
A summary of the results from the second round of 
public engagement can be found in Appendix 5.

The following paragraphs describe the illustrated 
UNIFIED PLAN reach by reach and the public input that 
shaped the plan components.

Page 115 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River92

 

The primary themes of the UNIFIED PLAN for physical improvements are CULTURE, CONNECTIVITY, and HABITAT.

 � CULTURE focused learning and art to educate and 
inspire people about the Aanishinaabek and their 
history in the region.

 � CONNECTIVITY for people to recreate along, celebrate 
the value of, and learn about the Boardman River.

 � HABITAT preservation and creation for aquatic, 
riparian, and avian communities to increase native 
species diversity and improve water quality.

ILLUSTRATIVE UNIFIED PLAN

THE UNIFIED PLAN

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Please note that a copy of this map file is provided in Appendix 6.

Page 116 of 494



smithgroup.com 93

As discussed in Chapter Three: Action Plan, the UNIFIED 
PLAN recommends the following general facilities and 
considerations:

 � Consider floating docks to adjust to the variable 
water levels (since the river does not typically freeze 
over).

 � Provide publicly accessible bathrooms.

 � Ensure universal accessibility throughout the river 
corridor to the extent possible.

 � Add public art, seating, wayfinding signs, lighting 
throughout the river corridor.

 � Integrate interpretive learning based on the natural 
resources and cultural history.

 � Further develop parking replacement/increases in 
other parts of downtown in conjunction with plans to 
remove parking spaces along river.  

 � Provide ongoing maintenance to the boardwalks and 
paths that already exist.

 � Rehabilitate filled riverbanks that have been the 
subject of fill from past stabilization efforts (where 
feasible) to increase the quality of the soil and plant 
community.  Provide for stormwater infiltration and 
erosion control, and provide habitat structure for 
riparian species.

RESTORING NATURAL AND STABLE RIVERBANKS 

20 smithgroup.com

Remove invasive plants

Remove broken rubble/fill

Install new topsoil and subsoil

Install native plantings

Install habitat 
structures

CROSS SECTION OF BANK RESTORATION

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 117 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River94

 

REACH ONE

EIGHTH STREET BRIDGE
Build a pedestrian underpass on the west side of the 
Eighth Street bridge to connect the boardwalk to the 

ILLUSTRATIVE UNIFIED PLAN REACH ONE

north along the Midtown development to the proposed 
boardwalk south of the bridge.  The design of the bridge 
allows for such a walk along an existing sheet pile wall. 

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 118 of 494



smithgroup.com 95

SKETCH OF BOARDWALK SOUTH OF EIGHTH STREET

BOARDWALK SOUTH OF EIGHTH STREET
There is an existing easement that allows for 
pedestrian connection south of Eighth Street along 
the river’s edge, but using the easement would mean 
the removal of a number of trees, putting the path very 
close to the residences. The concept shown builds a 
boardwalk in the river to address these issues and 
preserve the bank.  This concept would also create a 
continuous waterfront connection to Boardman Lake, 
Hull Park, and other recreation trails. 

The design of the boardwalk should include widened 
areas to accommodate seating and fishing.  In 
conjunction with the boardwalk construction, there 
are opportunities to enhance the fisheries habitat 
with cover and spawning areas, as well as enhancing 
the riparian bank with plants that support songbirds, 
butterflies, and riparian mammals and help filter 
runoff from adjacent lawns. 

This boardwalk idea was included in the Public Engagement Round Two and received strong support.

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 119 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River96

 

LOWER BOARDMAN GATEWAY PARK
The existing park land should be enhanced to create 
a wetland or wet meadow habitat to enhance the 
aesthetic and environmental value of the land.  The 
parcel is one of the few in the river corridor that have 
the depth and location in which more significant 

habitat benefits could connect from the river into 
the neighborhood.  The park could also become an 
excellent setting for public art, with a special focus on 
creating a gateway feature as river users transition 
from Boardman Lake into the Lower Boardman River 
and downtown.

REACH TWO

NORTH SHORE LANDSCAPE ENHANCEMENTS
Much of the north shore in this reach is publicly owned which provides opportunities to enhance the fisheries 
habitat with cover and spawning areas, as well as enhancing the riparian bank with plants that support 
songbirds, butterflies, and riparian mammals and help filter runoff from adjacent lawns.  The county has 
developed a plan for enhancing the boardwalk adjacent to the government center and improve the connection 
from Eighth Street to the boardwalk with a universally accessible path.  The DDA has coordinated with the county 
to ensure that the improvements limit manicured landscape adjacent to the water.

ILLUSTRATIVE UNIFIED PLAN REACH TWO

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 120 of 494



smithgroup.com 97

 CASS STREET BRIDGE BOARDWALK
The South Cass Street bridge design poses some difficultly in making a universally accessible connection from 
the existing boardwalk to the dam area. Alternatives considered during Public Engagement Round Two include a 
floating boardwalk or a semi-submerged walk. 

Public engagement participants indicated a preference for the floating boardwalk, which is the less expensive 
alternative.

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

SKETCH OF CASS STREET BRIDGE UNDERPASS

Page 121 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River98

 

FISHPASS
The FishPass project proposes, among other things, significant upgrades in river-based amenities, learning 
opportunities, habitat, and accessibility and connectivity of riverfront walks between Union and Cass Streets.  
Further, the plan included the replacement of the Union Street Dam (which has significant issues related to its 
condition and longevity) and new technology and design approaches to managing the movement of invasive 
species in the river system.  Specific program elements of the project include:

 � Pedestrian access connecting Union Street to Cass 
Street on the north side of the river.

 � New universally accessible paths on the south side 
of the river.

 � Future access potential under the Union Street 
bridge on the south side of the river linking FishPass 
to Hannah Park.  

 � A pedestrian bridge connecting the north and south 
sides of the river.

 � Interpretive overlooks and an outdoor classroom.

 � Kayak portage around FishPass and universally 
accessible launches.

 � Stream habitat improvements to riparian bank and 
riverbed.

 � Rain gardens for stormwater treatment.

 � Removal and replacement of the dam with new 
structures to improve fish management.

 � Landscaping, seating, lighting, and related park 
amenities.

While FishPass is the subject of ongoing litigation, it is important to consider how the goals of universally 
accessible pedestrian connectivity, habitat improvement, kayak access, fish access management, and dam 
stabilization could be addressed should the FishPass project not be implemented.  Given the high cost of 
addressing the dam stabilization issue, it is clear the city will need to pursue outside finding sources and 
partnerships to support this effort.  The DDA could become one of those partners in the planning, design, and 
construction of the improvements as an element of the overall plan for the Lower Boardman River.

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 122 of 494



smithgroup.com 99

REACH THREE

HANNAH PARK
First and foremost, Hannah Park should retain its 
pastoral character.  To improve accessibility, the 
existing path along the former railroad should be paved 
and improved and a second trail installed parallel 
to the riverfront providing a link to some riverfront 
overlooks, while connecting under the Union Street 
bridge to the FishPass site.  The landscape treatment 
between this second trail can build on recent work to 
plant native materials and create habitat in the east 
half of the park.  There is considerable depth of open 

space in the park to create a wide range of habitat 
enhancements and link the river, floodplain edge and 
upland together.  

The western half of the park offers great potential to 
enhance the floodplain and create some open water as 
a small oxbow, enhancing fish nursery spawning areas 
as well as habitat for reptiles and amphibians.  A path/
boardwalk could provide access to this area in a way 
that does not inhibit the environmental connectivity to 
the river channel.

 ILLUSTRATIVE UNIFIED PLAN REACH THREE

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 123 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River100

 

TREE TOP CANOPY WALK/PINE STREET PEDESTRIAN BRIDGE
The idea of an elevated tree top walk provides for a 
unique perspective of the river and a great place to 
observe and learn about river shaping processes, 
habitats and wildlife (especially birds).  This idea could 
be incorporated into a proposed pedestrian bridge from 
the railroad grade to the easement adjacent to the 

Uptown development, connecting the two segments of 
Pine Street.

The tree top canopy walk idea was included in the 
Public Engagement Round Two and received strong 
support.

EXAMPLE OF A TREE TOP WALK, WHITING FOREST, MIDLAND, MI

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 124 of 494



smithgroup.com 101

STATE STREET PARKING LOT
Parking Lot E on State Street provides an 
opportunity to create an enhanced connection 
to the Lower Boardman River and create more 
urban open space amidst a part of downtown 
experiencing development and change. 
Alternatives considered by the public range 
from:

 � Alternative A creating a new urban park on 
the river.

 � Alternative B enhancing the parking lot 
to connect the existing boardwalk to State 
Street.

 � Alternative C creating park space with a 
Aanishinaabek’s Education Center.

Participants from the workshops and the 
online survey did not support the same 
alternative, with workshop voters preferring 
Alternative C, while survey voters preferring 
Alternative A.  The UNIFIED PLAN recommends 
that both approaches be considered as this 
project moves forward, and that the public 
engagement specific to the future design 
process establish a direction.

 STATE STREET PARKING LOT ALTERNATIVE CONCEPTS

Recognize parking to Improve Pedestrian Circulation

Partially Develop Lot and Access Improvements

Create Passive Urban Park and Demonstration Gardens

A

B

C

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 125 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River102

 

WEST BEND
The western bend of the river near Hall/Wadsworth 
Streets is one of the more challenging sections of 
the river to provide access.  The area includes a mix 
of housing types and the highly valued Hannah 
Park.  Previous public input suggested a pedestrian 
river crossing in the western bend of the river and 
connections to the proposed pedestrian underpass 
at Front Street.  The goal of access improvements in 
this area is to connect the north and south banks of 
the river, take advantage of the proposed underpass 
under Front Street, protect the privacy of residents, and 
preserve the character of Hannah Park.  

Alternatives considered during Public Engagement 
Round Two include:

 � Alternative A creates an elevated bridge across the 
river near Pine Street and a boardwalk in the river on 
the eastern bank.

 � Alternative B connects along the former railroad 
line but swings the path out over the bank with an 
elevated treetop boardwalk. Crossing the river occurs 
just south of Kids Creek Park.

 � Alternative C follows directly along the former 
railroad line and then crosses the river just south of 
Kids Creek.

REACH THREE ALTERNATIVE PATH ALIGNMENTS

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 126 of 494



smithgroup.com 103

Public engagement participants indicated strong 
preference for Alternative A.

Development of this boardwalk would need to be 
sensitive to the desire of the residents of Riverview 
Terrace for privacy. The development of this walk 
should also consider the popularity of the area near 
the Kids Creek Park outfall for fishing and include an 
overlook for such purposes.

On the western side of the river the sidewalk along 
Wadsworth should be “branded” through lighting, 
signage, paving, and other materials to clearly indicate 
that this walk is part of the riverwalk system. This type 
of branding could also connect visitors to the walk 
along Kids Creek Park near the fire station on Front 
Street, west of Oak Street.  The high bank of fill along 
Wadsworth is covered in large slabs of concrete rubble 
that hare partially hidden by vegetation.  This bank 
should be rehabilitated to offer a greener solution with 
more habitat value.

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 127 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River104

 

REACH FOUR

FISH WEIR KAYAK PORTAGE
The variability of water levels has led to difficulty 
traversing the fish weir. One idea that has been 
considered and illustrated is the installation of ramps 
that allow kayakers and others to portage around the 
weir along the south side of the river. 

The kayak portage idea was included in the Public 
Engagement Round Two and received strong support.

ILLUSTRATIVE UNIFIED PLAN REACH FOUR

PLAN VIEW DNR FISH WEIR KAYAK PORTAGE

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 128 of 494



smithgroup.com 105

UNION STREET OVERLOOK AND CONNECTING WALK
This small parcel of land east of Union Street offers an 
opportunity for a river overlook and for businesses to 
take advantage of river views.

 � Alternative A offers a modest overlook of the 
river.  The plan also illustrates the potential for 
redevelopment of the adjacent private property.

 � Alternative B features a larger deck suitable for 
small performances or gatherings and space for a 
food truck vendor.

 � Alternative C provides for a curving walk that 
widens into an overlook.

REACH FOUR SOUTH SHORE PATH AND BOARDWALK

The community supports the opportunity to create 
access and connectivity on both sides of the river 
between Union Street and the Pine Street pedestrian 
bridge.  As this stretch of river is quite popular for 
anglers, the illustrated plan shows a number of 
overlooks for fishing and visual access to the river

Public engagement participants indicated preference 
for Alternative C, and strong support for a path on the 
southern bank of the river between Union Street and 
the Pine Street pedestrian bridge.

A B C

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 129 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River106

 

CONNECTING THE WEST SIDE
Currently the path on the north bank of Reach four 
dead ends at the DNR fish weir.  The plan recommends 
that a sidewalk be created to link the fish weir to 
Hall Street through the public parking lot.  This walk, 
as well as Hall Street sidewalk (going south to Front 
Street), should be branded as part of the riverwalk as 
discussed above regarding Wadsworth Street.

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 130 of 494



smithgroup.com 107

REACH FIVE

100 BLOCK OF FRONT STREET
The area between the 100 block of Front Street and the 
river is public land, and there are infrastructure issues 
with the stability of the sewer, pavement, and the river 
wall. Fixing these issues offers an opportunity to “green” 
the bank of the river and create a space shared by 
service, parking, and public recreation.

This series of alternative concepts range in their 
intensity of public access to the river, and in the 
amount of space that is open to flexible use during 

events and gatherings.  Each assumes that part of the 
parking along the river would be removed to facilitate 
stabilization of the sewer and increase pedestrian and 
green space.  The alley would remain open for service 
and deliveries and access to private (and public) 
parking.  The alley would be designed to be pedestrian 
friendly through lighting, paving, traffic calming, and 
landscape improvements.

ILLUSTRATIVE UNIFIED PLAN REACH FIVE

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 131 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River108

 

Alternative A proposes a series of overlooks on the 
river that connect back to the primary walkway/alley.  
This approach leaves more of the shoreline “green” 
for habitat and water quality filtering.  The sketch 

PLAN VIEW OF 100 BLOCK

illustrations of this alternative also highlight the 
potential for redevelopment of sites on Front Street to 
increase density. 

AERIAL SKETCH OF 100 BLOCK

EYE LEVEL SKETCH OF 100 BLOCK

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 132 of 494



smithgroup.com 109

Alternative B celebrates the bridge crossing the river 
with larger overlooks and gathering areas. Between 
these overlooks are two stepped stone access points 

allowing anglers and others more immediate access to 
the water. 

PLAN VIEW OF 100 BLOCK

AERIAL SKETCH OF 100 BLOCK

EYE LEVEL SKETCH OF 100 BLOCK

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 133 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River110

 

Alternative C provides more continuous boardwalk 
along the river’s edge, several areas for seating 
and socializing, and two plaza spaces for small 
performances and events.  The sketch illustrations 

of this alternative also highlight the potential for 
redevelopment of sites on Front Street to increase 
density. 

PLAN VIEW OF 100 BLOCK

AERIAL SKETCH OF 100 BLOCK

EYE LEVEL SKETCH OF 100 BLOCK

Participants from the workshops and the online survey did not support the same alternative, with workshop 
voters preferring Alternative C, while survey voters preferring Alternative A.  We recommend that both approaches 
be considered as this project moves forward, and that the public engagement specific to the future design 
process set a direction. The illustrated UNIFIED PLAN shows a hybrid between these two potential scenarios. 

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 134 of 494



smithgroup.com 111

200 BLOCK OF FRONT STREET 
The 200 block of Front Street has a thinner band of 
property along the river than the 100 block, but there 
are still opportunities to create a more engaging 
pedestrian friendly space.  The illustration also shows 

SKETCH OF 200 BLOCK OF FRONT STREET

reconstructing the northern bank of the river to reduce 
parking and create recreation space, habitat that filters 
stormwater pollution, and public access to the river. On 
the south bank of the river the sketch shows overlooks, 

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 135 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River112

 

a new pedestrian bridge, new lighting, and decorative 
paving, all of which will help create a more pedestrian 
friendly, shared space character.  The sketch also 
shows the potential for redevelopment of private 
property to increase density and take advantage of the 
riverfront.

The ideas described above for the 200 block were 
included in the Public Engagement Round Two and 
received strong support.

Some concern was expressed during the public 
engagement that the proposed changes to this area 
may impact the use of the area for the Boats on the 
Boardwalk event, a classic wooden boat show, and this 
should be taken into consideration as plans for this 
area move forward.

This part of the reach is a good location for a kayak 
portage point on the north side of the river, so that 
recreational river users could disembark and visit 
downtown.

CONNECTING ACROSS GRANDVIEW PARKWAY
Currently the pedestrian walks along Grandview 
Parkway on the downtown side of the road are 
discontinuous through this reach, and the UNIFIED 
PLAN illustrates one approach to connecting from 
Union to Park Streets.  With the ongoing efforts by 
MDOT to redesign the parkway the city and DDA should 
advocate for these walks, as well as for improved 
pedestrian crossings at Union and Park Streets to 
better connect downtown to the waterfront.

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 136 of 494



smithgroup.com 113

REACH SIX

EAST END OF FRONT STREET (SOUTH OF GRANDVIEW PARKWAY)
The east end of the river corridor has a unique 
character and value. Unfortunately, from a pedestrian 
use perspective, the existing condition creates 
a pedestrian dead end that limits access and 
connections to the bay and East Front Street. This 
stretch of the river is home to boat slips, so any new 
crossing of the river will need to accommodate boat 
traffic. 

The ideas shown below test different approaches to 
creating a looped system for the path. 

 � Alternative A connects to the TART trail where Front 
Street meets Grandview Parkway, providing a new 

pedestrian bridge over the river and a boardwalk 
along the north side of the river.

 � Alternative B connects across the river at the base 
of Boardman Avenue, and then ramps down to the 
existing boardwalks.

 � Alternative C bridges the river near the boat launch.

Public engagement participants indicated strong 
preference for Alternative A.  After a review of the 
technical challenges, potential costs, and potential 
pedestrian conflicts with the boat launch, the 
Leadership Team determined that Alternative B is more 
feasible and desirable, and safer.

 ILLUSTRATIVE UNIFIED PLAN REACH SIX

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 137 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River114

 

EAST FRONT STREET
Four points exist along East Front Street where public 
property includes river frontage.  These parcels provide 
visual access to the river and large trees that shade 
the river and sidewalk.  As with many stretches of 
the riverfront downtown, the banks are stabilized by 
concrete rubble, and should be rehabilitated where 
feasible using green solutions that increase habitat 
value.  

The westernmost of these three parcels is at a point 
where the river widens.  This location could be home 
to a transient boat dock that encourages visitors to 
downtown.  While this idea is recommended for further 
consideration, there are a number of logistical issues 
that require further study, including how the dock will 
be managed and policed, if there is adequate space 
in the river to allow for safe navigation, how a ramp 
could be used to allow access to the dock, and if the 
loss of turning space for boats in the river would be 
detrimental. 

The parcel at the base of Wellington Street was 
improved decades ago as a pocket park and access to 
a walk along the river.  This facility is showing signs 
of wear on the decking, rust on the metal railings and 

light poles, and is being undermined by high water.  The 
plan recommends reconstructing this pocket park to 
provide clearer visual access to the water and universal 
access to the walk along the river.

EAST END OF FRONT STREET (NORTH OF GRANDVIEW PARKWAY)
The experience of the Lower Boardman River 
culminates with arrival at Grand Traverse Bay.  The 
publicly owned land on the east side of the river mouth 
provides scenic views of the bay, a complex natural 
system, and a rich history of use by the local tribes 
as an encampment.  The UNIFIED PLAN illustrates 
enhanced habitat and boardwalks to provide access to 
the bay and connections to the TART trail.  

CONNECTING ACROSS GRANDVIEW PARKWAY
The reconstruction of Grandview Parkway is a 
fortuitous chance to make the pedestrian crossing 
between downtown and the bay safer and more 
convenient.  The city and DDA should continue to 
advocate for intersection improvements at Front Street.  
One idea that came out of the second round of public 
engagement (and worth further consideration) is to 
provide a mid-block crossing between Park Street and 
Front Street near the boat launch.  

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 138 of 494



smithgroup.com 115

PLAN IMPLEMENTATION

ANTICIPATED INVESTMENT AND PROJECT PHASING
The UNIFIED PLAN outlines an ambitious program for improving recreation access, pollution control, 
environmental restoration, learning, and habitat creation along the Lower Boardman River.  Large scale plans 
such as this are rarely, if ever, accomplished as a single project, but are implemented over time in multiple 
phases as priorities and potential funding become clear.

This study assessed (in a general way) the potential costs associated with constructing the plans on a reach-
by-reach basis.  Construction costs of a project can vary significantly based on the assumptions made relative 
to the level of improvements.  For instance, lighting can be designed to provide pools of light at key turns 
of a boardwalk, stairs, and gathering places, or it could illuminate the entire path system consistently.  The 
cost difference between these two approaches can be 100% higher for the more consistent lighting.  Similarly, 
assumptions about path materials can be dramatically different; for instance, a raised wooden boardwalk is 
significantly more costly than an at-grade paved path.

At this level of planning, we are estimating at the "order 
of magnitude" level of detail given that the design is not 
finalized, detailed site topographic and utility surveys 
have not been performed, and it is uncertain what 
year the project(s) will be built and what the prevailing 
costs will be at the time. What cost estimates at this 
level of planning do is provide an overall sense of 
relative costs between reaches, and some guidance for 
the preparation of future budgets and CIP projections.  
The estimate is summarized by reach below:

Reach One $2,600,000

Reach Two $1,400,000

Reach Three $6,600,000

Reach Four $2,900,000

Reach Five $9,500,000

Reach Six $4,200,000

TOTAL PROJECT $27,200,000

Basic assumptions made in the estimate are as 
follows:

 � The estimate is based on 2021 construction costs, 
without escalation for future years.

 � The construction costs are based upon the pre-
design conceptual ideas and as such reflects the 
current level of design detail.

 � The estimate includes construction costs, and a 20% 
contingency that would include a 10% contingency 
for minor items discovered during the design 
process and 10% for construction period additions 
to the work. The estimate does not include soft costs 
associated with a construction project (i.e. items 
such as construction inspections, construction 
management, agency review/permitting, testing, 
general administration costs, and design/
engineering fees).  Together these soft costs are 
typically valued between 25 to 40% of the estimated 
construction cost.

 � The estimate includes site preparation, grading, 
known utility work (for the 100 block), storm sewers, 
bank restoration, lighting, site furnishings and 
amenities, paths, boardwalks, railings, landscaping, 
habitat structures, and erosion control.  

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 139 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River116

 

 � The costs for utility improvements are included 
for known project specific improvements only.  
Additional utility modifications and improvements 
may be required.  The completion of a utility survey 
may identify additional utilities.  

 � The costs associated with land acquisition, 
easement/lease procurement, and other land rights 
have not been included.

 � The removal of contaminated/hazardous soils and 
materials, underground obstructions, and other 
unknown conditions may exist within the project 
limits and as such are not included.

As referenced above, projects like those recommended 
in the UNIFIED PLAN are typically implemented in a 
number of phases.  As part of Public Engagement 
Round Two the online survey inquired as to the public's 
sense of which projects to prioritize.  Participants of 
the August 17, 2021  public workshop were asked to 
prioritize projects as well.  Finally, the Leadership Team 
reviewed the public input and themselves weighed in 
on project priorities, taking into account the need to 
address immediate health and safety concerns as well 
as the established project values.

HIGHEST PRIORITY PROJECTS
 � The south bank of Reach Five (100 and 200 blocks 

of Front Street) is clearly the highest priority project 
from all groups, given the health and safety concerns 
related to the existing retaining wall and sewer.

 � In Reach Three, upgrade the existing gravel path 
through Hannah Park along the former rail road bed, 
and extend the existing boardwalk on the north and 
east sides of the river to, and under, Front Street.

MODERATE PRIORITY PROJECTS
 � In Reach One, construction of a boardwalk on the 

west side of the river and improvements to the 
existing public space south of Riverine Apartments.

 � In Reach Three, improvements for habitat and 
access in Hannah Park and along Wadsworth Street.

 � In Reach Four, installation of a boardwalk and kayak 
portage around the fish weir.

 � In Reach Five, habitat and access improvements on 
the north side of the river.

 � In Reach Six, landscape and access improvements in 
existing pocket parks and boardwalks.

LOWER PRIORITY PROJECTS
 � In Reach Two, landscape and habitat improvements 

on the north side of the river, plus the addition of a 
boardwalk under Cass Street.

 � In Reach Three, construction of a new pedestrian 
bridge and tree top walk over the river.

 � In Reach Three, improvements to the State Street 
parking lot.  

 � In Reach Four, landscape and access improvements 
along the river, and along Hall Street.

 � In Reach Six, habitat and access improvements to 
the public land along the shore of the bay.  

This list of priorities should be used as a guideline for 
future discussions by the city and DDA to plan future 
project and funding pursuits.

There are a number of small but visible improvements 
along the river corridor that could be completed by 
volunteers or small contractors. These "low hanging 
fruit" type projects do not necessarily rise to the top 
of the project priority list above; however, they can 

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 140 of 494



smithgroup.com 117

have a big impact on the public perception of the river 
and create momentum for change. These projects 
could include creating small rain gardens, hosting 
river cleanup days, management of invasive trees 
and shrubs, planting of native trees and flowers, 
adding benches and resting places, and basic repair of 
existing pedestrian boardwalks and related assets to 
"spruce-up" the riverfront.

POTENTIAL FUNDING SOURCES
Below is a list of potential grant sources for funding the 
implementation of the Lower Boardman River UNIFIED 
PLAN. The primary focus of these grants is to encourage 
recreation/fishing access to waterways, enhance water 
quality, or enhance and create wetland and fisheries 
habitat.  All these elements are needed in the proposed 
project area. Our experience is that projects typically 
need to rely on multiple sources for grants. This is 
not an exhaustive list, and we need to evaluate each 
of these to determine the specific applicability to the 
project, timing of the grant cycle, and where you can 
get the most return for the effort to pursue. 

DNR GRANTS
 � The Fisheries Habitat Grant supports a variety of 

activities to benefit fisheries, aquatic resources, and 
the public, including fish habitat conservation, dam 
removal and repair, and access to recreation.

 � Recreation Passport Grants provide funding to 
local units for the development of public recreation 
facilities. This includes the development of new 
facilities and the renovation of old facilities.

 � The Michigan Natural Resources Trust Fund (MNRTF) 
provides for natural resource protection and outdoor 
recreation. (e.g., trails, regional significance, public 
access to lakes and rivers, wildlife habitat, hunting 
access).

EGLE GRANTS
 � Nonpoint Source Pollution Control Grants: Federal 

Clean Water Act Section 319 provides funding to 
implement nonpoint source activities identified 
in EGLE-approved watershed management plans. 
Implementation activities must address specific 
sources of nonpoint source pollution identified 
by Michigan’s Nonpoint Source Program Plan. The 
goal of these grants is to restore waters impaired 
by nonpoint source pollution and protect high 
quality waters from degradation. This funding 
source provides for the implementation of physical 
improvements as well as information/education 
strategies, land use planning, the installation of 
easements, and related activities.

 � Nonpoint Source Pollution Control Grants: Clean 
Michigan Initiative provides funding to implement 
the physical improvements in approved watershed 
management plans intended to restore impaired 
waters and protect high quality waters. Practices 
must address specific sources of nonpoint source 
pollution identified by Michigan’s Nonpoint Source 
Program Plan. Physical improvements are structural 
and vegetative BMPs.  The goal of these grants is 
to restore waters impaired by nonpoint source 
pollution and protect high quality waters from 
degradation.

 � Coastal Management Planning and Construction 
Grants assist in the protection, preservation, 
restoration, and enhancement of the nation’s 
longest freshwater coastline, the Michigan Coastal 
Management (MCM) Program provides grant 
funds to promote vibrant and resilient coastal 
communities.

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 141 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River118

 

NATIONAL FISH AND WILDLIFE FOUNDATION (NFWF )
 � Sustain Our Great Lakes (SOGL): Green 

Infrastructure; Aquatic connectivity; Shoreline 
habitat; Wetland habitat; Stream & riparian habitat, 
Invasive Species.

 � Coastal Resilience Fund: Living shorelines 
community protection and habitat.

 � Five Star and Urban Waters Restoration Grant 
Program: Wetland, riparian, in-stream, and coastal 
wetland habitat restoration.

THE GREAT LAKES FISHERY TRUST (GLFT)
Provides funding to non-profit organizations, 
educational institutions, and government agencies to 
enhance, protect, and rehabilitate Great Lakes fishery 
resources.

The GLFT pursues its mission and vision through 
investments in three broad categories:

 � Access to the Great Lakes Fishery

 � Ecosystem Health and Sustainable Fish Populations

 � Great Lakes Stewardship

ECONOMIC RECOVERY/INFRASTRUCTURE
Recent and anticipated bills from the federal 
government are aimed at providing local relief from the 
Covid-19 epidemic, offering an opportunity for financial 
support to offset economic and health impacts, as well 
as for projects that build community resiliency.  This 
effort is ongoing and should be monitored closely to 
determine if there is an application of these funds for 
the projects and initiatives outlined in the UNIFIED 
PLAN.

CONGRESSIONAL BUDGETING
The U.S. Congress has amended their practices for 
budgeting to allow for the annual budget to include 
project specific funding for each congressional district 
and state.  This practice now includes provisions 
to make such funding more transparent and each 
congressperson and senator is required to publicly 
indicate the projects they support are included in the 
annual budget.

This practice is well suited to funding projects like 
those included in the UNIFIED PLAN, which do not fit 
into a specific category of existing funding sources 
but which also meet an important public need for local 
communities.  

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

Page 142 of 494



smithgroup.com 119

Chapter 4. The Illustrated Plan

MOVING FORWARD
Moving forward will necessitate the development of key 
partnerships within local government agencies, non-
profits, advocacy groups, other key public stakeholders, 
and the greater Traverse City community. The DDA and 
the Leadership Team (or their successors) will continue 
to build partnerships through an open and transparent 
public planning process, and ongoing connections with 
stakeholders of all types.  The planning process will 
continue to engage the community and take direction 
from their input and guidance.   

At the conclusion of this initial study the Leadership 
Team and DDA will lead the charge in the adoption 
of the UNIFIED PLAN and the practices and values it 
promotes.  As the plan moves into the implementation 
phase, the DDA and its partners will continue 
the process of measuring needs, identifying new 
opportunities, and establishing priorities for moving 
forward.  Given the strong participation by the 
community in the UNIFIED PLAN, the community will be 
pleased when all new projects on the river reflect these 
values and considers the value of natural habitat, as 
well as human use!

Ultimately, this process is about implementing a 
unifying plan for the Lower Boardman River.  With the 
engagement and unity of all interests, the city and DDA 
will be in a sound position to achieve implementation 
and celebrate the results together.  

The  work does not end with the completion of the 
plan. The DDA and Leadership Team recognize that a 
willing and supportive community is critical to the 
implementation of the UNIFIED PLAN. 

Page 143 of 494



Traverse City Downtown Development Authority  Unified Plan of the Lower Boardman River120

 

Page 144 of 494



APPENDICES

Page 145 of 494



smithgroup.com 
734.662.4457

201 Depot Street 
2nd Floor 

Ann Arbor, Michigan 48104

Page 146 of 494



APPENDICES

Page 147 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 148 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 149 of 494



  
 

                                                                                                                                                           

 1 of 12

Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 150 of 494



  
 

                                                                                                                                                           

 2 of 12

•
•
•

•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

•
•

Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 151 of 494



  
 

                                                                                                                                                           

 3 of 12

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 152 of 494



  
 

                                                                                                                                                           

 4 of 12

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

•

•
•
•
•
•

•

•

•
•

•
•
•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 153 of 494



  
 

                                                                                                                                                           

 5 of 12

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 154 of 494



  
 

                                                                                                                                                           

 6 of 12

•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 155 of 494



  
 

                                                                                                                                                           

 7 of 12

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 156 of 494



  
 

                                                                                                                                                           

 8 of 12

•

•
•

•

•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 157 of 494



  
 

                                                                                                                                                           

 9 of 12

•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

•

•

•

•
•
•
•

•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 158 of 494



  
 

                                                                                                                                                           

 10 of 12

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

−
−
−
−

•
•

•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 159 of 494



  
 

                                                                                                                                                           

 11 of 12

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 160 of 494



  
 

                                                                                                                                                           

 12 of 12

•

•
•
•

•

•
•

•
•

•

Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 161 of 494



  
 

                                                                                                                                                           

 1 of 7






Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 162 of 494



  
 

                                                                                                                                                           

 2 of 7








































Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 163 of 494



  
 

                                                                                                                                                           

 3 of 7






















































Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 164 of 494



  
 

                                                                                                                                                           

 4 of 7






































Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 165 of 494



  
 

                                                                                                                                                           

 5 of 7

Foster the restoration of native fisheries, herpetological and ornithological resources, and landscape to 
be consistent with best riparian and aquatic science and water and land management practices and be 
harmonious with the River. (5 positive votes) 
Make nature-based stormwater best management practices (BMP’s) a priority. (4 positive votes) 
Prohibit further hardening of the shorelines that are inconsistent with the Plan. (3 positive votes) 
Be explicit to the commitment to improve, restore and protect the health and integrity of the Riparian 
ecosystem of the lower River. (3 positive votes) 
Ensure that the natural flow of the River is enhanced and not curtailed or impeded by any element of 
the Plan. (3 positive votes) 
Manage invasive vegetation and protect and retain existing native vegetation and add native 
vegetation where possible. (2 positive votes) 
Reflect the City’s commitment to the River as a public resource and asset to be passed to residents 
and visitors in perpetuity. (2 positive votes) 
Use the natural and cultural values of the River as a guide for decisions about the commercial, 
economic or utilitarian values to be leveraged for the public good. (2 positive votes) 
Help ensure that new or rehabilitated developments along the River are compatible with the City’s 
renewable energy goals. (2 positive votes) 
Provide that the recommended initiatives contained in the Plan will account for the impact of those 
initiatives on residents, habitats and the ecological status of the River. (2 positive votes) 
Enhance ecological and aesthetic River conditions, take advantage of and integrate iconic structures 
and identify new sites and structures that serve as destination or centers of programming to attract 
year-round access. (0 votes) 
Establish that development sites, destinations and structures must protect the health, aesthetics, 
accessibility and health of the relationship between the river and residents/visitors. (0 votes) 
Contain public goals for the River and City, in keeping with the community’s visions about what the 
River is and can become as a centerpiece for downtown identity and ethos.  (0 votes) 
Serve to foster and sustain partnerships with shared responsibilities among public and private 
stakeholders who share the value that the Boardman is a “common resource” that connects everyone. 
(0 votes) 
Identify/prioritize opportunities for multi-modal access to the River. (0 votes) 
Integrate existing river walks and pathways with new connections between sites and destinations that 
link the River to the city in ways that are physical, visual, aesthetic and psychological. (0 votes). 
 

Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 166 of 494



  
 

                                                                                                                                                           

 6 of 7

Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 167 of 494



  
 

                                                                                                                                                           

 7 of 7

Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 168 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 169 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 170 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 171 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 172 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 173 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 174 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 175 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 176 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 177 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 178 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 179 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 180 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 181 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 182 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 183 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 184 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 185 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 186 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 187 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 188 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 189 of 494



�

Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 190 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 191 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 192 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 193 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 194 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 195 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 196 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 197 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 198 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 199 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 200 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 201 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 202 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 203 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 204 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 205 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 206 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 207 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 208 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 209 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 210 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 211 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 212 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 213 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 214 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 215 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 216 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 217 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 218 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 219 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 220 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 221 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 222 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 223 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 224 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 225 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 226 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 227 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 228 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 229 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 230 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 231 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 232 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 233 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 234 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 235 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 236 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 237 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 238 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 239 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 240 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 241 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 242 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 243 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 244 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 245 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 246 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 247 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 248 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 249 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 250 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 251 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 252 of 494



Appendix 1. Round One Public Engagement Results

Page 253 of 494



Appendix 2. Existing Conditions Mapping

Page 254 of 494



Appendix 2. Existing Conditions Mapping

Page 255 of 494



Appendix 2. Existing Conditions Mapping

Page 256 of 494



Appendix 2. Existing Conditions Mapping

Page 257 of 494



Appendix 2. Existing Conditions Mapping

Page 258 of 494



Appendix 2. Existing Conditions Mapping

Page 259 of 494



Appendix 2. Existing Conditions Mapping

Page 260 of 494



Appendix 2. Existing Conditions Mapping

Page 261 of 494



Appendix 2. Existing Conditions Mapping

Page 262 of 494



Appendix 2. Existing Conditions Mapping

Page 263 of 494



Appendix 2. Existing Conditions Mapping

Page 264 of 494



Appendix 2. Existing Conditions Mapping

Page 265 of 494



Appendix 2. Existing Conditions Mapping

Page 266 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 267 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 268 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 269 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 270 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 271 of 494



•
o

•

o

Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 272 of 494



•
o

•
o

•
o

•

o
•

o

Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 273 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 274 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 275 of 494



•
•

•
•
•
•

•

Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 276 of 494



•

•

•
•

Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 277 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 278 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 279 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 280 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 281 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 282 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 283 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 284 of 494



Know what's

R

Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 285 of 494



Know what's

R

Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 286 of 494



Know what's

R

Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 287 of 494



Know what's

R

Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 288 of 494



Know what's

R

Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 289 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 290 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 291 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 292 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 293 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 294 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 295 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 296 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 297 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 298 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 299 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 300 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 301 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 302 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 303 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 304 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 305 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 306 of 494



Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 307 of 494



S

S

1
4,5

UN
IO

N 
ST

CA
SS

 S
T

CONNECT INTO
EXISTING SANITARY
MANHOLE

REMOVE EXISTING RETAINING WALL ON 100
BLOCK AND RESTORE NATURAL SHORE LINE

NEW SANITARY
MANHOLE TO INTERCEPT
EXISTING SANITARY MAIN

24" SANITARY SEWER APPROXIMATE
EXTENTS OF
ASPHALT PAVEMENT

CURB AND GUTTER

PEDESTRIAN SIDEWALK

LANDSCAPED AREA
AND NATURAL
SHORE LINE
RESTORATION

1
BOARDMAN RIVER WALL

JANUARY 15, 2020

SCALE

BOARDMAN RIVER
LAYOUT PLAN

0' 40'20'
DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING SCALE

DATE

PROJECT NAME

DRAWING NUMBER

MA
TC

HL
IN

E:
 S

EE
 S

HE
ET

 2

201 DEPOT STREET
SECOND FLOOR
ANN ARBOR, MI  48104
734.662.4457
www.smithgroup.com

Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 308 of 494



2
4,5

CA
SS

 S
T

PA
RK

 S
T

SHEET PILE WALL AND
CONCRETE FILL

SHEET PILE WALL AND
CONCRETE FILL

APPROXIMATE
EXTENTS OF ASPHALT
PAVEMENT

EXISTING RETAINING
WALL TO REMAIN

EXISTING RETAINING
WALL TO REMAIN

APPROXIMATE
EXTENTS OF ASPHALT
PAVEMENT

2
BOARDMAN RIVER WALL

JANUARY 15, 2020

SCALE

BOARDMAN RIVER
LAYOUT PLAN

0' 40'20'
DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING SCALE

DATE

PROJECT NAME

DRAWING NUMBER

MA
TC

HL
IN

E:
 S

EE
 S

HE
ET

 1

201 DEPOT STREET
SECOND FLOOR
ANN ARBOR, MI  48104
734.662.4457
www.smithgroup.com

Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 309 of 494



565

570

575

580

585

590

595

600

565

570

575

580

585

590

595

600

8'-
0"8'-
6"

1'-0" 3'-0" GAP BETWEEN BOTTOM OF WALL
AND RIVER BOTTOM GRADE, TYP.

T/WALL 585.15T/WALL 585.65

WALL PILE, TYP.RIVER BOTTOM GRADE

WATER LEVEL 581.40,
RECORDED NOV 24, 2020

SCALE: 1" = 10'
TYPICAL WALL ELEVATION1

201 DEPOT STREET
SECOND FLOOR
ANN ARBOR, MI  48104
734.662.4457
www.smithgroup.com

3
BOARDMAN RIVER WALL

JANUARY 15, 2020

SCALE

BOARDMAN RIVER
TYPICAL WALL ELEVATION

0' 10'5'
DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING SCALE

DATE

PROJECT NAME

DRAWING NUMBER

Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 310 of 494



565

570

575

580

585

590

595

600

565

570

575

580

585

590

595

600

3'-1" VOID UNDER WALL
CREATED BY SCOURING

EXISTING PAVEMENT/ALLEY

EXISTING CURB AND SIDEWALK

EXISTING BUILDING

WATER LEVEL 581.40, RECORDED NOV 24, 2020

NORTH RIVER BANK
EXISTING RETAINING WALL

EXISTING BOTTOM
OF RIVER GRADE

EXISTING SANITARY
SERVICE LINES IN
POOR CONDITION

EXISTING SANITARY
IE 579.14

APPROXIMATE PRE-FILL GRADE
AREA ABOVE CONTAINS FILL SOILS
FROM FIRST HALF OF THE 20TH
CENTURY

EXISTING DUCT BANK OR
CLUSTER OF ELECTRICAL,
COMMUNICATION, AND FIBER
UTILITIES

SURFACE SUBSIDENCE

570

575

580

585

590

595

600

570

575

580

585

590

595

600

2'-4" VOID UNDER WALL
CREATED BY SCOURING

EXISTING BUILDING

EXISTING SANITARY
24" IE 578.86

WATER LEVEL 581.40, RECORDED NOV 24, 2020

NORTH RIVER BANK

EXISTING PAVEMENT/ALLEY

EXISTING SIDEWALK

EXISTING BOTTOM
OF RIVER GRADE

APPROXIMATE PRE-FILL GRADE
AREA ABOVE CONTAINS FILL SOILS
FROM FIRST HALF OF THE 20TH
CENTURY

SURFACE SUBSIDENCEEXISTING DUCT BANK OR
CLUSTER OF ELECTRICAL,
COMMUNICATION, AND FIBER
UTILITIES EXISTING SANITARY

SERVICE LINE

SCALE: 1" = 10'
EXISTING CROSS SECTION - 100 BLOCK1

201 DEPOT STREET
SECOND FLOOR
ANN ARBOR, MI  48104
734.662.4457
www.smithgroup.com

SCALE: 1" = 10'
EXISTING CROSS SECTION - 200 BLOCK2

4
BOARDMAN RIVER WALL

JANUARY 15, 2020

SCALE

BOARDMAN RIVER
EXISTING CONDITION
SECTIONS

0' 10'5'
DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING SCALE

DATE

PROJECT NAME

DRAWING NUMBER

Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 311 of 494



565

570

575

580

585

590

595

600

565

570

575

580

585

590

595

600

RESTORE PAVEMENT/ALLEY PROPOSED CURB AND SIDEWALK

EXISTING BUILDING

PROPOSED SANITARY
24" IE 578.88

WATER LEVEL 581.40, RECORDED NOV 24, 2020

NORTH RIVER BANK

RIP-RAP BANK STABILIZATION
STONE/FISHERY STRUCTURE

EXISTING BOTTOM
OF RIVER GRADE

PROPOSED
BANK GRADE

EXISTING PILES TO REMAIN

APPROXIMATE PRE-FILL GRADE
AREA ABOVE CONTAINS FILL SOILS
FROM FIRST HALF OF THE 20TH
CENTURY

EXISTING DUCT BANK OR
CLUSTER OF ELECTRICAL,
COMMUNICATION, AND FIBER
UTILITIES

REPLACE SANITARY
SERVICE LINES

570

575

580

585

590

595

600

570

575

580

585

590

595

600

EXISTING BUILDING

EXISTING SANITARY
24" IE 578.86

WATER LEVEL 581.40, RECORDED NOV 24, 2020

NORTH RIVER BANK

EXISTING DUCT BANK OR
CLUSTER OF ELECTRICAL,
COMMUNICATION, AND FIBER
UTILITIES

EXISTING PAVEMENT/ALLEY, REPAIR AS NECESSARY

EXISTING SIDEWALK FILL AS NEEDED TO STABILIZE
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER
AND SANITARY LEADS

EXISTING SANITARY
LEAD, TYP.
REPAIR LEAD AS
NECESSARY

SHEET PILE WALL

EXISTING BOTTOM
OF RIVER GRADE

APPROXIMATE PRE-FILL GRADE
AREA ABOVE CONTAINS FILL SOILS
FROM FIRST HALF OF THE 20TH
CENTURY

APPROXIMATE LIMITS
OF CONCRETE FILL

SCALE: 1" = 10'
PROPOSED CROSS SECTION - 100 BLOCK1

SCALE: 1" = 10'
PROPOSED CROSS SECTION - 200 BLOCK2

201 DEPOT STREET
SECOND FLOOR
ANN ARBOR, MI  48104
734.662.4457
www.smithgroup.com

5
BOARDMAN RIVER WALL

JANUARY 15, 2020

SCALE

BOARDMAN RIVER
PROPOSED CONDITIONS
SECTIONS

0' 10'5'
DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING SCALE

DATE

PROJECT NAME

DRAWING NUMBER

Appendix 3. Boardman River Wall Stabilization Report

Page 312 of 494



Appendix 4. Proposed Riparian Buffer Ordinance

Page 313 of 494



Appendix 4. Proposed Riparian Buffer Ordinance

Page 314 of 494



Appendix 4. Proposed Riparian Buffer Ordinance

Page 315 of 494



Appendix 4. Proposed Riparian Buffer Ordinance

Page 316 of 494



Appendix 4. Proposed Riparian Buffer Ordinance

Page 317 of 494



Appendix 4. Proposed Riparian Buffer Ordinance

Page 318 of 494



Appendix 4. Proposed Riparian Buffer Ordinance

Page 319 of 494



Appendix 4. Proposed Riparian Buffer Ordinance

Page 320 of 494



Appendix 4. Proposed Riparian Buffer Ordinance

Page 321 of 494



Appendix 4. Proposed Riparian Buffer Ordinance

Page 322 of 494



Appendix 4. Proposed Riparian Buffer Ordinance

Page 323 of 494



Appendix 4. Proposed Riparian Buffer Ordinance

Page 324 of 494



Appendix 4. Proposed Riparian Buffer Ordinance

Page 325 of 494



Appendix 4. Proposed Riparian Buffer Ordinance

Page 326 of 494



Appendix 4. Proposed Riparian Buffer Ordinance

Page 327 of 494



Appendix 4. Proposed Riparian Buffer Ordinance

Page 328 of 494



Appendix 4. Proposed Riparian Buffer Ordinance

Page 329 of 494



•

•

•

•

•

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 330 of 494



•

•

•
•

•
•

•
•
•

•
•

•

•
•

•

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 331 of 494



•
•

•

•
•

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 332 of 494



LOWER BOARDMAN-OTTAWAY RIVER
PUBLIC ON-LINE SURVEY REPORT

AUGUST 17, 2021

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 333 of 494



PURPOSE

2 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

Background
 A comprehensive public 

engagement program 
was conducted in July 
of 2017

 The DDA and Leadership 
Team sought public 
input on ideas related 
to land use policy and 
best practices, and 
physical development 
of the riverfront for 
recreation and habitat 

Engagement 
Opportunities
1. A website that outlined 

alternatives and ideas 
being considered

2. An on-line survey
3. A set of four focus group 

meetings
4. Three public open house 

meetings
5.A series of Pop-Up

Workshops conducted in 
downtown.

This Report
 Provides a summary of 

the on-line engagement 
survey, and a 
comparison in the 
preferences expressed 
during the survey with 
those from the face-to-
face workshops. 

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 334 of 494



ON-LINE SURVEY

3 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140

Disqualified

Partial

Complete 124

117

177 respondents

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 335 of 494



ON-LINE SURVEY

4 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

Comments from people who responded Other-Write In :

I live just inside Leelanau county in Elmwood township 
East Bay Township 
Former resident, migrated just outside county line. 
Grew up here then moved to California. Currently residing with 
my dad in tc
I Live in Elmwood Twp 
I grew up in TC and I own a condo here, but I am not a resident. 
I live in and own a business downtown 
I lived in TC for 10 years. Have lived in Greilickville for the past 
20 years. Have loved walking near the river over the years, and 
continue to do so.
Leelanau County resident 
Lived near upper Boardman 23 years 
Local Government Official 
Summer resident

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 336 of 494



PARKING

5 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 The proposed ordinance restricts parking from being in the riparian 
buffer to protect water quality. Do you believe the setback should 
restrict new parking adjacent to the river?

Survey
(99 responses)

25 ft setback at the very least 
I support it, but I really hope there are plans to 
address downtown parking, we also work and 
own a business downtown, it becomes a huge 
issue for us and employees

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 337 of 494



RECREATIONAL USE OF THE RIPARIAN BUFFER

6 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

Survey
(98 responses)

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 338 of 494



RECREATIONAL USE OF THE RIPARIAN BUFFER

7 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

Comments from people who responded Other-Write In :

I would support but would allow invasive species and 
trees causing existing structural damage (roots in 
foundations, etc.) to be allowed to be removed and 
replaced with more site appropriate and native 
landscaping.
Prohibit fertilizers & weed kill. Change setbacks to 35 ft 
and no hardwalls. 
Should be totally public, not private at all
The public input feels like a sham. The DDA (sic)
There should be no private use of the buffer whatsoever. 
Public access (sic) sites should include on the the (sic) 
minimal use necessary to access the river with 
motorless watercraft.
Too vague. Natural bank to remain!!! 
need more information 
protection of the river comes first

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 339 of 494



LEVELS OF USE AND BEHAVIOR

8 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 



Survey
(99 responses)

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 340 of 494



LEVELS OF USE AND BEHAVIOR

9 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

Comments from people who responded Other-Write In :

Amend how? I support signage and facilities, but 
do NOT support increased allowance of alcohol or 
extended noise allowance
I agree with the first sentence, but am totally 
against the second sentence. It is about 
enforcement not cooperation.
I need more specifics before I can give blanket 
approval on new ordinances. 
I support the addressing of noise levels and 
excessive drinking, but I do not support adding 
"facilities.
I support these changes and ideas and would like 
to specifically suggest that the paddle-and-pints 
tours be banned.
I support these changes strongly. I think alcohol 
consumption ON the river should be banned.
I want to know how an ordinance will address 
"excessive drinking." I think posting signs on the 
river is ugly.

My last experience on the river was pretty awful with 
drunken, obnoxious behavior and disrespect for the 
river (cigarette butts being thrown in river!)
Not concerned either way 
You should keep the Union Street park more natural. 
Keep the mature trees wherever possible. Don't have 
kayak business on the riverbank don't have all those 
tourist amenities. Most importantly don't re-create a 
"nature like "setting when you've got real nature to 
begin with
no drinking when on the river

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 341 of 494



FISH WEIR KAYAK PORTAGE

10 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 The variability of water levels has led to difficulty traversing the fish weir. One idea 
being discussed is the installation of ramps that allow kayakers and others to 
portage around the weir along the south side of the river.

Survey
(88 responses)

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 342 of 494



FISH WEIR KAYAK PORTAGE

11 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

Do you have additional comments on the proposed Kayak Portage?

It is not difficult to kayak under the weir. Additional 
infrastructure is unnecessary (sic) spending and will 
require expensive maintenance.
Entering and exiting kayaks is difficult from a platform or 
dock. I would like to see ramps whose lower ends are 
covered with at least 6in water at all levels of water likely 
to be encountered.
see thru sections to watch directly below and a better 
design for the walkway more attractive and modern with 
lighting on it for safe walking at night with some possible 
information spots on the project
It seems like there should be something to separate 
people moving their kayaks from other users of the 
boardwalk, or to assist people moving their kayaks. Maybe 
something as simple as an extra railing to separate 
walkers from kayakers, or possibly a wooden kayak chute 
to pull the kayak along easily (like at the Forks on the 
Boardman).

Fix the bridge first it's literally crumbling apart
It may be helpful to explain why the fish weir is 
there and what, if anything, will happen to it 
when the Fish Pass project is done.
Proceeding with this plan may involve a conflict 
between priorities of kayakers and the rest of the 
world; while it would be nice to have the portage, 
I would not favor it IF it meant that priorities of 
the non-kayaking group got constrained
Restove (sic) riverbanks to natural state; Do 
something about cleaning up fish lines and 
hooks left by fishermen, as well as keeping 
homeless at bay and garbage clean up
Leave the existing vegetation
I would need more information
No

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 343 of 494



UNION STREET OVERLOOK

12 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 This small parcel of land east of Union Street offers an opportunity for a river overlook 
and for businesses to take advantage of river views.

Survey
(88 responses)

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 344 of 494



UNION STREET OVERLOOK

13 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 Do you have a preference for which Union Street Overlook alternative you like best? 

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 345 of 494



UNION STREET OVERLOOK

14 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 Do you have a preference for which Union Street Overlook alternative you like best? 

Survey
(71 responses)

B

CWorkshop
(5 responses)

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 346 of 494



UNION STREET OVERLOOK

What other ideas do you have for the public parcel just west of Union Street ?

I don't know what to say - there is soooo much 
asphalt/concrete! Parks
leave it natural
Please keep the trees. Don't make this a concert space or 
food truck platform or "parklet" or any such thing. A 
clean, narrow, discreet deck/overlook of simple design 
would be okay here.
More accommodating foot travel
Keep it natural. Trim but keep trees.
Down lighting, similar to how Ann Arbor handles their 
light pollution.
Leave it as green space
We need the parking
No food trucks, places for people to sit and enjoy the 
river can hardly see the river in some places anymore. It 
should be a scenic area for all to enjoy.

Do not develop the land for the sake of 
developing the land. The beauty of the area is in 
it's natural state, not buildings.
Be sure to include seating and handicap access. 
Good lighting is important.  Planter boxes? 
Simple roof 0 sun/rain blocking structure?
You have switched from east of Union to west of 
Union. What parcel west of union...the overlook 
to the south of the bridge? That's fine.. just 
needs to be spiffed up a bit.
Low developmenet (sic) of it - keep it natural 
with a spot to fish and a public trail connector 
from union to the pedestrian bridge at J & 
S/State Streetal to (sic)
remove all the junky seawalls and rip rap and 
restore river to natural bank

15 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 347 of 494



CONNECTIVITY

16 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 Should walks connect on both 
sides of the river where possible?

Survey
(88 responses)

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 348 of 494



CONNECTIVITY

Comments from people who responded Other-Write In :

Keeping in mind the current flow for fish and wildlife 
habitat 
River walk on one side. Natural bank on the other. 
Since the natural flow of the river was a diverted in the 
1950s to accommodate the parkway and development, TC 
now is faced with terrible infrastructure problems worst of 
all the sewer main sitting on top of the retaining wall which 
is being scour the way behind Horizon books on Front Street. 
The sewer main problem because of the way the river is 
forced to flow should be the number one priority.  Everything 
else in the aesthetically pleasing in plans you show us pales 
by comparison to the environmental needs regarding the 
river and the infrastructure.
Yes. Isn't breakwater already starting this project on the 
north side of the river there?

17 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 349 of 494



100 BLOCK OF FRONT STREET

18 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 Do you support redeveloping the riverbank and alley along the 100 Block of Front 
Street as part of this infrastructure upgrade to stabilize the wall and sewer

Survey
(89 responses)

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 350 of 494



100 BLOCK OF FRONT STREET

19 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 Do you have a preference for which 100 Block of Front Street Concept alternative you like best?

A

B

C

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 351 of 494



100 BLOCK OF FRONT STREET

20 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 Do you have a preference for which 100 Block of Front Street Concept alternative you like best?

A Survey
(72 responses)

B

C

Workshop
(12 responses)

A

C

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 352 of 494



What other ideas do you have for the 100 Block of Front Street area?

100 BLOCK OF FRONT STREET

eliminate the additional bridge bridge (sic)
As much "green" space as possible
Keep it as green and natural as possible with a large 
marsh-grass berm.  Minimize concrete and crowds. 
Return this section to nature. Hide the huge sewer 
mains behind the lush greenness. Parking and 
recreation should not be here. Only enough parking 
and vehicular access such that the downtown 
merchants have room 
deliveries/maintenance/trash/utilities/(etc.) and 
that their employees might have places against the 
buildings to park. Get rid of the public parking that 
immediately abuts the river corridor. Just do away 
with it altogether and return the berm to green.
Remove 100% of parking, restore the riverbank to a 
more natural state, and prioritize pedestrian access 
and enjoyment of the river.
Battleships

Fix it before anything else. The next intense rain 
could spell disaster.
I would like the bank to slope down to the river as 
it does on the other side. I would like to see only 
limited stretches of boardwalk that are raised 
above the river. Stone stepped areas are great 
and they blend well with a riverbank.
The area needs life to showcase its beauty and B 
sets it apart. This will also extend the area for 
people to witness the beauty of the area.
Tie the new bank design into the pathway to 
Front St to have one cohesive area.
I do not support the removal of nearly all 
downtown off street parking
stabilize the wall/sewer and KEEP THE PARKING

21 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 353 of 494



What other ideas do you have for the 100 Block of Front Street area?

100 BLOCK OF FRONT STREET

I am torn between A and B. I think it is critical to increase 
vegetation in that area but like to think of the fishermen 
as well. It bears being cautious of building all sorts of 
walkways that need considerable (costly) maintenance
From May 1 - to October 31st, limit delivery/garage pick 
up times in the alley to before noon and after 11pm. 
Businesses with on-site employee parking should be 
asked to not use it during those months to allow for the 
alley to become pedestrian only. Allow restaurants and 
stores to spill out to the open areas in the back. Add mini 
pop up shacks for etsy style vendors, farmers, or food 
trucks (like downtown Walloon), and perhaps permanent 
busker spots or entertainers (jugglers, face painters, 
etc.) Like a mini Friday Night Live every day. Mini 
booths/shacks can be rented for the season, weekly or 
even daily for area crafts and cottage businesses. You 
could even reserve one for non-profits to showcase their 
services.

I like the concept w most greenspace and 
stormwater filtration
Get rid of walls and ugly unnatural hardscape
save some public parking
Because of the stability problems on this segment 
of the river, I support the quickest solution that 
does not exacerbate the problem in the future. It 
seems to me that Alternative A is that solution. But 
eliminating those parking spaces increases the 
need to replace those spots in the proposed west 
end parking structure. 
I like C but would hope that there could be at least 
one stepped access point. Nice to be able to 
connect directly with the water

22 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 354 of 494



200 BLOCK OF FRONT STREET

23 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 Do you support expanding open space on the north side of the river and pedestrianizing the 
alley along the 200 Block of Front Street?

Survey
(87 responses)

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 355 of 494



200 BLOCK OF FRONT STREET
Do you have any additional comments on the 200 Block of Front Street Concept project?

Don't overdesign it. Keep it clean and simple.
Prohibit automobile traffic in that stretch of hat is now alley - all 
deliveries to be done on Front St.
Let the Boardman River resume its natural flow to the bay.
I approve of increasing the vegetation area on the nrth (sic) side 
but think that you could still have parking there.
Modern bridges with art to mix with nature with night lighting on 
the bridges
Leave the parking you are taking it away from these blocks
No more construction of buildings once there they will never go 
away and it will be too late to enjoy the river unless you are 
working there. We already look like a concrete jungle!!!!
Need more specification as to what is meant with terms like 
"increase density" of private
I support the reduction of parking in all cases.
I don't think we should lose as much Parking as is proposed and 
the boat launch should be kept
Keep the parking
So much of these changes are predicated on a new parking 
structure being built on the west side of town.
The south side of the river is okay, but I don't like the north side as 
depicted.

I feel like businesses still need alley access and that 
alley is too narrow to accommodate both in a useful 
way. The bank should be restored in some way.  Th 
cement walls are problematic. I think just a simple 
pedestrian boardwalk on both sides of the river is 
acceptable given the small space.
Again, removing parking spaces that are currently 
being used means you need to replace them elsewhere, 
and not in the neighborhoods. Build the west end 
parking structure if you're going to remove these 
parking spots.
repair the sewer first
I love the idea of green, usable space instead of asphalt 
for storing cars, but it will make downtown employment 
even less desirable if people have to walk a long way 
(esp. in winter) just to get to work (and usually pay for 
parking as well). If downtown wants to maintain a 
reputation for service, it needs to keep up levels of 
skilled workers. The two parking decks are usually 
pretty full already--this needs to be addressed 
somehow.

24 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 356 of 494



EAST END OF FRONT STREET

25 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 Do you support creating a walking loop along the East End of 
Front Street?

Survey
(87responses)

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 357 of 494



EAST END OF FRONT STREET

26 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 Do you have a preference for which walking loop alternative you like best?

Survey
(68 responses)

A
B

C

Workshop
(11 responses)

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 358 of 494



EAST END OF FRONT STREET
What other ideas do you have for the river corridor on the East End of Front Street?

No more building on any property.
Need more information
Sorry, but these schematics are very confusing, 
making it difficult to see how they relate to the 
photo.
I think B or C would be preferable to A.
Try to get the private businesses and docks on the 
south side to allow a trail to be built along the 
river. Would LOVE to see a crossing at Murchie
Bridge like the one shown in A.
This is a little more utilitarian so I would support 
the least expensive option that gets the job done, 
so probably less than a bridge.
keep some greenery!
no buildings on the river
I would like a combination of a and b, the path is 
nice but a bridge is a great idea
Do a tunnel, we need to support traffic not 
pedestrians or making things beautiful
More battleships

27 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

Leave the north side of the river untouched. Keep it as 
natural and green as possible. There is enough pedestrian 
access to Downtown here via the existing connector path 
that runs through Clinch Park. Squeezing inin (sic) 
additional pathway in that narrow, green, steep bank 
immediately below the rush of heavy traffic on Grandview 
seems like a very bad idea. The existing riverbank is a 
natural buffer between the busy street and the river. Keep it.  
Don't compromise it by squeezing in an unnecessary (sic) 
pathway, which will be costly to build and maintain anyway.
It seems to need pumping equipment already. The retaining 
walls that force this course for the Boardman River will 
continue to cause problems with the scouring flooding etc.
Can't support this project because it does not take boaters 
into consideration. It has become harder and harder for 
boater to utilize the lower end of the river. It used to be a 
great place to pull in and go to the store or get something 
to eat. But the city seems hell bent on chasing off the 
boating community.

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 359 of 494



28 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 Do you support opportunities to improve pedestrian connections  in the West Bend/Hannah 
Park area?

WEST BEND/HANNAH PARK

Survey
(81 responses)

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 360 of 494



WEST BEND/HANNAH PARK

29 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 Which option do you prefer?

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 361 of 494



WEST BEND / HANNAH PARK

30 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 Which option do you prefer?

Survey
(55 responses)

A

B

C
Workshop
(28 responses)

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 362 of 494



Do you have any additional comments on the proposed access options for the western 
bend of the river?

WEST BEND / HANNAH PARK

Only as long as this pedestrian connector can be 
added here with minimal tree-cutting and removal 
of natural vegetation, option A would be best. DO 
NOT compromise the berm on the southwest edge of 
this river bend with option B. How could that be 
anything but a precarious and expensive disaster?
Ignore the complainers in the Central Neighborhood 
who don't want a pedestrian bridge over the river at 
Pine St. They never like anything good and this is a 
really, really good idea for community connectivity.
Care should be given to monitoring runoff into the 
river especially by Kids
Creek. In Myers parking lot huge mountains of snow 
and salt are piled up near the creek they should 
push that snow to the other side of the parking lot.
Improve existing boardwalk and leave remaining 
areas as green space.
More discussion and information

Again, difficult to visualize here. Conceptual 
drawings instead of dotted lines on a map would 
have perhaps been a better choice.
Add a restaurant that has a waterfront deck with 
outdoor seating that still allows the path to go 
along the East bank (use a parking lot or building 
along the river
Do not prioritize the privacy of river residents.
I don't understand how high a priority this 
is...would worry about the cost
This is another one where the most utilitarian 
approach could work, vis a vis construction and 
any easements needed, etc., especially since the 
tree top idea could be incorporated into any of 
them.
Keep Hannah Park as it is.
Submarine

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 363 of 494



TREE TOP WALK

32 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 Do you support this Tree Top Walk project?

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 364 of 494



TREE TOP WALK

33 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 Do you support this Tree Top Walk project?

Survey
(80 responses)

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 365 of 494



TREE TOP WALK
Do you have any additional comments on the Tree Top Walk project?

Wonderful idea! That's a neat amenity, and would make a 
beautiful addition to Hannah Park.
Nope
Excuse the placement of this comment. Cordia is pudding 
warmer then natural water into the kids creek area which 
is harmful.
love it
It looks fun but, sadly, the seclusion of the area, the 
pictured open (and covered) deck areas and the number of 
homeless who tend to gather near the river (I've been there 
and have seen discarded trash and belongings) may result 
in a "hangout." Perhaps not a politically correct statement, 
but my opinion
Seeing raised areas like this elsewhere, it would end up a 
detriment to wildlife and habitat as trash will just be 
thrown over the edge of the overlook
I think the Boardman River is too narrow for this. It would 
feel like you are just looking into the buildings on the other 
side of the river instead of enjoying a view of the river.

It doesn't seem like it should be a priority, but it's 
an interesting concept for the future that I would 
support.
Too much long term maintenance
All these new social places are going to be used 
day and night and will need some 'policing' by 
officers on foot or bike to help reduce noise, 
drinking, litter and graffiti.
What is the Midland experience re cost, usage 
and unintended consequences?
Seems unnecessary to disturb and add that 
much trail infrastructure on one of the only 
natural areas left along the river.
Sounds really cool, but concerned about 
insurance liability to the city and need to dis-
incentivize jumping or diving from the platform.
leave existing vegetation along the river and 
remove as few trees as possible

34 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 366 of 494



STATE STREET PARKING LOT

35 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 Do you support reimagining the State Street Parking Lot?

Survey
(79 responses)

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 367 of 494



STATE STREET PARKING LOT

36 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 Do you have a preference for which State Street Parking Lot alternative you like best?

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 368 of 494



STATE STREET PARKING LOT

37 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 Do you have a preference for which State Street Parking Lot alternative you 
like best?

Survey
(57 responses)

A

B

C

Workshop
(15 responses)

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 369 of 494



STATE STREET PARKING LOT
Do you have other ideas for the State Street Parking Lot project?

Just do whatever is least expensive to building and maintain. This 
particular parcel is okay as it is.
Too many questions
Build up to preserve land. Put in three charging stations for electric 
vehicles
Leave it alone. It is one of the few remaining parking lots my truck fits 
in.
Let's focus on a bypass
Education center should be part of fish pass. We don't need two 
education centers.
Keep as off street parking for downtown access
A First Peoples Education Center is a fantastic idea. The preservation of 
parking should be the very last priority in all cases.
Keep it as a parking lot
Leave it a parking lot
I love A or B. I like the idea of park and community/education center, 
but if that didn't work, then A is ideal. This is one of the most important 
areas to use the entire lot as a park. Adjancent (sic) to Hannah park is 
fantastic and it connects well to the proposed park at Union and State.
I would make this a second-tier project to see if this will be needed for 
parking if some of the other parking areas are reclaimed in the 
downtown area for the improvements. Multi-level parking structure 
with First Peoples Educational Center on ground floor.

Make the river front section have water access (add a 
public path) and add a waterfront restaurant with really 
nice outdoor seating. That's one thing we miss since 
moving here from WI. There's barely any water front 
restaurants in the area with good outdoor seating with 
actual views of the lake or river, which is surprising given 
how much lakes and rivers there are in Michigan.
WE still need some parking downtown. Would like to see 
a buffer between the lot and the river of some sort but 
not sure we need a full blown park there when Rotary 
Park will be steps away. Love the idea of a First People’s 
Education Center but it seems offensive to tuck it away 
in a seldom accessed area of town on a hard to access 
one-way street. We have done a pretty good job of 
ignoring Native history in the area. Let's not put a center 
focusing on their history in a tucked away location. How 
about in Clinch park behind the Bijou? Or the new Rotary 
Park. the information is important and deserves higher 
billing.
Until the west end parking structure is built the city 
should not give up any more parking spaces. As a 
resident in town, you are just pushing the parking 
problem out to our neighborhoods.

38 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 370 of 494



CASS STREET BRIDGE

39 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 Do you support expanding universal access to the boardwalk beyond the Cass Street Bridge 
Boardwalk?

Survey
(78 responses)

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 371 of 494



CASS STREET BRIDGE

40 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 Do you have a preference for which Cass Street Bridge Boardwalk alternative you like best? 

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 372 of 494



CASS STREET BRIDGE

41 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 Do you have a preference for which Cass Street Bridge Boardwalk alternative you like best? 

A

B

A or B
Workshop
(8 responses)

Survey
(60 responses)

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 373 of 494



CASS STREET BRIDGE

Do you have other ideas for the Cass Street Bridge area?

how would this tie in with fishpass
Option B looks awesome! Option A, not so much. Floating 
docks usually are unsightly, and I don't believe they add 
much value from a usage standpoint, as they're really only 
good for fishing off of, and there are already plenty of places 
in the downtown part of the river to fish from.
Nope
Keep as many mature trees as possible along the riverbank
I would like A and B together
Both submerged or floating walkways seem rife with 
foreseeable and unforeseeable complications.
I like both these options. Pollutants (plastics especially) 
would be noticeable spurring better stewardship of the river.
I assume you are talking about the North side? It's not really 
clear. However, a connector on both sides of the river, all 
through town would be lovely. The south side in that stretch 
will be in need of repair soon.
Need more information on option B.

42 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 374 of 494



BOARDWALK SOUTH OF 8TH STREET

43 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

 Do you support expanding universal access to the boardwalk south of 8th Street?

Survey
(79 responses)

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 375 of 494



Do you have any additional comments on the boardwalk south of 8th Street project?

BOARDWALK SOUTH OF 8TH STREET

Keep the trees.
Allow biking
Preservation of trees should be a priority. The privacy of 
residences along the river should NOT be a priority.
Preserving the banks is a priority while providing as 
much access as funding (including maintenance) will 
permit. River walks bring a sense of peace especially in 
busy, high anxiety urban environments. Thanks for your 
work on these wonderful options.
I don't think it is needed on the West side as the TART 
trail is there. On the East side, a connector to the TART 
trail before the the (sic) sewage treatment plant would 
be nice but 8th street works well for connecting too. 
Maybe have a better connector off of 8th instead of that 
small stretch of river.
Leave the trees - trim where needed only.

44 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 376 of 494



PROJECT SUPPORT AND PRIORITIZATION

45 Lower Boardman River Unified Plan 

Appendix 5. Round Two Public Engagement Results

Page 377 of 494



Page 378 of 494



 
 

Downtown Development Authority 
303 E. State Street 

Traverse City, MI 49684 
 jean@downtowntc.com 

      231-922-2050 

           Memorandum 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
To:    Downtown Development Authority Board  of Directors 
 
From:  Jean Derenzy, DDA CEO 
   
Date:   December 13, 2021 
 
Subject:  Retail Incubator Business Plan 
 
 
Within the current budget, $50,000 has been set aside for work associated with a retail 
incubator (or “start-up”) program. This type of program is permitted within the DDA 
legislation to help spur start-up businesses in Downtown areas. The recommendation to 
move forward with the retail incubator stems from our strategic plan which identifies the 
need to help with business recruitment and retention (specifically for retail). In addition, 
the incubator is a responsive and proactive approach to address the uncertainty and 
difficulty of the post-COVID recovery.    
 
As part of our contract with TraverseConnect, they have put together a business plan 
for the incubator program that serves as a roadmap for DDA staff to launch and 
manage, including policies and site selection. Warren Call, President/CEO of 
TraverseConnect will be attending the DDA meeting to provide an overview of the 
Business Plan and answer questions.  
 
The next steps, if approved by the DDA Board: 

1. Meet with Property Owner(s) for possible location 
2. Work with legal counsel to identify the structure of the incubator 
3. Form an Advisory Board  
4. Provide regular updates in CEO’s monthly project report 

 
   
Recommended Motion    
That the DDA Board of Directors approves the Retail Incubator Business Plan. 

Page 379 of 494



Page 380 of 494



 

 

RETAIL INCUBATOR BUSINESS PLAN 

DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

TRAVERSE CITY, MICHIGAN 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 381 of 494



CONTENTS 

BACKGROUND ..............................................................................................................................................1 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ............................................................................................................................................... 1 

INCUBATOR BUSINESS PLAN .............................................................................................................................. 2 

INTRODUCTION .............................................................................................................................................. 2 

OBJECTIVE ...................................................................................................................................................... 2 

MARKET ASSESSMENT ................................................................................................................................... 3 

DESCRIPTION .................................................................................................................................................. 3 

GOAL 1. DEVELOP THE PROGRAM STRUCTURE .................................................................................................... 4 

GOAL 2. PROVIDE PHYSICAL SPACE THAT FITS THE NEEDS OF TARGETED EARLY-STAGE BUSINESSES. ......... 6 

GOAL 3. OFFER BUSINESS ASSISTANCE TO MEMBER COMPANIES .............................................................. 7 

APPENDIX 1. SAMPLE SITE ADMINISTRATOR DUTY LIST ............................................................................................ 8 

APPENDIX 2. RESPONSIBILITES RETAINED BY THE DDA ............................................................................................. 8 

APPENDIX 3. SAMPLE MEMBER APPLICATION FORM ............................................................................................... 9 

APPENDIX 4. SAMPLE MEMBERSHIP AGREEMENT ................................................................................................. 11 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 382 of 494



TRAVERSE CITY DDA 

 

INCUBATOR BUSINESS PLAN PAGE | 1 

 

 

BACKGROUND 

In 2020, the Traverse City Downtown Development Authority contracted with Traverse Connect to assess the needs 
and barriers for downtown district businesses and to evaluate the overall economic environment of the district. The 
resulting report from this assessment called for bold experimentation with a focus on speed, innovation, and creativity 
to address the uncertainty and difficulty of the post-COVID recovery. Recommendations included experimenting with 
ways to reduce financial uncertainty and provide more direct mentoring and support services for business in an effort 
to jump-start economic growth.     

To address these recommendations and the existing DDA strategic plan goals, the DDA established objectives for the 
2021 contract with Traverse Connect covering a marketing plan for professional business attraction, continued talent 
attraction efforts, collecting vacancy rate data, and the development of a retail incubator concept.  

Traverse Connect recommends that the Traverse City DDA launch and manage a retail business incubator within a short-

term timeframe (1-2 years) and on a small scale initially, with relatively low investment and modest risk. This concept 

is in keeping with the DDA’s strategic plan goal detailed below.  

 

 

The objective of establishing the retail incubator is to foster the development and growth of early-stage retail businesses 

within the DDA district. Utilizing excess or underutilized space to provide subsidized or discounted lease rates to new 

firms, the incubator is intended to help address the gap between pop-ups and permanent stores, thereby serving as a 

lower-cost test lab for entrepreneurs to explore brick-and-mortar retail in the downtown district. This document is 

intended to serve as a guide for the formal establishment of the incubator. 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Traverse City DDA Retail Incubator Business Plan is intended to 

serve as a roadmap for DDA staff as it launches and manages a 

retail incubator for an initial test phase. 

 

The initial 2022 goal is to lease 1,500 – 3,000 square feet of 

commercial space centrally situated in heart of the city’s downtown 

district. The facility’s proximity to established businesses and the 

corridors with high foot traffic are key to the success of this project. 

The space should have the capacity to house a minimum of 10 

businesses, depending on member needs. 

 

Development of the business incubator includes three planning aspects; Business Plan: a comprehensive business plan 

for the incubator that reflects the DDA strategic plans objectives and is designed to addresses the current retail 

3. Business Recruitment and Retention  

3.A. Goal: Develop Responsive Retail Program  

3.A. Action Step 1. Develop an Action Plan, in collaboration 
with downtown Traverse City stakeholders, to address key 
issues and opportunities facing Traverse City’s downtown 
retail base and how the DDA will respond. 

Page 383 of 494



TRAVERSE CITY DDA 

 

INCUBATOR BUSINESS PLAN PAGE | 2 

 

 

vacancies in the district. The business plan will outline marketing, financial, and operational objectives for the incubator, 

Policies: incubator policies, procedures, and guidelines, including the application process, company responsibilities, and 

exit strategy/requirements, Site Selection: Assist DDA staff in identifying, negotiating, and contracting with an 

appropriate location or locations for the incubator space.   

 

The plan outlines the steps involved in an initial test project by the Traverse City DDA to strengthen the business 
environment and ensure a positive start for local entrepreneurs that will bring economic benefits to Traverse City, the 
Downtown District, and the greater region. The resources needed to implement this plan should be consider in the 
context of the DDA investing in entrepreneurial talent to encourage entrepreneurs to invest in downtown.  
 

 

INCUBATOR BUSINESS PLAN 

INTRODUCTION 

Retail incubators are usually defined as physical facilities that provide 

new firms with the supportive network necessary to increase the 

probability of survival during the crucial startup period when young 

companies are more vulnerable. Retail incubators accelerate the 

development of successful entrepreneurial companies by providing 

low-cost space, assistance, promotion, and technical support services 

during the early years of the business. Incubators provide space for a 

number of businesses under one roof with flexible leases, exposure to 

mentors and consultants, and supportive marketing and events.  

The Traverse City downtown district is a popular shopping and dining 

destination with the most significant foot-traffic of any corridor in the 

region. While this popularity is positive for existing businesses, higher 

retail lease rates can be a barrier for early-stage retail and restaurant 

businesses. This presents an opportunity for Traverse City to 

encourage the development of new businesses by providing a 

supportive environment for the initial startup phase of operations. 

The retail incubator’s main goal is to produce successful graduate-businesses that are financially viable within two to three 

years of entering the program and can go on to become longstanding contributors to the local economy. This business plan 

addresses the initial phase of creating and operating a retail incubator in the Traverse City downtown district. 

 

OBJECTIVE 

Most startup businesses are short of everything except the founder’s energy. Establishing a retail incubator is one way 

to reduce the uncertainty and risk for early-stage entrepreneurs while cushioning the demands on limited resources, 

especially working capital. The facility should provide flexible space for a number of companies at a low-cost or reduced 

rental rate. Basic support services should be combined with compulsory business mentoring assistance, ensuring that 

each participating business completes and implements a comprehensive business plan.  

 
The Traverse City Retail Incubator business plan is divided into three primary goals as follows: 

Page 384 of 494



TRAVERSE CITY DDA 

 

INCUBATOR BUSINESS PLAN PAGE | 3 

 

 

 

1. Develop the program structure. Determine the type of structure, obtain appropriate legal structure, name the 

program, develop a brand for the program, form an advisory board, develop a staffing/support structure and 

plan, define performance metrics, and devise a  reporting outline to stakeholders.  

2. Provide physical space and services that fit the needs of targeted early-stage businesses. Identify prospective 

members, determine facility layout and usage, and create a plan to identify members and prepare for usage. 

3. Provide business assistance to member companies. Require member companies to meet with and engage in 

mentoring and support services provided by a formal entrepreneur resource network, as well as develop a long-

term plan to offer direct incubator business assistance to companies across the district. 

 

The recommendations contained in this plan were crafted with the objective of attaining a 50% occupancy rate within 

six months of location establishment. The ultimate objective is to have full occupancy within one year of operations. 

 

MARKET ASSESSMENT 
The Traverse City Downtown District is recognized as a regional economic hub and center of retail shopping and dining 
activity. Its position as the commercial center of the growing Grand Traverse region is driven by a booming tourism 
industry, significant year-round non-hospitality business activity, regional headquarters for healthcare and professional 
services, an educated workforce, increasing population, and an enviable quality of life for residents.  

Economic strength and population growth of the region and district present an attractive opportunity for retail 

businesses. However, current lease rates and limited amount of retail space in the high-traffic retail corridor present 

challenges to new retail businesses.  

CORE NEED:  

The initial phase of the Retail Incubator project should be focused on addressing two core needs for early-stage retail 

business owners; provide store-front space to operate their businesses at a low-cost or discounted rate, and ensure 

that the store-front locations receive the maximum number of potential customers by locating the facility in high-traffic   

premises and by promoting foot-traffic through marketing and space-specific events. 

  

DESCRIPTION 

The Retail Business Incubator is an initial test phase project 

sponsored by the Traverse City DDA that will be located in a facility 

of approximately 1,500 to 3,000 square-feet located in the central 

corridor of the city’s downtown district. In choosing a facility, the 

DDA should take into account zoning, building codes, location 

factors, leasable space, utilities, and the ability to generate shopper 

foot-traffic for member businesses.  

 
The facility floor plan should accommodate multiple tenant spaces 
of 100 to 500 square feet, with additional ‘micro’ spaces available 
for kiosk or mobile cart sole-proprietors, as well as exhibition space 
for local artists and photographers to display works for sale. 
Flexible membership options can start at $100 per month for the 
smallest kiosk locations with graduated prices for larger spaces. 
  

Page 385 of 494



TRAVERSE CITY DDA 

 

INCUBATOR BUSINESS PLAN PAGE | 4 

 

 

The following are recommended goals, strategies, and actions for the DDA to undertake as it launches and manages 

a retail incubator initial test project. 

 

GOAL 1. DEVELOP THE PROGRAM STRUCTURE. 

The first goal of establishing a successful business incubator is to ensure the proper structure is in place. The right 

program format has the potential to minimize financial outlay, mitigate risk, streamline operations, create capacity 

for growth, and achieve the stated objectives. The following actions should be taken to develop this structure. 

1.1. DETERMINE THE TYPE OF STRUCTURE AND OBTAIN APPROPRIATE LEGAL STATUS. 

The retail business incubator legal and governance structure should be initiated as a program of the Traverse 

City Downtown Development Authority with a separate advisory body (as permitted under section 125.4207 of 

Michigan Act 57 of 2018). After a full year of operation, and periodically henceforth, the DDA board can 

reevaluate and consider other governance structures such as converting to a private, for-profit corporation or 

an independent 501 (c)(3) not-for-profit corporation. 

1.2. NAME AND DEVELOP A BRAND FOR THE PROGRAM. 

Developing a brand name for the program is important for 

identifying and distinguishing the program from other 

initiatives, and also as a means of branding and promotion.  

Traverse Connect has recommended “The TC Hatch Pad” as 

a possible name for consideration. This name denotes the 

incubation purpose of the program and a branding strategy 

could be built around this title, with signage for the facility 

and other promotional materials. 

1.3. FORM AN ADVISORY BOARD. 

An advisory board serves an important function for the retail incubator. Advisory board members can act as part-

time site administrators, help DDA staff and contractors to evaluate and recruit incubator members, and directly 

coach incubator members. Board members can also provide general guidance, potential funding sources, 

resource network access, and mentoring support for incubator members. Additionally, these advisors can serve 

as ambassadors to the community and help raise general awareness of incubator activities. 

 

The advisory board should be made up of individuals and organizations that share the incubator’s goals and can 

help the incubator fulfill its objectives. The advisory board should be comprised of four to six members with 

relevant private sector expertise and community representation. At a minimum, the board should contain 

representation from the DDA board of directors, financial services, legal services, and a small business support 

organization such as SCORE, SBDC, or Venture North. The DDA Chief Operating Officer can serve as an ex-officio 

member of the advisory board. 

 

1.4. DEVELOP A STAFF STRUCTURE AND PLAN. 

Initial proposed incubator staffing includes a part-time site administrator and potentially one or more interns. 

1.4.1. Identify a Volunteer Part-Time Site Administrator(s). (Short Term Action) 

A part-time site administrator should be identified to manage the operations of the incubator and 

Page 386 of 494



TRAVERSE CITY DDA 

 

INCUBATOR BUSINESS PLAN PAGE | 5 

 

 

provide direct business assistance to members. This could be a person f r o m  t h e  advisory board 

or can be a shared responsibility with SCORE volunteers who could operate a “Office Hours” structure 

to ensure a mentor is available to incubator member companies one or more days per week. Ideally, 

the professional expertise of the part-time site administrators would provide member companies with 

access to a variety of topical expertise on a weekly basis. The site administrator would report to the 

advisory board on a quarterly basis.  

See additional details under GOAL 3; Business Assistance. 

See Appendix 1 for the list of duties for a volunteer site administrator 

See Appendix 2 for the list of duties retained by the DDA  
 

1.4.2. Create an Intern Network. (Short Term Action) 

Interns can be a valuable   source of unpaid or inexpensive labor, while providing local students with 

experience in their desired field of study. The DDA should partner with local high schools and/or 

NMC to identify students or recent graduates interested in entrepreneurship or any of the fields 

represented in the incubator service offerings. 

1.4.3. Hire a Property Manager. (Long Term Action) 

Ultimately a property manager could be hired to manage tenant logistics and facility upkeep, maintain 

equipment and common areas, and directly handled lease billing and invoicing.  

1.5. DEFINE PERFORMANCE METRICS. 

It is important to understand the impact an incubation program has on the businesses it serves and the local economy. 

Tracking these figures not only helps measure performance and justify DDA expenses but provides opportunities to 

communicate the incubator’s progress to potential funders, partners, and the general public. 

1.5.1. Track the following information as it relates to incubator performance: 

 New companies 

 Jobs created 

1.5.2. Attain a 50% occupancy rate within six months of opening date. 

1.5.3. Achieve and maintain full occupancy of approximately 10 businesses by the end of the first year. 

1.5.4. Graduate two companies every three years. 

1.5.5. Implement the following as performance metrics: 

 Target product/service mix. The advisory board can identify business types not currently represented 

in the DDA district and focus on recruiting specific target sectors to fill these gaps.   

 Strict entry criteria (focused on target product/service and strong business plan) 

 Tracking of incubator revenue / subsidy required from the DDA. 

1.6. PROVIDE AN ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT TO STAKEHOLDERS. 

Develop a concise and inexpensively produced annual report that summarizes the activities and milestones of 

the incubator. Distribute the piece electronically to save incubator expenditures. Print minimal hard copies for 

promotional purposes and to distribute to various stakeholders, including the DDA board, City Commission, economic 

development partners, and incubator members. 

Page 387 of 494



TRAVERSE CITY DDA 

 

INCUBATOR BUSINESS PLAN PAGE | 6 

 

 

GOAL 2. PROVIDE PHYSICAL SPACE FOR TARGETED EARLY- STAGE BUSINESSES. 

2.1. IDENTIFY PROSPECTIVE MEMBERS. 

The advisory board should identify the target business types to recruit to the facility based on gaps in the 

downtown district retail mix, as well as maintain an ‘open door’ to any prospective retail-oriented startup that 

has a solid business plan. Consideration can be given to market niche and careful screening of applicants to get 

a diverse mix of retail offerings.  

2.2. DETERMINE FACILITY LAYOUT AND USAGE. 

2.2.1. Allocate space based on anticipated member business needs. 

Facility layout is very important when attracting member companies. Flexible layout options and an environment 

conducive to customer engagement are determinants of success among early-stage businesses. If available, 

consider a location with an open courtyard feature to accommodate kiosks and vendor carts as the least 

expensive entry level options. The selected facility should also include common spaces that fosters interaction 

among members. Tenants should be encouraged to meet each other, attend happy hours, etc. as collaboration 

is one of the main benefits of incubation facilities  and peer group support can be as important as formal 

technical services and inexpensive rent. 

2.2.2. Plan for the provision of shared services. 

 Facility-Based Services. Consideration should be given to developing promotional events and 

shared marketing initiatives among members companies in order to generate the all-important 

customer foot traffic needed to ensure success for incubator members. As a stipulation of 

membership, incubator companies should be required to maintain uniform hours of operation to 

provide an energetic, open-for-business environment.  

 Redundant power supply. Member companies will require a dependable and redundant power 

supply with minimal voltage fluctuations and/or power outages. The facility should also have 

appropriate electrical installation, HVAC equipment, and water. 

 Technology support. Member companies must have fast, reliable internet connectivity. In addition, 

consideration should be given to providing basic IT support at no cost to members. 

 Parking. Parking should be factored in to membership fees and included as an amenity in 

promotional materials and the membership agreement. 

2.3. CREATE A PLAN TO IDENTIFY MEMBERS AND PREPARE FOR MEMBER USAGE. 

2.3.1. Determine membership fee structure. As a starting point, the DDA should consider the facility as a tool to 
minimize the costs to the retailer, thereby helping the startup to preserve early-stage business capital. This 
objective could be reached by directly providing discounted rent or by carefully marketing and managing 
appropriately sized spaces that do not require artificial rent support, or a combination of these two factors.  

• The TC Retail Incubator could offer month-to-month membership options starting at $100 per month for 

kiosk or mobile cart vendors, with higher levels for dedicated space. Consider a location that allows for at 

least 10 retail tenants occupying spaces between 100 square feet (at $200 per month) to 500 square feet 

(at $1,000 a month), with utilities and internet included.  

2.3.2. Membership Application and Criteria;  

 
 Create a member application form. See Appendix 3 for a Sample Member Application Form. 

Page 388 of 494



TRAVERSE CITY DDA 

 

INCUBATOR BUSINESS PLAN PAGE | 7 

 

 

 Provide a business description or business plan. Member applications should be accompanied 

by a comprehensive business plan.  

 Present to the advisory board. Applicant companies should present their business plan to the 

advisory board. The board should use an established set of evaluation criteria to determine if 

the company is well suited for the incubator. 

 Membership agreement. Once members are chosen, they should enter into a membership 

agreement with the DDA. A sample membership agreement can be found in Appendix 4.  

 Graduation policies. The advisory board should discuss and set forth an appropriate set of criteria 

to determine when a company is eligible for graduation from the incubator. The criteria should be 

based on employment, revenue growth, and length of time as a member. Consider provisions that 

allow for no expansion in the space and a set number of years after which the company’s lease 

expires or they go full market rate. The DDA can also possibly offer relocation assistance. 

 

GOAL 3. OFFER BUSINESS ASSISTANCE TO MEMBER COMPANIES. 

3.1. DEVELOP A FORMAL ENTREPRENEUR RESOURCE NETWORK 

Member companies should be required to meet with business support mentors and service providers as a 

condition of their colocation in the facility, including contracting with an approved CPA or bookkeeper. This is a 

vital aspect of ensuring business viability and long-term success. These meetings could be scheduled monthly 

with various support organizations and service providers detailed below and should be focused addressing 

business needs such as securing resources, merchandise management, staffing, and financial tracking. The 

professional and technical knowledge network could be made up of organizations and professionals such as: 

 Local SCORE mentors 

 Small Business Development Center  

 Venture North Funding and Development 

 In-district professional service firms; Attorneys, Bankers, and Accountants  

 In-district Professional Employer Organizations to provide HR services 

 Consider pairing each incubator company with an existing successful downtown business owner as a mentor 
 

3.2. DEVELOP A LONG-TERM PLAN TO OFFER FURTHER DIRECT BUSINESS ASSISTANCE. 

At the outset, the Retail Incubator cannot immediately provide the full spectrum of business support services 

that may be helpful to members. Additional services, specific support activities, and enhanced marketing and 

events should be considered for the future. In addition, Traverse Connect recommends developing a long-term 

plan to provide incubator services beyond the ‘brick and mortar’ physical facility. Possible Phase Two 

opportunities could include providing technical assistance, consulting, and expert office hours to business across 

the DDA district in a ‘virtual incubator’ that extends beyond the physical facility.  

Additionally, a future phase of the program could extend the incubator beyond a single location and allow a 

retailer to occupy any downtown space as long as the property owner agreed to the terms and conditions of the 

incubator program.  

  

Page 389 of 494



TRAVERSE CITY DDA 

 

INCUBATOR BUSINESS PLAN PAGE | 8 

 

 

APPENDIX 1. VOLUNTEER SITE ADMINISTRATOR DUTYS 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE: 

• Process member membership agreements (collect applications, track expirations, prepare renewals, etc.) 

• Maintain databases of current and prospective members (phone numbers, email addresses, etc.) 

• Organize volunteer mentors and economic development partners for ‘Office Hours’ support schedule 

• Generate internal announcements to incubator members and advisory board members 

• Coordinate intern schedule and work duties 
 
 

APPENDIX 2. RESPONSIBILITIES RETAINED BY THE DDA 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE: 

• Calculate charges for members' rent; prepare monthly member billing; collect payments and issue receipts 

• Handle accounts receivable/payable, Monitor delinquent payments 

• Hire interns and property manager (if applicable in the future) 

 

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY: 

• Where possible, arrange with partners for pro-bono/reduced-fee IT services 

• Provide no-cost or low-cost high-speed internet connectivity 

• Maintain incubator web site or web page on DDA web site 
 

MARKETING/PUBLIC RELATIONS: 

• Write copy for and design marketing brochures, advertisements, newsletters, press releases and other materials 

• Conceive of marketing strategies for the incubator and its programs 

• Prepare website content 

• Plan special events/media opportunities 

• Serve as the incubator's public representative (give speeches, attend community events, etc.) 

• Develop and maintain media contacts 
 

FACILITIES (DDA to consider hiring property manager for these duties): 

• Maintain and repair major equipment and infrastructure: plumbing, heating, machinery, etc. 

• Coordinate maintenance staff or outside maintenance contractors 

• Arrange for janitorial duties 

• Develop security procedures for facility 

• Prepare signage and promotional displays 

• Oversee remodeling, construction, and expansion projects 

Page 390 of 494



TRAVERSE CITY DDA 

 

INCUBATOR BUSINESS PLAN PAGE | 9 

 

 

APPENDIX 3. SAMPLE MEMBER APPLICATION FORM 

Information submitted will be held in confidence. 

 
Business Name:    

Principals & Titles: 
   

Full Address: 
   

    

Telephone:  Mobile: 
 

E-mail: 
 

Web Address: 
 

Form of Ownership:  Corporation  Partnership  Sole Proprietor 

Nature of business: Include a brief description of product/service and nature of market.  

 

Brief background of principal officer(s): (please attach resume) 

 

Date Business established: Company form (C-Corp, S-Corp, LLC, etc.): 

Current stage of development of product and/or service(e.g., product in development, inventory  

purchased,  etc.): 

 

Current sales revenue (dollar volume per month): 

Number of employees (include principals) Full-time: Part-time: 

Projected number of employees within 12 months: 

Type of financing used to operate Business to-date: 

 Venture capital firms  Private Investors  Personal resources  Other (indicate nature): 

Page 391 of 494



TRAVERSE CITY DDA 

 

INCUBATOR BUSINESS PLAN PAGE | 10 

 

 

 

BUSINESS PLAN 
   

Status of business plan:  Completed (please attach a copy) 

 In preparation & available by:     Not yet started 
 

Would you like help in writing a business plan?  Yes  No 

SPACE NEEDS 
   

Type of space (i.e. number of offices/open space areas, wet-dry lab spaces, manufacturing): 

 

Other: 

   

    

    

Any special facility requirements such as electrical, ventilation, or floor load, etc.? 

 No  Yes (Please Specify) 
  

    

    

Other relevant information: 

 

 

Applicant's name: Title: 

  

Signature: Date: 

  

 

Please attach or mail a business plan and summary, company and project literature, and management team 

biographies to: [include contact information] 

Page 392 of 494



TRAVERSE CITY DDA 

 

INCUBATOR BUSINESS PLAN PAGE | 11 

 

 

APPENDIX 4. SAMPLE MEMBERSHIP AGREEMENT 

An INCUBATOR MEMBERSHIP AGREEMENT BETWEEN 

Traverse City Downtown Development Authority 

(hereinafter referred to as the “DDA”) 

PARTY OF THE FIRST PART AND 
 

(hereinafter referred to as “MEMBER”) 

PARTY OF THE SECOND PART 

 

IN CONSIDERATION OF THE FOLLOWING PROVISIONS, the Parties agree: 
 

ARTICLE 1: GRANT OF MEMBERSHIP 

The DDA grants to the MEMBER a Membership on a MONTH to MONTH basis for exclusive use and occupancy of 

Office   
  

in Suite     consisting of square feet   (the “Premises“), commencing 

   , located in the building identified municipally as XXXX (the “Building”) to use and occupy in common with 

others, the common areas of the Building, including without limiting the generality of the foregoing, namely: the halls, 

stairways, corridors, washrooms, elevators and service areas.  This Membership may be terminated on 30 days advance 

written notice by either party. 

ARTICLE 2: PAYMENT OF RENT 

The MEMBER shall pay Rent in advance each month in the amount of $ commencing on the 1st day of 

  , 2022 and continuing on the 1st day of each month thereafter during the term of this Membership. In addition 

to the Rent, the MEMBER shall pay as a deposit the amount of $    to be held for the payment of the Rent for the 

last month of occupancy. 

ARTICLE 3: GROSS MEMBERSHIP 

The parties acknowledge that it is the intention that the membership shall be a gross membership and that all usual 

rechargeable property related costs and expenses of the DDA associated with the Premises are included in the Rent payment 

from the MEMBER. Rent does not include any telecommunications, the fees for which are the responsibility of the MEMBER. 

ARTICLE 4: DAMAGE BY FIRE OR OTHER CAUSE 

If the Premises or common areas are damaged by fire or other cause so as to render them unsuitable or prevent reasonable 

access to them, the DDA shall diligently repair or procure the repair of the damage; the payments pursuant to this 

agreement, shall abate in proportion to the area of the Premises rendered unusable because of the damage, from the date 

the damage occurs until it is repaired. 

If the Premises are completely destroyed, the DDA may within 30 days after the damage has occurred notify the 

MEMBER of its intention to repair the Premises, and the DDA shall diligently repair or procure the repair of the Premises 

and the payments shall cease to accrue and be payable for the period from the date the Premises are destroyed until 

they are repaired. 

If the Premises are completely destroyed and the DDA fails to notify the MEMBER of its intention to repair as stipulated 

herein, this Membership shall terminate and payments shall cease to accrue and be payable from the date the 

Premises are destroyed; and the MEMBER shall vacate the Premises. 

Page 393 of 494



TRAVERSE CITY DDA 

 

INCUBATOR BUSINESS PLAN PAGE | 12 

 

 

ARTICLE 5: OBLIGATIONS OF MEMBER 

MEMBER shall: 

a) pay the amounts set out in Article 2, 

b) commit to participating in monthly entrepreneurial support mentoring and coaching meetings. 

c) contract with an approved certified public account or bookkeeping firm. 

d) provide sales, inventory and expense information to the program for macro tracking of downtown retail. 

e) follow opening and closing times and maintain operating hours as set forth by the advisory board. Participate in 

incubator events and promotional activities. 

f) not make alterations or additions to the Premises without obtaining the prior written approval of the DDA; such 

alterations or additions to be under the direction of the DDA and at the cost of the MEMBER, 

g) upon termination of this Membership, remove furnishings and other property of the MEMBER and leave the 

Premises in good repair as determined by the DDA. Any repairs required to restore the premises will be charged 

to the MEMBER after the work has been completed following their departure, 

h) use the Premises only for the purposes of corporate offices in accordance with the standards of the DDA, 

i) pay charges for excessive use of Utilities or other operating expenses. 
 

ARTICLE 6: UTILITIES AND SERVICES 

In no event shall the CITY be liable for any injury to the MEMBER, its employees, agents, or invitees, or to the Premises, 

or to any property of the MEMBER or anyone else or for any loss of profits or business interruption, or indirect or 

consequential damages, or for any other costs, losses or damages or whatsoever kind caused by or arising from any 

interruption of failure in the supply of any Utility or Services to the Premises. 

ARTICLE 7: OBLIGATIONS OF THE DDA 

The CITY shall: 
 

a) provide sufficient heating and/or air conditioning to maintain a temperature consistent with the CITY’s usual 

standards, 

b) keep the common areas, outer walls and roof of the Building in proper structural repair and operation, 

c) keep the common areas in the Building clear and well lighted, employ competent contractors to keep the Building 

and Premises reasonably clean and dusted, keep the Building insured against loss or damage by fire, lightning 

and tempest. 

ARTICLE 8: INDEMNITY 

To the extent allowed by law, the MEMBER shall indemnify and save harmless the DDA from and against all claims 

in any manner arising out of or connected with anything done by the MEMBER, its employees, agents and invitees pursuant 

to this Membership, whether due to tort or breach of contract. 

ARTICLE 9: ASSIGNMENT, SUBLETTING 

The parties hereto confirm that the MEMBER may not assign, sub-let or otherwise transfer this Membership agreement 

to a third party. 

Page 394 of 494



TRAVERSE CITY DDA 

 

INCUBATOR BUSINESS PLAN PAGE | 13 

 

 

ARTICLE 10: INSURANCE 

Throughout the term of the Membership, the MEMBER shall affect at its sole cost and expense: Insurance upon the 

MEMBER’S property normally located within the Premises, including stock in trade, inventory, furniture, fittings, m 

improvements, and MEMBER’S fixtures in an amount equal to the full replacement cost thereof, against at least the 

perils of fire, sprinkler leakage, theft etc. as included in normal “all risks” coverage; and if requested, a copy of this 

insurance certificate to be lodged with the DDA. Liability insurance against claims for personal injury liability, death 

or property damage occurring upon, in or about the Premises, including personal liability, liability assumed by contract 

and MEMBER’S legal liability. 

ARTICLE 11: REGULATIONS AND LAWS 

At the MEMBER’S sole cost and expense, it will comply promptly with all presently existing or hereafter enacted laws, 

orders, ordinances, rules, regulations and requirements and to keep in full force and effect all permits and memberships 

required by the DDA and all applicable Federal, State, and Municipal governments and their departments, agencies, 

commissions, boards and officers or any other body exercising similar jurisdiction over the Premises. 

ARTICLE 12: NOTICE 

Where in this Membership any notice is required or authorized to be given, that notice shall be in writing and may 

be sent by registered mail, by courier or delivered in person addressed: 
 

to the DDA: to the MEMBER: 

Traverse City Downton Development Authority 

303 E. State Street, Suite C 

 

Traverse City, MI 49686  

Attention: Chief Operations Officer 

 
The above addresses may be changed from time to time by written notice to the other party. 

 

ARTICLE 13: ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS 

This Membership may be executed in conjunction with other agreements between the Parties and/or the Traverse City 

DDA. In such cases where this Membership is contingent upon the execution of those agreements then copies of those 

executed agreements will form part of this Membership and be appended hereto as separate Schedules to this 

Membership. Satisfactory performance under this Membership will be subject to satisfactory performance under those 

agreements and vice versa. 

IN WITNESS, WHEREOF the parties have executed this Membership at the City Traverse City, in the State of 

Michigan, this           day of , 2022. 

 

MEMBER NAME 

 

 By:        ______________________ 

 

 Its:        ______________________ 

 

 Printed Name:   ______________________ 

 

 Date:        ______________________ 

 

 

TRAVERSE CITY DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

 

By:        ______________________ 

 

Its:        ______________________ 

 

Printed Name:   ______________________ 

 

Date:        ______________________ 
 

Page 395 of 494



Page 396 of 494



 
Memorandum 
____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

To:  DDA Board of Directors 

CC:  Jean Derenzy, DDA CEO 

From:  Nicole VanNess, Transportation Mobility Director 

Date:  December 13, 2021 

Re:  Parkmobile Vendor Agreement: Second Amendment 

 

Our current agreement with Parkmobile LLC for our mobile payment solution will terminate 

April 30, 2023. Our vender, Parkmobile, has a functioning integration with T2 Systems Mobile 

Enforcement Software and their Digital Luke II Multi-space Pay Stations that are used by our 

Parking Ambassadors. Parkmobile LLC acts as the MOR (Merchant of Record) and absorbs all 

credit card processing fees. With Parkmobile continuing to absorb all credit card fees, there is no 

cost for this service, and we retain 100% of our meter revenue which means the service is truly 

free to the City. All expenses are accepted through convenience fees paid by the customer.   

 

The table below shows the increase of mobile parking payments since our agreement began in 

2017. As you can see from the increased use, each year there is significant increase in the 

number of transactions using the mobile application.  This has reduced the amount of coin that 

we are collecting and counting in-house.   

 

Due to increasing credit cards processing and transaction costs, Parkmobile has notified us of a 

price increase.  The increase that will become effective over the next 60 days is a $0.05 per fee 

for both Parkmobile Wallet and all other payment transactions. Based on transaction data, this 

increase is estimated at nearly $11,000.  Passing this fee onto customers would continue to be at 

no cost to the City, but the $0.20 per transaction fee for parkers using Parkmobile Mobile Wallet 

would increase to $0.25 and the $0.35 per transaction fee for parkers using all other payment 

methods would increase to $0.40 per transaction, and Parkmobile LLC would continue to absorb 

all credit card processing fees.  

 

RECOMMENDATION: The DDA Board of Directors recommends the City Commission 

amend the Parkmobile agreement to increase the per transaction costs and continue 

passing the transaction fees onto customers.   

 

 

 

 

Downtown Traverse City Association 

Page 397 of 494



  Parkmobile Vendor Agreement 

  Page 2 

  

 

 

Page 398 of 494



1 
 

Downtown Development Authority 
303 E. State Street 

Traverse City, MI 49684 
 jean@downtowntc.com 

      231-922-2050 

            Memorándum 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
To:    Downtown Development Authority Board 
 
From:  Jean Derenzy, DDA CEO 
   
Date:   December 8, 2021 
 
Subject:  Updates 
 
 
Zoning on Front Street and Old Town 
As I mentioned in my board update last week, I attended the Planning Commission 
meeting on December 7th to support starting outreach for two zoning changes within the 
DDA District. The goal is to receive public input on these changes. 
 
Old Town in the 300/400 blocks   
As the Board may recall, we clearly heard the need to bring more recognition and 
connectivity between Front Street and Old Towne during our discussions with property 
owners last year. Staff has been working on various activities to respond to this desire, 
including planting flowers in Old Town, providing wayfinding opportunities, as well as 
hosting different events.   I am currently working with City Planning to explore how to 
make Old Towne commercial properties a more natural extension of downtown. There 
are significant opportunities to better connect the two districts with the upcoming 
Rotary Civic Square project and possible FishPass project, and the reconstruction of 
the South Union Street bridge.  
 
Another way to further strengthen this connection is to evaluate possible rezoning of 
the properties along the 300 and 400 blocks of S. Union Street from C-2 to C-4a. 
 
The major differences between C-2 and C-4a include: 

● Maintaining a 45-foot height limit without requiring a residential component. 
● Increasing impervious surface limits 
● Introducing the special requirements of C-4a that have higher building 

design standards 
● Providing for additional uses 

 
There are several businesses in this district that are looking to expand, but current 
zoning prohibits 45 feet without adding a floor of housing. Most businesses do not 
desire to go into the housing market, but instead to focus on their business.    

Page 399 of 494



2 
 

 
City Planning did recognize a need to change this requirement from eliminating the 
housing requirement in the C-2 district to changing to C-4A. Outreach for this zoning 
change, which will include going out to neighborhood association meetings, will start in 
January. 
 
Front Street Rezoning 
Staff would like to support businesses and preserve the vibrant and engaging energy 
of downtown by limiting first-floor uses to commercial and retail only. This ensures that 
customers are drawn into establishments and that our downtown provides an 
interesting street-level environment that encourages people to explore along various 
corridors and engage with businesses.  
 
A successful and resilient downtown core requires diversity in uses and a fine-grained, 
engaging, and interactive development pattern. The location where this is most 
strongly illustrated is the 100 and 200 blocks of East Front Street, with varying degrees 
of success on adjacent blocks. Here we have narrow store fronts, accessible 
businesses, large windows, and other design elements that allow people to engage 
with the commercial spaces. This is a pattern staff would like to continue replicating 
throughout the downtown as infill and redevelopment opportunities present 
themselves. However, current zoning ordinance standards do not provide the 
protections to ensure this is the outcome as desired. Uses allowed to occupy the first 
floor that hinder this desired development pattern include residential dwellings, 
vacation rentals, office space and interior parking on the first floor. 
 
The City Planning Commission approved moving forward with public outreach on this 
zoning change to preserve the first floor for solely retail/commercial use. Outreach will 
start in January and February. 
 
100 and 200 Front Street Block Alleys – Riverwalk/Pedestrian Plaza 
We have received five responses to our RFP for planning/engineering services for the 
riverwalk/pedestrian plaza along the 100 & 200 block alleys. Interviews will be 
scheduled in January with a recommendation brought back to the full Board in 
February. 
 
Downtown Tree Replacement  
This past fall, we facilitated discussions with Team Elmer’s about replacing several of 
the trees identified as “missing” (roughly eight trees) in the recently completed 
Downtown Tree Management Plan. Tree replacement is actually a fairly complicated 
process, as each tree-box needs to be carefully excavated, making sure that no other 
utilities/infrastructure is altered or damaged. Due to a lack of staff, Team Elmers was 
unable to begin work before the winter season. We anticipate releasing a formal RFP 
within the next week to facilitate the removal and planting of all the trees identified 
within the Downtown Tree Management Plan for the spring season.     
  

Page 400 of 494



3 
 

Boardman Riverwalk Fencing 
As you may recall, earlier this spring, a new riverwalk/deck was constructed along the 
Boardman River (adjacent to the Union Street Bridge) as part of the new Breakwater 
Development. A temporary fence/railing system was also installed until such time as a 
permanent fence/railing system was designed. 
 
The DDA worked with designers from SmithGroup (our consultant team for the Lower 
Boardman Unified Plan) to design a functional, but more more aesthetically-pleasing, 
fence/railing system that could be consistently utilized throughout the Lower Boardman 
corridor. Among other things, the fence/railing system would include a built-in lighting 
element that would help illuminate the surrounding Riverwalk. 
 
With the design established, in May we issued a formal Request for Proposal (RFP) 
from qualified contractors to construct the fence/railing system along the riverwalk, deck 
and stairs. The RFP also included a request to expand the stairs (between the two deck 
platforms). We received one bid.  
 
In July, the DDA Board reviewed and discussed the railing design and bid and decided 
to hold off on approval until additional design concepts were more thoroughly vetted and 
a better understanding of railing applications along the entire Lower Boardman River 
corridor was understood.  
 
We are working with the city engineering office on a new design for the railing system 
and should have that ready for consideration at your February meeting.  
 
Downtown Bridge Construction   
It is anticipated that the reconstruction of the South Union and North Cass Street 
bridges will begin in the summer of 2022. Tim Lodge (City Engineer) will provide an 
overview of the two bridge construction projects (as well as an update on the Front 
Street Bridge) at your January meeting.   
 
 

Page 401 of 494



Page 402 of 494



 
 

                                                        Downtown Development Authority 
303 E. State Street 

Traverse City, MI 49684 
 jean@downtowntc.com 

      231-922-2050 

           Memorandum 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
To:    Downtown Development Authority Board of Directors 
 
From:  Jean Derenzy, DDA CEO 
   
Date:   November 15, 2021 
 
Subject:  Reimagine East Front Street Project Update 
 
 
The project team facilitated its third round of public engagement meetings on November 
18th and 19th. The meetings (including both in-person and virtual) provided an 
opportunity to review, discuss and deliberate on the findings and recommendations for 
downtown circulation as well as a preliminary design for East Front Street. I have 
attached the presentation and PDF from these meetings for your review.  
 
As noted in the summary memo for our strategic planning meeting last week, while 
there is general consensus on a recommended street design, debate remains on the 
need/desire for a dedicated bike lane. What is clear from this process is that the lack of 
a comprehensive, city-wide, non-motorized plan has contributed to the debate as to the 
merits of the recommended east front street design. This lack of clarity on non-
motorized infrastructure will likely lead to other debates on future road/streetscape 
projects.  
 
Based on the lack of full consensus on the recommended design as well as a desire to 
give our East Front businesses time to prepare for a rather substantial and disruptive 
construction season, I am recommending this project move to 2024.   
 
We expect the recommendation for the conversion of one-way streets will include a 
“pilot” for the 2023 winter season. The pilot will require some infrastructure  
improvements (.e.g. stripping and signage). A permanent conversion of streets would 
require additional infrastructure investments (some of which we would look to cost-
share with the city). 
 
Furthermore, we have initiated conversations with city staff on the potential cost and 
timing of facilitating a city-wide comprehensive non-motorized plan. This effort would 
likely be a pre-cursor to and/or run concurrent to the city’s master plan update process 
in 2022.    
 

Page 403 of 494



Page 404 of 494



East Front Street Redesign 
& Circulation Study
NOVEMBER 18-19, 2021Page 405 of 494



AGENDA

• Process Recap

• East Front Street Preferred Concept Update

• Traffic Circulation Study Results

• DiscussionPage 406 of 494



PROJECT BACKGROUND

Construction

•Spring 2022

Bids

•January 2022

Circulation 
Study 
Report

•January 2022

Engineering 
Plans & 
Report

•November/December

Preferred 
Design

•October/November

Alternative 
Design 

Concepts

•August/Sept

Data 
Collection

•July/August

Study Downtown 

Traffic Flow

Redesign of East 

Front Street

Page 407 of 494



JULY-AUGUST ENGAGEMENT: 
LISTENING & DATA GATHERING

• July – Accessibility audit of corridor

• August 9-10th – Two days of public 

engagement, 7 feedback sessions

Established 

design goals for E 

Front redesign 

&

discussed 

downtown traffic 

circulation

Page 408 of 494



FIRST SURVEY
What is your vision for E Front Street? 

Thoughts on downtown circulation?

+500 Responses

Page 409 of 494



PROVIDE ONE WORD THAT BEST DESCRIBES EAST FRONT STREET

Page 410 of 494



DESCRIBE IN ONE WORD YOUR VISION FOR EAST FRONT STREET

Page 411 of 494



PLEASE RANK THE LEVEL OF IMPORTANCE EACH MODE SHOULD 
HAVE IN THE DESIGN OF EAST FRONT STREET

Page 412 of 494



SEPTEMBER ENGAGEMENT: SHARING PRELIMINARY 
CONCEPTS, REFINING & PRIORITIZING

• September 26-27th

• 7 stakeholder meetings

• Elected and appointed 

officials

• Municipal staff and 

partners

• Community members

• Boardman 

neighborhood 

residents

• Presented three design 

concepts

• Brief update on traffic 

circulation study

Page 413 of 494



CROSS SECTIONAL COMPARISON OF EACH CONCEPT

CONCEPT A – PEDESTRIAN FOCUS

CONCEPT B – BIKE FOCUS

CONCEPT C – HYBRID APPROACH

Page 414 of 494



SECOND SURVEY
Comparing three design concepts

~400 Responses

Page 415 of 494



SECOND SURVEY RESULTS

10.2

74.9

19.4

11.4
9.1

1.9
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Business Owner Resident Property Owner Employee Visitor Other - Write In

P
er
ce
n
t

Page 416 of 494



PREFERRED CONCEPT

Page 417 of 494



Option Percent Count

Option 1. A flexible plaza that can serve as parking, 

snow storage, or plaza space depending on the season.

68.3% 196

Option 2. A new building. 9.4% 27

Option 3. A new dedicated parking lot. 22.3% 64

Totals 287

WHICH OF THE CONCEPTS FOR THE FRANKLIN / GRANDVIEW 
PARKWAY INTERSECTION DO YOU PREFER?

■ Option 2 ■ Option 3■ Option 1

Page 418 of 494



WE HEARD YOU SAY… There should be a focus 

on slower vehicle speeds 

and increased pedestrian 

and bicycle safety, 

regardless of which design 

is used.Slow traffic with speed 

tables and lower speed 

limits so bicycles can 

safely share travel 

lanes. 

Don't think bike track 

on Front St is a good 

idea because cyclists 

want to get somewhere 

quickly, and lots of 

pedestrians and traffic 

means stopping all the 

time.

Most important is an improved 

pedestrian/shopper experience. 

Concept A does this best while still 

improving bike access

and maintaining parking

Our downtown should convey what 

means the most to us. Alternative 

transportation and a welcoming, 

culturally diverse experience that puts 

people first would be preferred. Get 

people out of their cars sooner to allow 

for walking, biking or enjoyment of 

music, art, culture. 

It needs to be beautiful 

and inviting for all ages 

and ability levels with 

built-in seating available 

year-round.

Just leave it like it is. What a 

waste of money.

Functionality and 

safety. Keeping in 

mind snowplows.

Make it a fun social place 

where people want to be. Less 

parking lots, bike accessible 

and bus accessible.

Page 419 of 494



RECOMMENDED DESIGN
East Front Street

Page 420 of 494



STREETSCAPE CROSS 
SECTIONS

Page 421 of 494



Page 422 of 494



Page 423 of 494



RECOMMENDED CONCEPT – FRONT 
& BOARDMAN ALTERNATIVE

Page 424 of 494



Page 425 of 494



Page 426 of 494



Minneapolis

Grand Rapids – Art Prize

Chicago

Page 427 of 494



HOW MUCH WILL THIS COST?

✓ Current estimate is $4.8M

Includes $1M for sidewalk snowmelt – which may not 
be in final scope

Includes 20% contingency for approximately $800,000

Construction pricing is changing rapidly with inflation, 
material delay issues for some productsPage 428 of 494



WHAT IS THE APPROACH FOR 
BIKES?

• E Front St is being 

designed to invite 

bikes to use the 

narrow and slow-

moving travel lanes

• Bike racks provided

• Cycle track on 

State Street being 

explored

• Network approachPage 429 of 494



EIGHTH STREET TRAIL

Page 430 of 494



OTHER CONSIDERATIONS & NEXT STEPS

• Snow melt – Y / N ?

• Constructed in 2022?

• Final plans + summary report by end of the 

year

• Construction timeline – be ready to bid in 

January 

• Gateway design process

Page 431 of 494



TRAFFIC CIRCULATION STUDY 
UPDATE

Page 432 of 494



HISTORY OF DOWNTOWN CIRCULATION 
IN TRAVERSE CITY

• Spring 1967, segments of Front, Pine, State, 

and Boardman converted from two-way to one-

way operation

• Primary goal to alleviate congestion without 

sacrificing on-street parking

• Different planning ideals at the time: auto-

centric, emphasis on throughput of vehicles

• Not without contention – petition to block 

conversion failed 

• Vote of the public, unofficial results 

• 61% in support of one-way conversion to 

one-way

Looking east from 100 block of Front St, 1960sPage 433 of 494



CASE STUDIES

Page 434 of 494



CASE STUDIES & NATIONAL 
TRENDS

Trends

• Beginning in late 1990s, many cities began to rethink 

one-way streets downtown

• As of 2018, 78 cities in the U.S. had restored 

downtown streets to two-way travel

Reasons

• Safety

• Efficiency

• Economic development

Slower 
vehicle 
speeds

Drivers pay 
more 

attention to 
businesses 
they pass

Increased 
pedestrian 
and bike 
activity

Greater 
number of 
patrons to 

businesses

Increased 
business 
revenue

One study in Vancouver, WA found 

retail sales increased from 10% to 20% 

after three key downtown streets were 

converted to two-way

Page 435 of 494



ONE-WAY VS. TWO-WAY (IN GENERAL)

Pro Con

One-Way • Greater vehicle capacity

• Generally faster throughput 

• Fewer conflict points at intersections

• Only have to look one direction when 

crossing a street 

• Less common → less intuitive

• Requires more signage to alert 

users

• Less direct (more circuitous) 

Two-Way • Slower vehicle speeds → accidents less 

severe

• Fewer vehicles circulating to find parking

• More common → more intuitive 

• On-street parking on right-side more 

natural to drivers

• Less vehicle capacity

• Increased vehicle delay, including 

emergency response vehicles

• Traffic signals more complex

• More conflict points Page 436 of 494



LEVEL OF SERVICE COMPARISON

Level A Level D

Page 437 of 494



STUDY AREA & DATA COLLECTION

Front St

State St

P
in

e 
St

P
ar

k 
 S

t 

B
o

ar
d

m
an

 A
ve

US-31 (Grandview Pkwy)

Morning (7-9AM) and Afternoon (4-6PM) 
traffic counts were performed at all 

intersections in mid-July 2021

N

U
n

io
n

  S
t 

C
as

s 
 S

t 

Free Flow 
Intersection

Free Flow 
Intersection

Page 438 of 494



EXISTING CONDITIONS

Page 439 of 494



EXISTING ONE-WAY TRAFFIC PATTERN

Front St

State St

P
in

e 
St

U
n

io
n

  S
t 

C
as

s 
 S

t 

P
ar

k 
 S

t 

B
o

ar
d

m
an

 A
ve

US-31 (Grandview Pkwy)

N

Page 440 of 494



EXISTING LEVEL OF SERVICE (LOS)

State St

U
n

io
n

  S
t 

C
as

s 
 S

t 

B
o

ar
d

m
an

 A
ve

P
ar

k 
 S

t 

F
B

B

BC

B
B C

Traffic Signal to 
improve LOS

Front St

N

Page 441 of 494



EXISTING TRAFFIC VOLUMES & LOS

N

Page 442 of 494



EXISTING PEDESTRIAN VOLUMES

N

Number of 

Pedestrians Counted:

Morning Peak 

Grandview – 28

Front – 191

State – 142

Union – 95 

Cass – 113 

Park – 136 

Boardman – 44 

Evening Peak

Grandview – 109

Front – 1,272

State – 530 

Union – 644 

Cass – 1,524 

Park – 934 

Boardman – 315 

Page 443 of 494



EXISTING BICYCLE VOLUMES (11AM – 6PM)

N

Number of Cyclists 

Counted:

Front St – 92 

EB – 8 

WB – 64 

Crosswalk – 20 

Boardman Ave – 138  

NB – 39 

SB

Crosswalk – 99

State St – 144 

EB – 86 

WB – 11 

Crosswalk – 47 

Page 444 of 494



EXISTING CONDITIONS – KEY TAKEAWAYS

• Been this way since 1967 – people are familiar with it

• Minimal or no disruption to Front Street businesses 

• No additional infrastructure costs for changes

• Except traffic signals, which are approaching end of lifecycle and will be 

replaced regardless

• Politically easier 

• 47% of people polled support keeping current traffic circulation pattern

• Vehicle level of service is generally good (B or C)

Page 445 of 494



ALTERNATIVE 1
All Two-Way Traffic Pattern

Page 446 of 494



ALL TWO-WAY TRAFFIC PATTERN (ALTERNATIVE 1)

Front St

State St

P
in

e 
St

U
n

io
n

  S
t 

C
as

s 
 S

t 

P
ar

k 
 S

t 

B
o

ar
d

m
an

 A
ve

US-31 (Grandview Pkwy)

N

Page 447 of 494



ALL TWO-WAY TRAFFIC VOLUMES & LOS (ALTERNATIVE 1)

N

Page 448 of 494



ALL TWO-WAY LOS & IMPROVEMENTS (ALTERNATIVE 1)

State St

U
n

io
n

  S
t 

C
as

s 
 S

t 

B
o

ar
d

m
an

 A
ve

P
ar

k 
 S

t 

CF
C

C

BC
B

B
B C

Traffic Signal to 
improve LOS

Proposed All-
Way Stop

Proposed All-
Way Stop

Notes:

1. All existing traffic signals will need upgrades to accommodate two-way traffic.

2. Dedicated left-turn lanes required at all signalized and unsignalized intersections.

Front St

Page 449 of 494



ALL TWO-WAY (ALTERNATIVE 1) – KEY TAKEAWAYS

• Existed in this configuration prior to 1967

• Significant disruption to Front Street businesses 

• Significant infrastructure costs to make changes

• However, traffic signals represent bulk of cost and must be changed 

regardless

• Impacts to parking due to needed turn lanes

• Politically most challenging

• Generally good level of service, but slightly worse than existing conditions Page 450 of 494



ALTERNATIVE 2
Hybrid Traffic Pattern

Page 451 of 494



HYBRID TRAFFIC PATTERN (ALTERNATIVE 2)

Front St

State St

P
in

e 
St

U
n

io
n

  S
t 

C
as

s 
 S

t 

P
ar

k 
 S

t 

B
o

ar
d

m
an

 A
ve

US-31 (Grandview Pkwy)

N

Page 452 of 494



HYBRID TRAFFIC VOLUMES & LOS (ALTERNATIVE 2)

N

Page 453 of 494



HYBRID LOS & IMPROVEMENTS (ALTERNATIVE 2)

State St

U
n

io
n

  S
t 

C
as

s 
 S

t 

B
o

ar
d

m
an

 A
ve

P
ar

k 
 S

t 

CF
C

C

BC
B

C
D C

Traffic Signal to 
improve LOS

Proposed All-
Way Stop

Proposed All-
Way Stop

Notes:

1. Existing traffic signals along State St will need upgrades to accommodate two-way traffic.

2. Dedicated left-turn lanes required at all signalized and unsignalized intersections along State Street.

Front St

Signals likely required for 
future (2046) conditions

Page 454 of 494



HYBRID (ALTERNATIVE 2) – KEY TAKEAWAYS

• Intends to capitalize on best of both approaches (existing and all two-way)

• Minimal disruption to Front Street businesses 

• Significant infrastructure costs to make changes

• However, traffic signals represent bulk of cost and must be changed 

regardless

• Impacts to parking due to needed turn lanes

• Limited to State St

• Politically challenging

• Generally good level of service, but slightly worse than alternative 1 (all D or 

better)

Page 455 of 494



COMPARISON
and Recommendations

Page 456 of 494



ALTERNATIVES TRAVEL TIME COMPARISON (2021)

Corridor/

Time Period

Existing One-

Way 

Conditions

All Two-Way

Alternative 1

Hybrid

Alternative 2

All Two-Way

Alternative 1

(Percent 

Increase)

Hybrid

Alternative 2

(Percent 

Increase)

EB WB EB WB EB WB EB WB EB WB

Front Street

AM - 169.3 210.4 181.4 - 172.9 - 7% - 2%

PM - 178.5 246.8 227.6 - 202.3 - 28% - 13%

State Street

AM 105.9 - 112.7 119.4 114.3 114.5 6% - 8% -

PM 120.7 - 117.3 118.1 155.4 119.9 -3% - 29% -

Notes:

1. Includes all-way stop control at State St/Park St and State St/Boardman Ave

Page 457 of 494



ALTERNATIVES TRAVEL TIME COMPARISON (2046)

Corridor/

Time Period

Existing One-

Way 

Conditions

All Two-Way

Alternative 1

Hybrid

Alternative 2

All Two-Way

Alternative 1

(Percent 

Increase)

Hybrid

Alternative 2

(Percent 

Increase)

EB WB EB WB EB WB EB WB EB WB

Front Street

AM - 167.2 206.4 182.5 - 178.5 - 9% - 7%

PM - 180.7 267.0 246.9 - 212.3 - 37% - 17%

State Street

AM 107.9 - 114.7 116.5 118.5 119.4 6% - 10% -

PM 124.0 - 122.9 119.3 158.0 148.0 -1% - 27% -

Notes:

1. Includes traffic signals at State St/Park St and State St/Boardman Ave

Page 458 of 494



HIGHLIGHTS

• All alternatives are feasible 

from a level of service 

standpoint (existing, all two-

way, hybrid) 

• Existing conditions most 

efficient from vehicle travel 

time perspective if you are 

traveling through the study 

area (versus to a destination 

in study area)

I love the 
idea! Change 

to two-way 
OR I need 

more 
information to 

decide
44%

The streets 
work fine, 

keep them the 
way they are

47%

Other
9%

If the traffic circulation study results are neutral (there may be 

tradeoffs but no deal breakers), what would your opinion be on 
changing Front and State to two-way? 

Page 459 of 494



FINAL REPORT WILL PROVIDE ADDITIONAL DETAIL ON…

Traffic signals

Pavement markings

Signage

Curb adjustments

Parking modifications

Detailed crash data Equipment

Labor

Materials

Maintenance 

Costs

Data from case studies

Page 460 of 494



PINE & STATE: TWO-WAY 
TRAFFIC CONCEPTS 

State St

Page 461 of 494



STATE & CASS: TWO-WAY TRAFFIC CONCEPT 

State St
State St

Page 462 of 494



STATE: TWO-WAY TRAFFIC CONCEPT

State St

Page 463 of 494



BOARDMAN: 
TWO-WAY 
TRAFFIC 
CONCEPT

Page 464 of 494



2020 TWO-WAY STATE STREET PILOT

• Generally well-received

• Level of service reasonable 

• Some challenging

intersections (Union & State)

• Shortcomings with summer 

only pilot → did not 

experience winter 

maintenance cycle

Page 465 of 494



RECOMMENDATION

• A winter pilot of two-way Pine, State, 

and Boardman in 2022-23

• Requires some infrastructure 

investments

• EX: Removal of islands at Pine & 

Front, State & Boardman, 

Boardman & Front

• Requires dedicated crew for road 

closures during snow removal 

Page 466 of 494



THEORETICAL 
IMPLEMENTATION TIMELINE

• SPRING – FALL 2022 – E Front St construction

• Splitter island removal / modification

• FALL 2022 – SPRING 2023 – Winter two-way pilot 

• Pine (Front-State)

• State (Pine-Boardman)

• Boardman (Front-State)

• SPRING – FALL 2023 – MDOT Grandview Pkwy construction

• Division-Garfield

• SPRING 2024 – City Commission decision on circulation 

• If change approved, begin budgeting for requisite capital projectsPage 467 of 494



THANK YOU

We welcome your feedback, insights and inquiries.

Page 468 of 494



CONCEPT BOARD - SECTION 1
TRAVERSE CITY DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

PROJECT PARTNERS:  

E FRONT ST 

PARK 
ST

E GRANDVIEW PARKWAY

PARK 
ST

SECTION 1

OVERALL MAP LEGEND

NOT TO SCALE

CURB EXTENSIONS 
increase the overall visibility 
of pedestrians by aligning 
them with the parking lane 
and reducing the crossing 
distance for pedestrians

BUS BULBS may be 
combined with amenities 
such as wayfinding maps, 
plantings, and trees to 
enhance the overall transit 
user experience

A GATEWAY SIGN placed 
at the entrance exit from 
the Downtown area.  The 
signs may incorporate stone 
and metal to express local 
history with a progressive 
look to the future. 

The SIDEWALK is the area 
where people interface 
with one another and with 
businesses most directly in 
an urban environment. IMAGE FROM NACTO URBAN STREET DESIGN GUIDE

IMAGE FROM NACTO URBAN STREET DESIGN 

IMAGE FROM NACTO URBAN STREET DESIGN GUIDE

IMAGE FROM NACTO URBAN STREET DESIGN GUIDE

1

1

2 3 5

26

3 4

Where a SPEED TABLE 
coincides with a crossing 
or crosswalk, it should 
be designed as a raised 
crosswalk. 4 6

5

IMAGE FROM NACTO URBAN STREET DESIGN 

0’ 20’10’

N

SE
C

TIO
N

 1

SE
C

TIO
N

 2

SE
C

TIO
N

 1

SE
C

TIO
N

 2

SE
C

TIO
N

 1

SE
C

TIO
N

 2

SE
C

TIO
N

 1

SE
C

TIO
N

 2

FRONT STREET 
ALTERNATE LAYOUT

Design for LOCAL STREETS 
can combine storm water 
management features, curb 
extensions, and vertical 
speed control elements that 
encourage safe speeds and 
through traffic.

NOT TO SCALE

Page 469 of 494



CONCEPT BOARD - SECTION 2 & 3
TRAVERSE CITY DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

PROJECT PARTNERS:  

BOARDMAN 
AVE

SECTION 2

OVERALL MAP LEGEND

NOT TO SCALE

SECTION 3

OVERALL MAP LEGEND

NOT TO SCALE

Where a SPEED TABLE 
coincides with a crossing 
or crosswalk, it should be 
designed as a raised crosswalk.

BUS BULBS may be combined 
with amenities such as wayfinding 
maps, plantings, and trees to 
enhance the overall transit user 
experience

PARKLETS are typically 
applied where narrow or 
congested sidewalks prevent 
the installation of traditional 
sidewalk cafes.

IMAGE FROM NACTO URBAN STREET DESIGN GUIDE

IMAGE FROM NACTO URBAN STREET DESIGN GUIDE

IMAGE FROM NACTO URBAN STREET DESIGN GUIDE

5 6 4

BULBOUTS can facilitate mid 
block pedestrian crossings of 
low-volume streets.

1

6

IMAGE FROM NACTO URBAN STREET DESIGN GUIDE

IMAGE FROM NACTO URBAN STREET DESIGN GUIDE

2

RAISED INTERSECTIONS 
reinforce slow speeds and 
encourage motorists to yield to 
pedestrians at the crosswalk.

Design for LOCAL STREETS 
can combine storm water 
management features, curb 
extensions, and vertical speed 
control elements that encourage 
safe speeds and through traffic.

5

3

4

21 3

5

6

3

2

0’ 20’10’

N

0’ 20’10’

N

SE
C

TIO
N

 1

SE
C

TIO
N

 2

SE
C

TIO
N

 1

SE
C

TIO
N

 2

SE
C

TIO
N

 2

SE
C

TIO
N

 3

SE
C

TIO
N

 2

SE
C

TIO
N

 3

SE
C

TIO
N

 2

SE
C

TIO
N

 3

SE
C

TIO
N

 2

SE
C

TIO
N

 3

SE
C

TIO
N

 3

SE
C

TIO
N

 4

SE
C

TIO
N

 3

SE
C

TIO
N

 4

SEASONALLY 
CLOSED 

WELLINGTON 
ST

IMAGE FROM NACTO URBAN STREET DESIGN GUIDE

Page 470 of 494



CONCEPT BOARD - SECTION 4
TRAVERSE CITY DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

PROJECT PARTNERS:  

RAILROAD AVE

FR
A

N
K

LI
N

 S
T

Where a SPEED TABLE 
coincides with a crossing or 
crosswalk, it should be designed 
as a raised crosswalk.

The SIDEWALK is the area 
where people interface 
with one another and with 
businesses most directly in an 
urban environment.

BULBOUTS can facilitate mid 
block pedestrian crossings of 
low-volume streets.

E GRANDVIEW PARKWAY

SECTION 4

OVERALL MAP LEGEND

NOT TO SCALE

0’ 20’10’

N

A GATEWAY SIGN placed at the entrance 
exit from the Downtown area.  The signs may 
incorporate stone and metal to express local 
history with a progressive look to the future. 
       The complementary bold shapes of the 
gateway signs will create a cohesive look for 
the various locations around town.

IMAGE FROM NACTO URBAN STREET DESIGN GUIDE IMAGE FROM NACTO URBAN STREET DESIGN GUIDE IMAGE FROM NACTO URBAN STREET DESIGN GUIDE

1 2 3 4

43

2

1 4

SE
C

TIO
N

 3

SE
C

TIO
N

 4

SE
C

TIO
N

 3

SE
C

TIO
N

 4

Page 471 of 494



Page 472 of 494



  

 
 

Downtown Development Authority 
303 E. State Street 

Traverse City, MI 49684 
 @downtowntc.com 

      231-922-2050 

       Memorandum 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
To:   Downtown Development Authority Board     
 
From:            Gabe Schneider, DDA Chair  
     
Date:            December 8, 2021   
 
SUBJECT: Appointments to Standing Committees and Parking Subcommittee  
 
 
The time for appointments to our two standing committees (Finance and Governance) 
and other subcommittees/advisory committees will be occurring at our December 
meeting. Attached is an overview of the roles and responsibilities of the two standing 
committees that the Board adopted in 2019.     
 
Finance Committee  
The Finance Committee is comprised of five (5) board members, including:  

• Jeff Joubran (Treasurer); 
• Gabe Schneider;  
• Richard Lewis;  
• Scott Hardy; and  
• Damian Lockhart   

 
The Finance Committee Anticipate meets the second Monday of each month at 9:30am. 
 
Governance Committee  
The Governance Committee is comprised of four (4) Board members. However, at this 
time, Richard Lewis is the only board member on this Committee. The Governance 
Committee meets quarterly. 
 
Parking Subcommittee  
The Parking Subcommittee is comprised of four (4) board members and three (3) citizen 
at large. Board members include: 

• Scott Hardy 
• Pam Marsh    

 
The Parking Subcommittee meets the first Thursday of each month at 11:00am. 
 

Page 473 of 494



  

 
 
Arts Commission  
The Arts Commission has one (1) DDA Board member serve as a representative from 
the DDA. Currently Board member Steve Nance represents the DDA on this 
Commission. Meetings occur on the third Wednesday of each month at 3:30pm. 
 
Farmers Market Advisory Committee  
The Farmers Market Advisory Committee has one (1) DDA Board member serve as a 
representative from the DDA Board. Currently Board member Scott Hardy represents 
the DDA on this Board. Meetings occur on the second Monday of each month at 
9:00am 
 
 
Please let me know what Committee you are interested in serving on or continue to 
serve on. Of specific need is the Governance Committee (3 board members are 
needed) and Parking Subcommittee (2 board members are needed).  
 
  
   

Page 474 of 494



Page 1 of 1 
 

Traverse City Downtown Development Authority (TCDDA) 
Board of Directors 

Finance Committee – Roles & Responsibilities 
Established:  February 4, 2019   

 
 

Pursuant to the DDA Board’s by-laws, the Finance Committee is a standing committee of the 
DDA Board of Directors.  The Finance Committee is charged with oversight responsibility for all 
assets and funds owned or administered by the TCDDA in accordance with all board-adopted 
financial policies.  The Finance Committee has the following roles and responsibilities: 
 

1. Meet at least six times per year but preferably monthly and provide meeting minutes to 
the full Board of Directors. 
 

2. Recommend the format and information contained in monthly financial reports to the 
Board. 

 
3. Review monthly financial statements and clarify any outstanding questions or issues 

with the CEO (or designated staff member) prior to monthly board financial reports.   
 

4. Present and lead discussion on monthly financial reports to the board as a standard 
agenda item. 

 
5. Receive and review with the CEO (or designated staff member) the Annual Operating 

Budget in advance of it appearing before the Board for consideration and adoption. 
 

6. Develop, lead and oversee key financial strategies to ensure the organization’s long-
term health and sustainability. 
 

7. Recommend any financial management, investment, or spending policies to the board. 
 

8. Review and make recommendations on all insurance policies held by the board. 
 

9. Any other periodic or regular board financial matters as desired by the Board of 
Directors. 

 
 

 
 

Page 475 of 494



Page 476 of 494



Page 1 of 2

Traverse City Downtown Development Authority (DDA)
Board of Directors

Governance Committee – Roles & Responsibilities
Established:  February 4, 2019  

Pursuant to the DDA Board’s by-laws, the Governance Committee is a standing committee of 
the DDA Board of Directors.  The Governance Committee is charged with oversight, review and 
recommendations regarding board operations to enhance the quality and future viability of the 
Board.  The Governance Committee has the following roles and responsibilities:

1. Meet at least quarterly and provide meeting minutes to the full Board of Directors.

2. Lead the board in regularly reviewing and updating its understanding of its roles, 
responsibilities, and expectations of individual board members.

3. Serve as the planning and review team for organizational strategic planning activities.

4. Assess on an on-going basis the current and anticipated needs for board composition.

5. Develop and recommend the following documents, practices, and policies; conduct 
annual review of all these items and make recommendations for any updates that may 
be needed.

a. Board Committee job descriptions; 
b. Board Code of Conduct Policy;
c. Board Conflict of Interest Policy and annual statement for signing;
d. Qualifications & Characteristics Grid for consideration of potential new board 

members, including knowledge, attributes, skills, abilities, influence, background, 
etc.;

e. Board Orientation and Operating Manual; 
f. New member on-boarding process including but not limited to an orientation 

session for all new board members;
g. Board on-going education process, including protocol, content, and schedule;
h. Board annual self-assessment protocol and tool;
i. A general Board-CEO Roles and Responsibility Policy, distinguishing the 

respective roles, responsibilities, and relationships;
j. Grievance Policy;
k. Board process and format for conducting an annual performance and 

compensation review of the CEO;
l. Any other board policies as needed.

6. Establish and conduct reviews of the Employee Compensation Plan, including wages and 
fringe benefits, every other year and make recommendations to the Board for any 
adjustments.

Page 477 of 494



Page 2 of 2

7. Review the DDA Board’s by-laws annually and make recommendations for any changes 
if needed. 

8. Assist the CEO in planning and implementing board retreats as desired.

9. Regularly review the board’s practices and status regarding member participation, 
confidentiality, attendance and conduct, and provide any recommendations as needed 
to enhance board effectiveness.

10. Any other periodic or regular Board Governance matters as desired by the Board of 
Directors.

Page 478 of 494



  

 
 

 
 

 
303 E. State Street 

Traverse City, MI 49684 
 katy@downtowntc.com 

      231-922-2050 

           Memorandum 
__________________________________________________________________________ 
 
To:    Downtown Development Authority Board of Directors   
 
From:  Harry Burkholder, DDA COO & Steve Nance, DDA Board Member  
     
Memo Date:  December 13, 2021 
 
Subject: Arts Commission Update 
 
 
10 Street Trailhead – Arts on the Tart 
The Arts Commission, in collaboration with Oryana and TART, hosted a ribbon cutting 
for the 10th Street Trailhead “Art on the TART”  installation on December 3rd  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Rotating Art Exhibit 
– Art on the TART  
Four new sculptures 
from artist David 
Petrakovitz have been 
installed along the 
TART Trail (just down 
the hill from the 10th 
Street Trailhead). The 
new sculptures add 
much needed color 
and vibrancy to this 
area. 
 

Page 479 of 494



Page 480 of 494



  

 
Memorandum 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

To:  Jean Derenzy, DDA CEO 

From:  Nicole VanNess, Transportation Mobility Director 

CC:  Scott Hardy, Parking Subcommittee Chair 

Date:  December 13, 2021 

Re:  Board Member Report: Parking Subcommittee – December 2021 

 

The Parking Subcommittee met this month, but did not have a quorum.  

 

The discussion and feedback were related to adding a non-transferrable or no resell clause to 

parking permits.  There has been an increase in the number of units in the downtown area being 

rented as short-term rentals.  Many of the owners or property managers have purchased permits 

in order to offer parking as included with their guest’s stay.  Once the change is implemented 

guests will be responsible for purchasing their own parking or finding their own arrangements.   

 

Parking Services is going to continue working on this policy change and will begin 

communications with owners and property managers in order to provide advanced notice. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Downtown Traverse City Association 

Page 481 of 494



Page 482 of 494



 

 

 
Memorandum 
____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

To:  DDA Board of Directors 

CC:  Jean Derenzy, DDA CEO 

From:  Nicole VanNess, Transportation Mobility Director 

Date:  December 13, 2021 

Re:  Staff Report: Parking Services – December 2021 

 

November Parking Revenue 

The revenues below are compared to November 2019.  

 

Meter Revenues 

 2021 2020 

Total Revenue 112% 44% 

Coin 101% 47% 

Pay-by-cell 110% 116% 

 

Hardy Admissions 

 2021 2020 

Total Revenue 87% 28% 

 

Old Town Admissions 

 2021 2020 

Total Revenue 127% 48% 

 

Project Updates 

Old Town Boiler Replacement 

The ground level boiler has been installed.  We are working to address issues with the boiler 

shutting off and locking out.  There may be additional control work that needs to be completed in 

order for the boiler to function properly.  Nealis Engineering is working with JE Johnson to 

determine next steps before they prepare a punch list of items to close-out the project.  

 

 

 

 

 

Downtown Traverse City Association 

Page 483 of 494



Page 484 of 494



 
303 E. State Street 

Traverse City, MI 49684 
 abby@downtowntc.com 

      231-922-2050 
Memorandum 

______________________________________________________________________ 
 
To:    Downtown Development Authority Board of Directors  
   Jean Derenzy, DDA CEO 
 
From:  Abby Taylor, DDA Experience Coordinator 
 
Date:   December 13, 2021 
 
Re:    Events Update  
 
Santa Claus is Coming to Town 
Santa has visited Traverse City two times on the antique firetruck chauffeured by our 
own fire department the first two Friday’s of December. They will be having the final visit 
through the neighborhoods this Friday the 17th from 5:30-7:30pm. Kids are able to give 
Santa their letters and enjoy their own special parade route through Downtown.  
 
Walking in a Window Wonderland 
Starting this week on December 13th, 11 locations in Downtown Traverse City will be 
decorated to the nines with holiday cheer. This year we are doing a special QR code on 
each participating window and that will be directed to our Downtown TC contest page 
on Facebook. We hope to see many excited families come downtown and vote for their 
favorite until Christmas! 
 
 
Ladies’ Night 
Ladies’ Night took place last Thursday, December 9th. We had businesses participating 
during the day as well as having a few extra hours opened in the evening until 9:00pm. 
It was a great turnout with holiday spirit. The DTCA highlighted the importance of 
supporting local this holiday season and it was encouraging to see that support come to 
life while practicing best protocols.  
 
Men’s Night 
December 16th, is Downtown Men’s holiday shopping night from 5-9:00pm.   The DTCA 
highlighted the importance of supporting local this holiday season and it   

Page 485 of 494



Page 486 of 494



 

  
Minutes of the 

Arts Commission for the City of Traverse City 

Regular Meeting 

Wednesday, November 17, 2021  
 

          A regular meeting of the Arts Commission of the City of Traverse City was called to order 
at the Commission Chambers, Governmental Center, 400 Boardman Avenue, Traverse City, 
Michigan, at 3:30 p.m. 

  

          The following Commissioners were in attendance: Commissioner Ashlea Walter, 
Commissioner Chelsie Niemi, Commissioner Roger Amundsen, Commissioner Mi Stanley, Board 
Member Steve Nance, and Board Member Joshua Hoisington  

  

          The following Commissioners were absent:   Board Member Caitlin Early 

  

          Chairperson Amundson presided at the meeting. 

  
 

(a) CALL TO ORDER, ATTENDANCE, ANNOUCEMENTS 

 

Chairperson Amundson called the meeting to order at 3:33PM 
 

(b) CONSENT CALENDAR  
 (1) Approval of the minutes from the October 1, 2021 Special Meeting (approval 

recommended) (Burkholder/McCain) - PDF   
 (2) Approval of the October 2021 Financials (approval recommended) 

(Burkholder/McCain) - PDF 

  

Approval of the Consent Calendar as presented  

 

Moved by Ashlea Walter, Seconded by Roger Amundsen 

 

Yes: Ashlea Walter, Chelsie Niemi, Roger Amundsen, Mi Stanley, Steve 
Nance, and Joshua Hoisington 

Absent: Caitlin Early 

CARRIED. 6-0-1 on a recorded vote  
 

(c) ITEMS REMOVED FROM CONSENT CALENDAR 
 

(d) OLD BUSINESS  

Page 1 of 3

Page 487 of 494



 

 (1) GIS Inventory/Mapping - Presentation (Jerry & Brianna) 

 

 

This item was removed from the agenda - presenter not available    
 (2) Art on the TART Update 

 

The following addressed the commission: 

  

• Burkholder noted details for the ribbon cutting ceremony on the 10th. 

• Burkholder discussed the 16th Street Art on the TART Installation 

• Burkholder noted the budget for the 16th art installation in relation to the total 
amount for both installations 

• Commissioner Walter noted a need to discuss/determine installation costs 
between the Arts Commission and the artist 

• Burkholder noted he would include language in the next draft RGQ that more 
clearly spells out artist costs for installation 

• Commissioner Niemi noted including a "not to exceed" language (for 
installation) in the RFQ 

• Commissioners discussed the need to determine the exact location for the 
art piece before the RFQ was issued  

• Commissioners discuss the type of art that might fit in the location  

• Burkholder noted he would schedule a on-site meeting with commissioners 
and TART 

  

    
 (3) Rotating Art Update 

 

 

Burkholder noted that with the execution of several signatures, the agreement with 
David Petrokovitz will be finalized.   

 (4) Strategic Plan 

 

• Commissioners discussed the components/qualifications of the two 
proposals 

• Commissioners agreed that they would meet with a local strategic planner 
(or two) to discuss costs for specific components of the strategic plan.  

 

(e) NEW BUSINESS  
 (1) Letter from Phi Thete Kappa  

 

 

Commissioner Niemi noted that she would respond to the letter   
 

(f) PUBLIC COMMENT  

Page 2 of 3

Page 488 of 494



 

 (1) General 

 

• Burkholder noted that the Arts Commission has an opportunity to replace the 
banners on East Front Street. 

• Burkholder noted that he would get the number and dimensions of the 
banners and draft and RFP for the December Commission meeting. 

    
 (2) Commissioners   

 

(g) ADJOURNMENT  
 (1) Motion to Adjourn 

Motion to Adjourn 

 

Moved by Chelsie Niemi, Seconded by Roger Amundsen 

 

Yes: Ashlea Walter, Chelsie Niemi, Roger Amundsen, Mi Stanley, Steve 
Nance, and Joshua Hoisington 

Absent: Caitlin Early 

CARRIED. 6-0-1 on a recorded vote  
 

Roger Amundson, Chairperson 

 

Page 3 of 3

Page 489 of 494



Page 490 of 494



DOWNTOWN TRAVERSE CITY ASSOCIATION 

BOARD MEETING 
THURSDAY, Dec 9, 2021 
8:30 AM • Hotel Indigo 

 
 

 
 

1. Call to Order at 8:39am  
i. Present: Dawn Gildersleeve, Margaret Morse, Karen Hilt, Jeffrey Libman, 

Amanda Walton, Liz Lancashire, Libby Barnes, Jeff Joubran  
ii. Absent: Blythe Skarshaug 

 
2. CEO Report  

a. DTCA Financials and Minutes to be passed out at meeting 
i. Motion to approve October meeting minutes by Margaret, Seconded by 

Dawn 
ii. Jean spoke on the Lower Boardman 100 and 200 block (around 

$300,000 project) and closing on Civic Square 
 

b. Board Election Update  | New Board Members Welcome  (Jean) 
     i.  Libby Barnes Owner of Lilies of the  Alley, Je ff Joubran Owner of Swee t 
Pea, and welcoming back Dawn Gilde rsleeve  (incumbent) of Che rry Republic 

c. Election of Chair and Vice  Chair 
     i.  Updated by board: 

Dawn Gilde rsleeve , President 
Je ffrey Libman, Vice  Pre sident 
Libby Barnes, Treasure r 
Liz Lancashire , Secre tary 

Ii. Recommended Motion: To All of the above changes voted by the DTCA 
board. 

1. Motioned by Amanda and seconded by Karen 
 

3. Events & Communications Review (Taylor) 
a. Coffee  w/the  CEO 
b. Our Town Consumers Ene rgy Gift Ce rtificate  Program 
c. Ladies’ Night 
d. Men’s Night 
e . Walking in a Window Wonderland 

Upcoming 

Page 491 of 494



f. Restaurant Week 
Abby to mee t with both Je ff’s on what this looks like  in early February 

g. Chili Cook-Off 
  Not happening this year. Brainstorming ways to bring a fundraise r into an existing 
event or some thing comple te ly fre sh 
  
Additional Comments/ Open Discussion: 

1. Bringing back Good Morning on January 19th 
2. Lights on all buildings Downtown as seen from Milwaukee and Rochester 
3. DTCA Membership: benefits, structure, what does it include? 
4. Art Walk fundraiser aspect 

a. Top 3 best paintings  
b. Portion goes to the artist and portion back to DTCA 
c. Recreate a similar Art Prize  

5. Front street turning into a winter “wonderland” in the middle of winter with ice skating, 
sledding hill, vendors etc. 
 

4. Adjourn 
a. Adjourned at 9:58am 

Page 492 of 494



 

      
Minutes of the 

Parking Subcommittee for the Downtown Development Authority 

Regular Meeting 

Thursday, December 2, 2021  
 

          A regular meeting of the Traverse City Parking Subcommittee of the City of Traverse City 
was called to order at the 2nd Floor Committee Room, Governmental Center, 400 Boardman 
Avenue, Traverse City, Michigan, at 11 a.m. 

  

          The following Members were in attendance: Board Vice Chair Scott Hardy, Committee 
Member Todd Knaus, and Commissioner Doug Hickman  

  

          The following Members were absent:   Board Member Pam Marsh and Michelle Jones 

  

          Chairperson Hardy presided at the meeting. 

  
 

(a) CALL TO ORDER 

 

Chairperson Hardy called the meeting to order at 11:02 AM. 
 

(b) ROLL CALL 

 

No quorum. Meeting continued for discussion only. 
 

(c) CONSIDERATION OF MINUTES  
 (1) Removed  

 

(d) REMOVED FROM AGENDA  
 (1) Approval of the approval of the October 7, 2021 meeting minutes. 

 

   
 

(e) NEW BUSINESS  
 (1) Permit Policy Change: Implement a non-transferable clause (Discussion Only) 

 

The following address the Subcommittee: 

Nicole VanNess, Transportation Mobility Director 

Page 1 of 2

Page 493 of 494



 

Jean Derenzy, DDA CEO 

Scott Hardy 

Todd Knaus 

Doug Hickman  
 

(f) RECEIVE AND FILE  
 (1) Establish After-hours Permit Rate (DDA Board Approved 11/19/2021)  

 

(g) PUBLIC COMMENT 

 

No public comment. 
 

(h) ADJOURNMENT 

 

Chairperson Hardy ended the meeting at 11:38 AM. 

 

Scott Hardy, Chairperson 

 

Page 2 of 2

Page 494 of 494


	Agenda
	4. A. November 19, 2021 Downtown Development Authority Regular Meeting Minutes - PDF
	4. B. DDA General, TIF 97 and Old Town TIF November 2021 Financials - PDF
	TIF 97 Balance Sheet Nov
	OT TIF BalanceSheet Nov

	4. B. TC Parking Services November 2021 Financials - PDF
	4. B. TC Arts Commission November 2021 Financials - PDF
	6. A. Lower Boardman Final Unified Plan Memo (Jean Derenzy, Harry Burkholder) - PDF
	6. A. Final Lower Boardman Unified Plan - PDF
	6. A. Final Lower Boardman Unified Plan Appendix - PDF
	6. B. Retail Incubator Business Plan Memo (Jean Derenzy, Harry Burkholder) - PDF
	6. B. Incubator Business Plan
	7. A. TCPS Parkmobile Agreement (Second Amendment) Memo (Jean Derenzy, Nicole VanNess) - PDF
	8. A. Project Update Memo (Jean Derenzy, Harry Burkholder) - PDF
	8. B. Reimagine East Front Street Project Update Memo (Jean Derenzy, Harry Burkholder) - PDF
	8. B. Reimagine East Front Street November Outreach Presentation - PDF
	8. B. Preliminary East Front Street Design - PDF
	9. A. Committee Appointee Memo (Gabe Schneider) - PDF
	9. A. DDA Finance Committee Roles and Responsibilities Summary - PDF
	9. A. DDA Governance Committee Roles and Responsibilities Summary - PDF
	9. B. Arts Commission Update Memo (Steve Nance) - PDF
	9. C. Parking Subcommittee Update Memo (Scott Hardy) - PDF
	10. A. Transportation Mobility Director Report (VanNess) - PDF
	10. B. Experience Coordinator Report (Abby Taylor) - PDF
	11. A. November 17, 2021 Arts Commission Meeting Minutes - PDF
	11. B. December 9, 2021 DTCA Meeting Minutes - PDF
	11. C. December 2, 2021 Parking Subcommittee Meetings Minutes - PDF

